University of Montana

ScholarWorks at University of Montana

Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers

Graduate School

2022

AMERICAN INDIAN TRADITIONAL CEREMONIAL PRACTICES: ADDRESSING PROBLEM SUBSTANCE USE IN A MULTI-TRIBAL URBAN COMMUNITY

D'Shane Barnett

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Barnett, D'Shane, "AMERICAN INDIAN TRADITIONAL CEREMONIAL PRACTICES: ADDRESSING PROBLEM SUBSTANCE USE IN A MULTI-TRIBAL URBAN COMMUNITY" (2022). *Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers.* 11897. https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd/11897

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at ScholarWorks at University of Montana. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at University of Montana. For more information, please contact scholarworks@mso.umt.edu.

AMERICAN INDIAN TRADITIONAL CEREMONIAL PRACTICES: ADDRESSING PROBLEM SUBSTANCE USE IN A MULTI-TRIBAL URBAN COMMUNITY

By

D'SHANE BARNETT

M.S. Healthcare Administration, University of California, San Francisco, 2016 B.A. Sociology, University of Montana, Missoula, 2015

Dissertation

presented in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Public Health

The University of Montana Missoula, MT

May 2022

Approved by:

Scott Whittenburg, Graduate School Dean

Annie Belcourt, Ph.D., Chair School of Public and Community Health Sciences

Curtis Noonan, Ph.D. School of Public and Community Health Sciences

Blakely Brown, Ph.D. School of Public and Community Health Sciences

Kimber McKay, Ph.D. School of Public and Community Health Sciences

Catherine McKinley, Ph.D. School of Social Work, Tulane University, New Orleans, Louisiana Barnett, D'Shane, Ph.D., Spring 2022

American Indian Traditional Ceremonial Practices: Addressing Problem Substance Use in a Multi-tribal Urban Community

Chairperson: Annie Belcourt, Ph.D.

ABSTRACT

Background: Traditionally, American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) communities and individuals held ecological knowledge that supported holistic wellness for their tribal members through a variety of medicines and ceremonies. Contemporary Western healthcare systems have largely alienated AIAN people from access to traditional ceremonial practices (TCPs). Despite decades of cultural adaptation of evidence-based practices (EBPs), the deleterious effects of historical and intergenerational trauma are widely documented. This includes disproportionately high rates of problem substance use in both reservation and urban AIAN community settings.

Purpose: In contrast to deficit-based paradigms, *Reziliency* posits that protective factors, approaches, and methods used within AIAN communities when faced with adversity or trauma create an environment for individuals to demonstrate resiliency. This study explored the potential for an intervention that draws on the protective role of TCPs to reduce problem substance use within an urban, multi-tribal setting.

Methods: We developed a sequential, mixed-methods study design in partnership with an urban Indian health center. Study One was a systematic review of the literature that identified existing evidence and knowledge about TCP-based substance use interventions in AIAN communities. Study Two was a cross-sectional investigation of TCP-related factors and substance use behaviors in the urban AIAN community. Study Three was a qualitative descriptive investigation in which members of the target AIAN community were interviewed about their experience and background with TCPs as well as their thoughts about how to design an effective TCP-based substance use intervention in an urban, multi-tribal setting.

Results: The systematic review yielded 10 eligible articles with quantitative evidence highlighting the association between TCPs and substance use reduction. In the cross-sectional survey (N = 194), 54.6% of respondents reported positive TCP protective factors and 36.7% reported high levels of intent to participate in TCPs. Respondents with more positive protective factors or greater intent to participate in TCPs were significantly less likely to report alcohol or other drug use. Interview (N = 11) themes highlight a strong belief that TCP-based interventions can be successful at reducing problem substance use in an urban, multi-tribal setting, that tribal elders should guide a process in identifying which ceremonies and spiritual practitioners should be employed, and that variation in ceremonies and tribal perspectives is important.

Conclusions: This research project demonstrates the potential for a community-informed, TCPbased problem substance intervention to be effective in an urban, multi-tribal setting, while underscoring the need for greater research in this area.

Table of Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
CHAPTER ONE – Background
1.0 Introduction1
2.0 Rationale
3.0 Significance
CHAPTER TWO – Study Proposal
1.0 Project Overview
2.0 Approach
3.0 Project Studies
4.0 Project Timeline
CHAPTER THREE – Manuscript 1: Traditional ceremonial practices as a strategy to reduce problem substance use in American Indian communities: A systematic review
CHAPTER FOUR – Manuscript 2: American Indian traditional ceremonial practices and substance use behaviors in an urban multi-tribal setting: Results from a community survey. 57
CHAPTER FIVE – Manuscript 3: Traditional ceremonial practices as an intervention to reduce problem substance use in an urban multi-tribal Native American community: A qualitative descriptive study
CHAPTER SIX – CONCLUSION
Summary of Research Findings107
Public Health Relevance
Overall Limitations and Future Directions109
Conclusion
REFERENCES
<i>APPENDICES</i>
APPENDIX A. Systematic Review Protocol131
APPENDIX B. Abstract and Article Screening Guidelines143
APPENDIX C. Cronbach's Alpha Results145
APPENDIX D. Community Survey Instrument
APPENDIX E. Cut-point Effect Analysis185
APPENDIX F. Interview Moderator's Guide186

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Taškanito'ša! Nii-ųųnistáh haho eepeš. Waa'oonatka šiini waka'ni wahuuroš. Mináse ųmpa-košoš éhenoš. Mi'núetaaroš. Greetings! I say hello to you all. I come to this place with a good heart. My name is Whistling Elk. I am Mandan.

I don't know if this is the first doctoral dissertation to start off in the Núeta, or Mandan, language but I hope it is not the last. In that spirit, this work is dedicated to all the Native elders who came before me, to the Native children who will come after I am gone, and, most especially, to my own family and community for providing me with the support, guidance, and protection that I needed to make it to this place today.

This journey, like most, was not a solitary one. I had many people walk with me at one point or another. I am grateful to my parents and grandparents, for always being a source of inspiration and a foundation upon which to build myself. I am grateful to my husband and son, for their patience and tolerance during the many hours I had to put toward this journey rather than our own. And I am grateful to my colleagues and coworkers for their understanding and indulgence while I was stretching myself thin trying to do too many things at once.

I owe a humungous debt of gratitude to my committee members, Drs. Annie Belcourt, Curtis Noonan, Blakely Brown, Kimber McKay, and Catherine McKinley. Their personal investment in my success was evident in the many hours of meetings and brainstorming and writing and editing. Quite simply, I could not have done this work without them. To my committee chair, Dr. Annie Belcourt, Otter Woman, wašii'tahenene! Thank you for many months of weekly "check-ins" that were part mentoring and part therapy. Okay, mostly therapy.

iv

This project included a robust team of researchers. To Dr. Jeffery Peterson and Julie Cahoon, MPH, who not only helped shaped this project but were also diligent and dutiful partners every step of the way, my eternal gratitude. And most especially to Dr. Blakely Brown, committee member and Principal Investigator of the broader research project—words could never do justice to the amount of mentoring and cheerleading you did to get me to this point. But humbly, I say thank you.

As I said above, this was far from a solitary journey. I have too many people to thank to fit into this one document, but I would be remiss if I didn't mention at least a few more. A huge thank you to Dr. Jovanka Voyich for her encouragement and belief in this work. To Dr. Laurie Walker, thank you for the inspiration and guidance you provided over many, many chats. You were one of the first who made me feel like I could do this. To Dr. Maja Pedersen and (future Dr.) Elizabeth Williams, who were not just classmates but springboards to success, I look forward to many more years of having you both in my life. To Drs. Jessica Liddell, Sophia Newcomer, Ethan Walker, and Bryan Cochran for taking time to help me move this research from thought to reality, thank you.

Finally, to the Native communities that have supported both me and this research. To Martin Waukazoo, CEO of the Native American Health Center, without whom my journey through life would have been vastly different. To the board of directors of All Nations Health Center, for their support, investment, and belief that research *for* Native people *by* Native people is worthwhile. And to the Native community of Missoula for placing their faith and confidence in me. I say to you all, wašii'tahenanito'š!

v

CHAPTER ONE – Background

1.0 Introduction

Traditionally, American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN)^{*} communities and individuals held ecological knowledge that supported holistic wellness for their tribal members through a variety of medicines and ceremonies.^{1,2} Today, empirical data to support the effectiveness of these interventions are scarce due to several factors. Beginning around 1883, laws were established outlawing the practice of traditional ceremonial practices (TCPs) under threat of imprisonment. Many of these laws remained in effect until the passage of the American Indian Freedom of Religion Act of 1978.³ Additionally, past medical and research abuse has led to a persistent distrust of academia on the part of many AIAN communities and individuals.⁴ Because of these factors, AIAN communities often hold a rational fear against sharing information about TCPs with non-AIAN individuals.

The impacts of historical and intergenerational trauma on the health of AIAN people are well documented and can include health disparities, such as disproportionately high rates of problem substance use.⁵ In the 2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH), for example, AIAN participants reported the highest past-year rates of marijuana and illicit drug use of any racial or ethnic group.⁶ Alarmingly, although rates have remained steady or even decreased for other groups, AIAN participants reported a 37% increase in past-year illicit drug use between 2019 and 2020. The severity of the COVID-19 pandemic has only added to the crisis, with AIAN individuals experiencing the greatest drug overdose death rate (drug overdose

^{*} This author subscribes to the belief that the most appropriate way to refer to any Indigenous person or tribe is using the term from their specific language or dialect. For consistency, throughout this manuscript I will broadly refer to Indigenous persons and peoples of the United States using the widely accepted term American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN). However, other terms such as Indigenous, Native American, Native, American Indian, and Indian may be substituted based on context.

deaths per 100,000) of any racial or ethnic group in the United States between January and September, 2020, according to the CDC.⁷

As a healthcare administrator and Indigenous person working in the arena of American Indian health for more than two decades, a constant source of frustration has been the inability to receive funding for TCP-based interventions. I and other administrators have been repeatedly told by policymakers and payers that these services lack an "evidence base," despite millennia of practice-based evidence held by AIAN communities. This response is likely due, in no small part, to a concerted push at the national level toward substance use interventions that are based on research from Western social and behavioral sciences.⁸ That movement began to swell in the 1990s and culminated with the development in 2007 of the National Registry of Evidence-based Programs and Practices (NREPP) under the U.S. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration(SAMHSA.⁹ The development of the NREPP registry all but invalidated any attempt to pursue funding for programming that incorporated TCPs during a large portion of my tenure as an AIAN healthcare administrator.

AIAN community-informed and community-led research is gaining momentum, however, and data are becoming more widely available to support the integration of TCPs into Western therapeutic approaches with AIAN individuals and communities.¹⁰⁻¹² Emerging studies draw on qualitative and quantitative methods, up to and including the gold standard of randomized control trials, to evaluate the effectiveness of TCPs.¹³⁻¹⁵ The research presented here is an attempt to promote further understanding of the potential benefits to the use of TCPs, with the goal of supporting AIAN communities in designing interventions and approaches to reduce problem substance that are both effective and culturally congruent.

Definition of Traditional Ceremonial Practices

In an exploration of AIAN traditional practices, a primary question that needs to be addressed is what constitutes ceremony. An ongoing source of dissonance between the Western scientific method and Indigenous Traditional Knowledge (ITK) is the fluidity that ITK affords definitions.¹ While some researchers have attempted to create an objective, operational definition of ceremony, ITK proscribes this detached approach in favor of a contextual process that is dependent upon time, person, and place.¹⁶

In application, ceremony can only be defined by the persons participating in it and several factors will influence that definition, including tribal affiliation, cultural connection, age, and geographic location, among others. Examples of common ceremonies include sweat lodge, pipe ceremony, and Sundance among Northern tribes; the Blessing Way, Enemy Way, and sandpainting ceremonies for the Navajo people of the Southwest; and talking circles and medicine circles of the Iroquois Confederacy.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ However, it is important to note that according to the Federal Register²⁰ there are currently 574 federally recognized tribes and each tribe, both traditionally and contemporarily, may hold many types of ceremonies.

2.0 Rationale

Religiosity and spirituality in substance abuse prevention and treatment

For several decades, medical and behavioral health researchers have been exploring the role that spirituality and religiosity play in either preventing or treating substance abuse. In his 2015 systematic review,²¹ Dr. Harold Koenig of Duke University Medical Center summarized research published between 1932 and 2010. In looking at approximately 3,300 studies, Dr. Koenig examined the relationship between religiosity/spirituality (R/S) and various indicators of physical and emotional wellness. Using a 10-point scale to evaluate the quality of the research

design, methods, measures, statistical analyses, and interpretation of the studies, the existing literature was separated into overlapping binary categories of "All Studies" and "Higher-quality Studies."

Dr. Koenig largely found support in the literature for the protective role of R/S in supporting wellness (see Table 1). From the higher-quality research, 98 studies found a positive association between R/S and mental well-being while only one study found a negative association. Substance abuse was categorized between alcohol and other drugs. R/S was positively associated as a protective factor against alcohol abuse in 131 studies, with only one study showing a negative association. Finally, R/S was positively associated as a protective factor against drug abuse in 96 studies, again with only one study showing a negative outcome.

		All Studies		Higher-quality Studies ^a						
	Negative ^b	No Assoc ^c	Positive ^d	Negative ^b	No Assoc ^c	Positive ^d				
Mental Well-being	1%(3)	20% (67)	79% (256)	1% (1)	18% (21)	82% (98)				
Substance Abuse										
Alcohol	1% (4)	12% (34)	86% (240)	1% (1)	9% (13)	90% (131)				
Drugs	1% (2)	15% (28)	84% (155)	1% (1)	13% (15)	86% (96)				

Table 1. Selected findings from Koenig (2015).

^aHigher-quality studies are those rated a 7 or higher on a 10-point scale based on methodology. ^bIndicates a worse emotional state or health outcome.

^cIndicates no identified association, mixed results, or complex results (i.e., difficult to interpret). ^dIndicates a better emotional state or health outcome.

As researchers and substance abuse professionals gain a better understanding of the role of R/S, newer work is exploring adaptions for culturally diverse populations such as African Americans and Latin/x Americans. However, much of this work draws from R/S concepts derived from Judeo-Christian roots as well as the Western ideology of individuality. Specifically, tools such as the Purpose in Life Scale, Religious Background and Behavior Scale, Religious Moral Belief Index, and Alcohol-related God Locus of Control Scale have been applied to studies examining a relationship between R/S and substance abuse,²¹ with culturally-tailored interventions based on the application of spirituality as encompassed in the African-American^{22,23} and Latin-American²⁴ communities.

The acculturation experience of AIAN communities is distinct from that of any other group in the United States.²⁵ As members of colonized nations within the broader colonial nation, AIAN people have been subjected to attempted systematic genocide, forced assimilation and proselytizing through boarding and missionary schools, and removal from cultural homelands to urban metropolitan settings as part of the Bureau of Indian Affairs' (BIA) relocation program. Because of this, levels of both *acculturation* (affiliation with the majority culture) and *enculturation* (affiliation with Indigenous culture) among contemporary AIAN individuals run along a continuum between highly acculturated and highly enculturated.²⁶

It is plausible that R/S concepts derived from Western theologies and ideologies could provide protective value for AIAN individuals who are located toward the *acculturation* end of the spectrum, as they do similarly for African- and Latin/x-Americans.²⁷ It is less plausible, perhaps even unlikely, that the same would hold true for highly *enculturated* AIAN individuals who often report physical and mental health risks, including increased substance abuse rates, in association with assimilation efforts and internalized oppression.^{25,26}

TCPs and substance use prevention and treatment

While problem substance use is largely a contemporary issue for AIAN populations, Indigenous communities throughout the Americas have relied on traditional spiritual and medicinal practices in the treatment of physical and behavioral health conditions since time immemorial.²⁸ Where Western clinical practice recognizes randomized controlled trials (RCT) as the apex of research hierarchy, tribal communities draw on ITK—a comparable scientific methodology, or "way of knowing,"—that allows for similarly validated knowledge.¹ Narrative

studies over the last several decades have documented the desire on the part of AIAN individuals to include TCP-based interventions in behavioral health programming.²⁹⁻³¹

Based on the premise that spirituality plays a role in substance abuse prevention and intervention, that ITK and qualitative evidence suggest AIAN adults benefit from participation in TCPs when trying to abstain from substance use, and that this issue is both relevant and pressing to support the success of prevention and intervention programs aimed at AIAN adults, it is hypothesized that participation in TCPs serves a protective role against substance abuse for AIAN adults.

3.0 Significance

This research contributes directly to our knowledge about TCPs, an essential, but understudied, tool for reducing problem substance use in AIAN populations. The sequential mixed-method design of the project allows for a robust exploration that includes both numerical data and the voice of the AIAN community. The goal of this effort is to help bridge the gap between Western evidence-based practices and AIAN practice-based evidence.

Specifically, this study takes place in an urban, multi-tribal community. A majority of AIAN individuals in the United States now live in an urban setting,³² so it is vital that research be designed to support their health and wellness. Studies that focus on the substance use programming needs of urban AIAN communities are emerging. But, to our knowledge, this will be the first study that engages an urban AIAN community in the Rocky Mountain West to explore these unique programming needs. It is our hope that this research can serve as the impetus of further investigation into how TCP-based interventions can be effective at reducing problem substance use in urban, multi-tribal settings.

CHAPTER TWO – Study Proposal

1.0 Project Overview*

AIAN populations experience disproportionately high rates of problem substance use. Results from the 2017 National Survey on Drug Use and Health³³ (NSDUH) show that AIAN individuals report the highest rates of binge drinking (30.3%) and heavy drinking (7.7%) of any single racial group. Additionally, while rates of Illicit Drug Use Disorder are holding steady or even decreasing for other racial/ethnic groups, the rate for AIAN adults almost doubled between 2016 and 2017 (3.9% and 7.5%, respectively). Research studies over the last several decades have highlighted the potential for TCPs to support efforts to decrease or prevent substance abuse within AIAN communities.^{11,34-37}

However, these studies have historically focused on reservation communities where tribal health programs typically deliver services to a population that is largely homogeneous in terms of tribal affiliation and customs. According to the 2010 Decennial U.S. Census,³⁸ roughly 71% of AIAN individuals live in urban metropolitan cities. In contrast to health programs located on tribal reservations, Urban Indian Health Programs (UIHPs) deliver services to a multi-tribal population located within multi-cultural, urban settings. Currently, there is a dearth of literature examining how AIAN people living in **urban areas** can effectively apply TCPs to treat problem substance use.

Guided by *Reziliency*,³⁹ an AIAN-adapted application of Resilience Theory, this strengths-based project sought to establish evidence regarding the potential protective nature of TCPs for urban AIAN populations. A mixed-methods, cross-sectional community assessment

^{*} This research proposal was approved by the doctoral dissertation committee in 2021 and is included here as contextual reference for the three research studies. The document has been updated from its original format to past tense to reflect the completed project status.

was conducted to collect information regarding TCP protective factors in relation to current health status and adult substance use rates in an urban AIAN community. The project included the development, delivery, and analysis of a survey questionnaire that measured substance use rates, health indicators, and TCP variables (knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, access, and intent to participate) among AIAN adults in an urban setting. Additionally, semi-structured interviews were conducted with urban AIAN community members to provide a deeper context and understanding of 1) experiences with TCP access and participation; 2) existing community-level assets and strengths that could be incorporated into a problem substance use prevention intervention; and 3) environmental factors that influence health status and substance use. Studies Two and Three were informed by Study One, a rigorous Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA)-guided systematic review of the published literature.^{40,41} This project not only provided baseline data to inform surveillance efforts for the urban AIAN community, but also served as an example for how to develop and implement culturally tailored assessments and interventions to treat problem substance use in similar communities.

Quantitative Hypothesis (Study Two)

- *H*₁: We expect that participation in AIAN traditional ceremonial practices will be associated with lower rates of problem substance use among urban AIAN people.
 Qualitative Research Question (Study Three)
 - Q_1 : How do participants, based on their lived experience and cultural orientation, perceive the potential role and efficacy of TCPs to prevent problem substance use?

Study One. A rigorous, PRISMA-guided systematic review of available literature and other data that explored the use of TCPs in preventing or treating problem substance use for AIAN adults broadly. Results were used to inform the selected constructs, measures, and themes of a community assessment questionnaire for an urban AIAN population. Deliverable/Publishable Item: Completion and publication of a PRISMA-guided literature review related to the use of TCPs in substance abuse programming for AIAN adults.

Study Two. Development, delivery, and analysis of a questionnaire to urban AIAN community members that assessed substance use rates (e.g., alcohol, marijuana, and other drugs) and health indicators as well as knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs (KAB), and access and intent to participate in TCPs. Deliverable/Publishable Item: Quantitative data analysis of the survey results. **Study Three.** Using a qualitative descriptive approach, semi-structured interviews were conducted and analyzed to gain a deeper understanding of participants' views regarding the potential efficacy of an urban AIAN problem substance use intervention that incorporates TCPs. Deliverable/Publishable Item: Qualitative data analysis of the interview results.

2.0 Approach

The proposed research project sought to collect data to inform future development of problem substance use interventions for AIAN people living in urban areas and drew on community-driven, Indigenous research methodologies that acknowledge the inherit strengths and assets of AIAN people.

Reziliency

Resiliency Theory encompasses a strengths-based perspective that, rather than focusing on risk and vulnerability within a population or community, instead seeks to orient research to positive/protective factors that exist but are often overlooked.⁴² Past scholarship and research in AIAN communities —led largely by non-Indigenous investigators—sought to identify and address the perceived deficits within AIAN communities responsible for problematic trends and behaviors.⁴³ In contrast, this current project was novel in design, in that it elicited community assets and cultural strengths that can be leveraged as protective factors. Coined by Native researcher, Dr. Annie Belcourt, *Reziliency* encompasses the positive factors, approaches, and methods used within AIAN communities—both reservation-based and urban/off-reservation—when faced with experiences of adversity or trauma that create an environment for individuals to demonstrate resiliency.³⁹ The concept of *Reziliency* served as both the foundational theory and guiding framework for this research project.

Critical Indigenous Research Methodologies

In contrast to Western research methodologies, Critical Indigenous Research Methodologies (CIRM) are grounded in Indigenous ways of knowing, Indigenous sovereignty, and self-determination.^{44,45} A key distinction between the two methodologies is rooted in the lens used to understand phenomena and the ways knowledge is shared with the wider scientific literature. Western methodologies seek to *define* a phenomenon and to operationalize it in ways that allow others to examine, dissect, and ultimately preserve cross-cultural understandings of knowledge, beliefs, behaviors, and worldviews.⁴⁶ For many years, this has led to the development of ethnographic ways of knowing that are based on carving down Indigenous epistemologies for wider consumption. This, in turn, has engendered inequity in knowledge ownership that has systematically biased non-Indigenous ways of knowing, resulting in misinterpretation, misrepresentation, and unethical uses of indigenous culture and peoples.^{1,44,47} CIRM seeks to come into *relationship* with subjects and ideas that are being explored.^{44,45} While CIRM and Western methodologies share the goal of examining a phenomenon so that it can be understood, enhanced, and ultimately, if needed, shaped to improve health outcomes that support equity, the approaches to achieve these goals are informed by very different philosophies.

CIRM, similar to community-based participatory research (CBPR) methods, is focused on addressing on the prioritized needs of communities.⁴⁴ When applied by non-Indigenous researchers working with AIAN communities, CBPR is an external approach that draws on the voice of community members to inform the interpretation and appraisal of knowledge on the part of the researcher. In contrast, CIRM is an emic, or internal, approach rooted in Indigenous knowledge systems. CIRM is unapologetically anticolonial and provides a catalyst for Indigenous researchers to translate inexorable, lived ecological experience from within AIAN communities to an external thought-world that historically has attempted to colonize and subjugate knowledge production and ultimately serve to promote non-Indigenous scientific thought, theories, and approaches to core understanding of human existence.

From its inception, this project has been guided by CIRM and the perspective of Indigenous scientists. Most especially, the *6 Rs of Indigenous Research*—Respect, Relationship, Relevance, Reciprocity, Responsibility, and Representation⁴⁸—are foundational to each study as well as any future communication or publication of results (see Figure 1). The lead project author is an Indigenous person who has been working in the field of AIAN health for more than two decades. Throughout that time, the author has engaged in countless conversations with numerous AIAN community members, elders, and traditional practitioners about problem substance use and TCPs. Those conversations are part of the CIRM approach to knowledge generation and informed and guided the development of this project. In line with CIRM, this project draws on the values, beliefs, and practices of AIAN people both in how needs are defined (axiology) as well as what the research process entails and the type of knowledge generated (epistemology).



Figure 1. The 6 Rs of Indigenous Research. Source: Tsosie et al (2022).

Project Site

There are 41 IHS-funded Urban Indian Health Programs (UIHP) across the United States.⁴⁹ We partnered with a UIHP located in the Rocky Mountain West for this project. Like many other UIHPs nationally, the partner UIHP serves both AIAN and non-AIAN clients from various tribal and ethnic backgrounds. In March 2020, the board of directors of the partner UIHP approved a resolution in support of this project.

The staff of the partner UIHP was 83% Indigenous and these individuals largely reflected the local AIAN community in terms of tribal affiliation. Specifically, the partner UIHP employed two cultural specialists and a traditional practitioner. In addition to supporting the cultural vetting process for Studies Two and Three, these individuals also assisted in outreach to the broader AIAN community to encourage participation in the survey and qualitative interviews.

The project approach was based on the expectation that both the quantitative assessment and qualitative interviews would be completed within one year using clients from the partner UIHP, as well as the broader local AIAN community, as the study population. The partner UIHP maintains a database of more than 750 AIAN households comprised of roughly 3,000 AIAN adults, youth, and children. That database served as the primary sampling frame for Studies Two and Three.

Project Model

This project aimed to highlight how participation in TCPs among an urban AIAN population may be associated with substance use behavior. The current COVID-19 pandemic, however, skewed our ability to accurately measure participation because most opportunities for TCPs were canceled in an effort to slow the spread of the virus. To address this challenge, this study measured proxy variables for participation in TCPs—specifically, respondents' knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs (KAB) regarding TCPs, self-reported levels of access to TCPs, and self-reported intent to participate in TCPs. While past participation in TCPs may also inform future behavior, the research team chose not to include this variable in order to lessen the impact of recall bias on the results.

In our conceptual model,⁵⁰ we expected that individuals with more positive KAB, as well as greater self-reported access and intent, would be more likely to participate in TCPs and, conversely, would report lower rates of problem substance use (see Figure 2). Since this study relied on nonprobability sampling methods, associations cannot be generalized to the target population but can inform further research. An intended goal of the quantitative analysis procedures was to identify proportions for the independent and dependent variables among the population (see *Analysis*, p. 20). Additionally, we expected that qualitative data would highlight the potential for future development of problem substance use prevention and treatment interventions for the local urban AIAN community that incorporate the use of TCPs.



Figure 2. Proposed linkage between the unmeasured predictor variable, Participation in Traditional Ceremonial Practices (TCPs), via the measured proxy variables, (1) Knowledge, Attitudes, and Beliefs (KAB) regarding TCPs, (2) access to TCPs, and (3) intent to participate in TCPs, and the response variable, Substance Use Behavior, among urban American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) adults. The dashed causal pathway indicates hypothesized associations that will not be measured.

3.0 Project Studies

Study One: A rigorous, PRISMA-guided systematic review of the available literature and other data that explore the use of traditional ceremonial practices in substance abuse prevention and intervention efforts for AIAN adults.

While the use of TCPs, such as sweat lodges, talking circles, and other ceremonies, has been applied in AIAN communities for countless generations, academic literature exploring this approach has emerged more recently. The intent of the systematic review was to identify what interventions exist, how they have been applied, what adaptations, if any, researchers and practitioners have made to improve efficacy, and to obtain a picture of the current landscape within AIAN communities, both reservation-based and urban.

Methods

The study employed a review protocol that guided the search strategy (see Figure 2). <u>Review parameters</u>: Full text available, published in English in the year 2000 or later, peerreviewed, limited to quantitative studies, including: clinical trials, comparative studies, evaluation studies, and observational studies. Case studies, qualitative studies, and books/chapters were not included. <u>Review eligibility criteria</u>: Focused on AIAN adults, included at least one intervention measure related to subject participation in TCPs, and at least one outcome measure related to alcohol or substance use.

Analysis

Qualitative results from the systematic review were used to inform the themes, constructs, and measures of the community assessment questionnaire for the selected urban AIAN population. Themes from the systematic review also guided the development of a schedule for qualitative interviews with community members and key informants.



Figure 3. Flow of information through the different phases of a PRISMA-guided systematic review. *Source:* Liberati et al., 2009.⁵¹

Study Two: Development, delivery, and analysis of a cross-sectional questionnaire to an urban AIAN population that measured substance use rates as well as knowledge, beliefs, attitudes (KAB), and self-reported access and intent to participate in TCPs among community members.

The assessment questionnaire accomplished several important objectives. First, it provided benchmark data on substance use rates among AIAN adults in the target community, which is an essential step in understanding future trends. Second, it explored the current role of TCPs among an urban AIAN population. Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, questions measuring KAB were used in addition to questions about self-reported access and intent to participate in TCPs, as these variables were less likely to be impacted by pandemic response measures such as social distancing and sheltering in place. Regression analysis of the survey data was then used to elucidate the current relationship between TCPs and substance use/abstinence within the sample. Finally, the quantitative study provided information about which types of TCP might have the greatest effect on reducing substance use in a future intervention.

Methods

A CIRM-based vetting and pilot testing process guided development of the survey instrument. Key cultural informants from the local AIAN community were identified by All Nations staff as well as Native members of the research team. These informants were provided with a draft survey questionnaire that contained previously established measures related to substance use, health status, and access, intent, and KAB regarding TCPs, as well as some original COVID-specific measures and demographic questions. Survey scales included:

General Health

- \sim SF-12 (Edwards et al.)⁵²
- COVID-19 health questions

Substance Use

- National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH) (Jordan et al.)⁵³
- COVID-19 substance use questions

Access, Intent, and KAB – Traditional Ceremonial Practices

- HONOR Project (Town, Walters, and Orellana)⁵⁴
- COVID-19 Indigenous Needs Assessment Survey (Duran et al., forthcoming)

The research team asked informants to provide feedback regarding community appropriateness, terminology/language, relevance, and other concepts, such as how well the survey aligned with community need and cultural values, and how the resulting data should be used to support the community in addressing any identified needs.

The finalized questionnaire was distributed via a mixed-mode process to participant emails or physical addresses. Inclusion criteria for the survey were: (1) 18 years of age or older; (2) currently living in Missoula or Ravalli counties; and (3) identified as Native American/American Indian/Indigenous. Participant recruitment employed a voluntary response sampling design. Specifically, participants were recruited through the electronic health record (EHR) system of registered clients of the partner UIHP who met the inclusion criteria.

The questionnaire was automated online using Qualtrics®, a survey software that is designed for building, distributing, and collecting survey data. Individuals who experience

difficulty with an online survey format—for example, elders or people living with disabilities were provided the option to complete a paper version of the survey. Due to the current COVID-19 pandemic, all protocols for administering the survey were informed by public health practice and allowed for risk mitigation efforts, including social distancing.

Analysis

Preliminary analysis in Qualtrics® determined response rate, completion rate, and potential weighting. The data were then exported to Microsoft Excel format for further analysis using R Studio. Pearson's chi-squared testing was used to determine cross tabulation differences in type of KAB (positive/negative) regarding TCPs and levels of intent to participate in TCPs between comparison groups based on descriptive characteristics such as substance use behaviors, health status, or other observed sociodemographic variables.

Statistical analysis for the quantitative portion of the project had two objectives. First, to describe any association(s) that might exist between the exposure and outcome variables within the sample (see Table 1). As an exploratory study using a voluntary response sampling design, results may be heavily biased and were, therefore, not generalizable to the broader population. This limitation will be noted in any publication of analyses or results. However, descriptions of associations and trends within the sample provided valuable prefatory data that can inform more elaborate research on this issue.

Table 1. Exposure and outcome variables for statistical analysis.							
Exposure Variables	Outcome Variables						
Self-Reported Access to TCPs	Self-Reported Substance Use						
Self-Reported Intent to Participate in TCPs	Self-Reported Health Status						
KAB Regarding TCPs							

Development of the regression model employed purposeful selection, using bivariate analysis to identify those single variables which influenced the odds ratio between exposure and outcome by 10% or more.⁵⁵ ANOVA analysis was used to determine significant differences between the full model and more parsimonious models using a likelihood ratio test. This analysis, along with the systematic literature review, led to the development of the final logistic regression model.

To perform an a priori power analysis calculation for future cross-sectional studies, we must know the prevalence of the exposure variable within the target population. Rates of participation in TCPs for other urban AIAN communities vary widely, and the prevalence of participation in TCPs is not currently known for the target AIAN community. A second objective of this project was to inform future research by measuring the proportions of KAB and intent to participate in TCPs within the population.

Sampling

Sample size calculations were completed using OpenEpi (Version 3). While no literature was located that reported a similar methodology in assessing the exposure and outcome variables among the target population, several studies have been done on other urban AIAN populations.⁵⁶⁻⁵⁹ Among these studies, the proportion of individuals who participated in TCPs ranged from 0.33 to 0.58. For this analysis, we assumed a slightly conservative proportion of 0.40 for participation in TCPs.

Sample Size for Frequency in a Population										
Population size(for finite population correction factor or fpc)(<i>N</i>): 5000 Hypothesized % frequency of outcome factor in the population (<i>p</i>): 40% +/-6										
Design effect (for cluster surveys- $DEFF$):										
Sample Size(<i>n</i>) for Various Confidence Levels										
ConfidenceLevel(%)	Sample Size									
95%	244									
80%	108									
90%	175									
97%	296									
99%	407									
99.9%	631									
99.99%	841									
Equati	on									
Sample size $n = [DEFF*Np(1-p)]/[(d^2/Z^2_{1-\alpha/2}*(N-1)+p*(1-p)]]$										

Figure 4. A priori sample size estimates to identify frequency within the Missoula AIAN population. *Source:* OpenEpi.

Assuming a total AIAN population size of 5,000 in the target community, with 175 total respondents we would be able to identify a 40% frequency rate (+/- 6%) of intent to participate in TCPs at the 90% confidence level. This a priori estimate does not account for our response sampling design, however. Power analysis of the results were based on the actual completed number of surveys (N = 194), which surpassed the target of 175 responses.

As a novel, exploratory study, the limitation of potential power noted above must be weighed against the benefits that were derived from the research. In addition to the associations found through statistical analysis, the quantitative results also informed the qualitative portion of the current study, which was aimed at gaining a deeper understanding of the phenomenon. They may also inform potential future studies that are able to apply more rigorous research methods. **Study Three:** To gain a deeper understanding of the research question, semi-structured interviews with AIAN adults were conducted and analyzed exploring their views regarding the potential efficacy of an intervention aimed at reducing problem substance use in an urban AIAN population that incorporates TCPs.

This project, in its entirety, was a sequential mixed-methods,⁶⁰ action research⁶¹ study. Qualitative data explored the potential for a culturally tailored problem substance use intervention within the target population by drawing upon results and conclusions from previous segments of the study. Specifically, data from Studies One and Two helped identify participation trends, types of ceremonies, points of access, and KAB among community members. Drawing on *Reziliency*, in-depth interviews sought to describe community assets, cultural strengths, and TCP-based interventions that might prevent problem substance use within the local urban AIAN community.

Methods

Both CIRM and qualitative description informed the design and approach of this aim of the study. In two seminal articles,^{62,63} Margarete Sandelowski outlined the qualitative descriptive methodology. This approach has been successfully applied to culturally sensitive research with AIAN populations⁶⁴ as well as broader health science research.⁶⁵ Although rigorous in its application, qualitative descriptive methods rely heavily on low-inference description of the data—meaning it draws on the voices of the participants *themselves* to describe a phenomenon, rather than a highly developed conceptual interpretation.

As outlined in Section 3c, what is studied, how it is studied, and how results are expressed and applied in CIRM-guided research are all informed and driven by traditional and contemporary wisdom and values from the community in question. For this study, cultural norms regarding interpersonal conversations, especially considering the benefit to the researcher, were observed. Interview participants were offered both a small monetary payment in the form of a gift card that recognizes and honors the value they contribute to the study (see *Sampling &*

Recruitment) as well as a traditional gift of medicine—either a bundle of sage or braid of sweet grass, depending on tribal affiliation.

Impact of COVID-19. In response to the global COVID-19 pandemic, all study subjects were given the option of participating in their interview via an online platform. Subjects were able to select a time and setting for the interview that was comfortable for them, including their preferred level of privacy. For those subjects who opted to participate in an in-person interview, strict risk mitigation procedures were followed, including sanitization of all surfaces and materials before and after participation, appropriate face coverings, and social distancing.

Sampling and Recruitment. Qualitative descriptive studies employ a range of sample sizes. As Patton^{66(p.244)} states, "There are no rules for sample size in qualitative inquiry." Rather, what is important is that each study be guided by a rationale for the sample size that reflects the purpose for the inquiry and what makes sense as far as credibility and available resources.

For this formative study, we used stratified typical case sampling⁶⁶ to select interview participants. We conducted interviews with 11 adults between the ages of 24 and 72. Our participants reflected a diversity of gender identities and self-identified levels of enculturation (i.e., participants report higher or lower levels of access, intent, and KAB regarding TCPs). We propose that the diversity found within this sample highlights and informs potential applicability between and across demographics within the target population.

Subjects were recruited from a sampling frame of current clients of the target UIHP. Specifically, staff at the UIHP acted as gatekeepers⁶⁰ and identified potential participants based on their age, gender identity, and presumed level of enculturation—which was explored and either confirmed or negated during the interview. Participants who completed the interview

process were provided an honorarium, in the form of a \$50 gift card, that recognized and honored their unique knowledge and contribution to the project.

Data Collection. This study employed standardized, open-ended interviews⁶⁷ to obtain data from subjects. In this approach, the research team determined the exact wording and order of the open-ended questions ahead of time, and the same sequence was used during all interviews. This increases comparability of the responses because each subject was asked a similar set of basic questions. While the effect of interviewer bias is lessened using this method, it is important to recognize that a certain level of bias is still present due to prompts and follow up questions that arose from the original responses to each open-ended question. The lead author, a Native American individual from the community under investigation, conducted the interviews either in person or via a secure Zoom account with intrusion-proofing measures such as password requirements and a waiting room.

We used the process outlined by Tolley et al.⁶⁷ in developing the semi-structured interview guide. The guiding research question, as outlined above, is how participants, based on their lived experience and cultural orientation, perceive the potential role and efficacy of TCPs to prevent problem substance use. Figure 5, below, illustrates the specific topic domains and subtopics for the inquiry. The interview guide also included an open-ended question aimed at allowing participants to add information that might not fit into the preconstructed domains.



Figure 5. Domain, topics, and subtopics for the exploration of how traditional ceremonial practices might be used to prevent problem substance use among an urban, adult AIAN population.

Sequentially, the exploration began with questions related to subjects' current access to and experiences with TCPs. This was helpful in determining their level of enculturation, knowledge or expertise on the subject, and the perspective(s) from which they were answering questions on the topic of TCPs. Once they provided information about their general experience with TCPs, further questions explored their knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs (KAB) around the potential for TCPs to be incorporated into an intervention aimed at preventing problem substance use. While the primary aim of the study was investigation of community strengths and assets that can support *prevention* of problem substance use, this was also an opportunity to learn about perspectives related to *treatment* programming that incorporates TCPs as well.

Interviews generally lasted between 30 and 60 minutes. While no more than minimum harm was expected, out of an abundance of caution the interviewer was provided with contact information for a mental health counselor in case any study subject reported emotional or psychological distress during the interview. Subjects were not required to answer any question that might bother them or make them uncomfortable. *Contact Summary Form.* At the conclusion of each interview, the interviewer completed a Contact Summary Form.⁶⁸ This document included questions about what the interviewer identified as main themes of the discussion, summarization of the input and feedback that was received during the interview, any intriguing or thought-provoking items that arose, and general environmental and contextual information.

Data Management. Subject interviews were digitally recorded on two password-protected devices, to ensure capture and quality in case of faulty recording or retrieval. Transcription of the interviews was accomplished through employment of a commercial transcriptionist with demonstrated expertise in research transcription. Before any original recordings were destroyed, transcripts were reviewed for accuracy and completeness. Once transcripts of an interview had been verified, digital recordings of that interview were permanently deleted from all devices.

Transcripts of the interviews are currently stored in electronic format on a secure, password-protected online server platform. Any field notes completed by the interview moderator were scanned and stored on the same platform. Written notes were then permanently destroyed. Signed informed consent forms are stored in a locked filing cabinet within a locked office accessible only to the lead author. No other identifying information was collected as a part of this study.

Each interview was assigned an archival number, using the format ANKI-INT-01 for All Nations (AN) Key Informant (KI) Interview (INT) number one and so on. A data log included each interview listed by archival number along with the date of the interview, interviewee subgroup, interviewer ID, and site/platform of interview. This information was also included in the header of all transcripts.

Analysis. Interviews were recorded, transcribed, and entered into NVivo to aid in analysis. In accordance with the 6 Rs of Indigenous Research, respect for participants and their right to privacy was honored at all stages. Interviewee names were not included in the transcripts and every effort was used to recognize and remove identifiable information from the data analysis. For CIRM-guided research ethics, attention was paid to information such as exact age, tribal affiliation, neighborhood of residence, etc. as these could constitute identifiable information within the particular community.

A directed content analysis⁶⁹ approach was used to analyze the data. This strategy is most appropriate when research on a phenomenon already exists, and the goal is further conceptualization or description. Drawing on the results from studies one and two, an initial coding scheme was developed by the data analysis team. This team consisted of the lead author, the Co-Principal Investigator, and two research assistants. The Co-PI has conducted extensive research in Native communities. The first research assistant is not Native but holds a PhD in health communications and has conducted research in several different Native communities. The second research assistant is a Native student in the MPH program and also a member of community under investigation. To ensure competence and consistency, all team members were required to review numerous background readings, as well as undergo group training in NVivo and data analysis procedures.

The lead author and research assistants performed coding analysis of all transcripts. Any data that did not fit into the initial coding scheme were identified and examined later by the data analysis team to decide if they represented a new category or a subcategory of an existing code. The analysis team met weekly during the coding process to discuss findings, clarify interpretations, and otherwise elucidate on emerging results. Once coding was completed, the

data analysis team checked and validated categories and subcategories within the context of prior research and cultural wisdom. Interview participants were provided with a copy of their interview transcripts, as well as themes identified by the analysis team, to allow them to confirm agreements or amend or clarify their original responses.

Once transcript analysis was completed, patterns within and between codes were identified and documented via analytic memo.⁷⁰ Finally, data displays were used to produce visual representation of the results.

Human Subjects Research Protections. As a study that included the involvement of human subjects, there were several ethical considerations that informed the design and delivery of this research. To maximize protection of the study participants, and because this is a vulnerable population that has historically experienced abuse on the part of researchers, the research team selected the Indian Health Service's National Institutional Review Board (NIRB) to review and approve all study protocols. Initial NIRB approval for the research was secured on July 2, 2020 (Project No. N20-N-03), and an amended approval on April 16, 2021, allowed for the involvement of human subjects.

Informed Consent. All study participants were provided a copy of the NIRB-approved Informed Consent Form, which outlined the purpose of the study, their role and rights as a participant, and potential risks and benefits associated with their participation. Members of the research team explained any information on the Informed Consent Form that is unclear and answered any questions about the study that arose. Most especially, participants were informed of their right to exit the study at any time, and without risk of any damage to their relationship with the target UIHP or the University of Montana.

Behavioral Health Support. Although the intent of the interview was to better understand community-defined challenges and solutions, if participants expressed desire or disclosed a need for substance use or mental health services, the research team was prepared to provide contact information for local counseling programs as well as 24-hour accessible support options.

Confidentiality and Privacy. As outlined above (see Data Collection and Data Management sections), every effort was made to protect the privacy and confidentiality of the study participants to the maximum extent possible. Each participant was assigned an archival identification number and this number was used on all documents, including interview transcripts, except for the signed Informed Consent Forms. These forms are stored in paper format within a locked filing cabinet and the project Principal Investigator (PI) is the only person with access. Once transcripts were verified by the PI, all audio or video recordings were permanently destroyed. Any quotes, vignettes, or other data were reviewed to ensure that potentially identifying information (age, tribal affiliation, neighborhood of residence, etc.) was removed and/or participant permission was received before publication.

Compensation. Participant time has value. To recognize and honor this value, participants were provided with a payment in the form of a gift card that has monetary value. The dollar amount of the compensation was informed by best practice, as well as guidance received by NIRB, to be reflective of the contribution of the participant to the study while avoiding coercion to participate unwillingly in order to receive compensation. The NIRB approved a \$30 value for gift cards for this study.

Socially Responsible Research. This project was not only guided by NIRB input, but also by local community leaders in the form of staff and board members from the target UIHP. The research project was presented to the UIHP board of directors and received approval and support

through a board resolution. This resolution also led to the formation of an oversight committee that reviews the project to ensure its aims and activities are in the best interest of the organization and the community it serves. Whenever there was an identified conflict of interest between benefit to the organization or to the community, the community's interest was upheld.

Reflexivity

This project was designed as participatory action research,⁶¹ in that, through their active engagement, it drew on the experience and history of the members of the community in which it took place and was intended to make changes to the status quo. The lead researcher was a Native health administrator who has been working in the American Indian health field for more than two decades. These two roles, Native person and health administrator, bring with them experiential and practice-based knowledge and data. As a Native person, the researcher has actively used TCPs for his own health and wellness. Within a community health setting, the researcher has employed TCPs as a strengths-based intervention in supporting mental and physical health. At the same time, guiding policy and, more importantly, funding for interventions has historically and consistently demanded a Western-oriented evidence base. This has led to an environment in which administrators at UIHPs are allowed to bill and receive funding from Medicaid, private insurance, and other payors when their medical provider sees a patient and prescribes medication to treat substance use, but these same payors refuse to provide funding for participation in TCPs because there is a perceived lack of evidence regarding their efficacy. This study was intentional in its aim to begin establishing this evidence. It did so not because the researcher or community are uncertain about the benefits of TCPs, but rather to enlighten those audiences unfamiliar with the extensive practice-based evidence of its legitimacy.

4.0 Project Timeline

With the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Clinical and Translational Research Program (CTRP) funding and the support from the target UIHP, the timeline in Figure 6 represents the workflow for the completion of all project aims.

YEAR:	2021										2022			
MONTH:	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb
Aim 1														
Develop Systematic Review Protocol														
Conduct Systematic Review														
Prepare Manuscript														
Aim 2														
Develop Assessment Questionnaire														
Participant Recruitment														
Deliver Survey														
Analyze Results														
Cultural Consultation														
Prepare Manuscript														
Aim 3														
Develop Moderator Guide														
Conduct Interviews														
Analyze Interviews														
Cultural Consultation														
Prepare Manuscript														

Figure 6. Project Timeline and Pre-Timeline Activities for All Aims.
CHAPTER THREE – Manuscript 1: Traditional ceremonial practices as a strategy to reduce problem substance use in American Indian communities: A systematic review

Publication Status:

In preparation for submission (anticipated submission May 2022). Preliminary co-author, community reviews complete.

Target Journal: American Journal of Public Health

Traditional ceremonial practices as a strategy to reduce problem substance use in American Indian communities: A systematic review

D'Shane Barnett¹, Jeffery Peterson¹, Jessica Liddell², Annie Belcourt¹

- 1. School of Public and Community Health Sciences, University of Montana, Missoula, MT
- 2. School of Social Work, University of Montana, Missoula, MT

ABSTRACT

Objectives. We conducted a systematic review assessing the feasibility of American Indian traditional ceremonial practices (TCP) to address problem substance use in both reservation and urban settings.

Methods. Between September 24, 2021, and January 14, 2022, we systematically searched 160 databases–including PubMed, Global Health, Global Health Archive, CINAHL Complete, PsychInfo, Web of Science, Health and Wellness (Gale), Sage Online Journals, and ScienceDirect–applying culturally specific review protocols.

Selection Criteria. We included all quantitative study designs with a population of American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) adults that included a TCP predictor variable and substance use response variable. We excluded studies with a qualitative design, studies that were conducted outside of the United States, and studies that focused on a youth population sample.

Data Collection and Analysis. Two reviewers independently carried out title and abstract reviews against a guideline document. Full-text review of included studies was conducted by the entire research team. Discrepancies were resolved by discussion and consensus among the research team.

Main Results. Ten studies met the criteria for inclusion in the review. Among these, three were conducted with reservation populations and seven were from an urban setting. The most common TCP activities reported were drumming (n = 9), sweat lodge (n = 7), and talking circles (n = 6). All ten studies reported some type of quantitative data showing a reduction of substance use associated with TCP interventions or activities.

Conclusions. The current status of the literature is emerging and does not allow for metaanalysis of existing studies. However, the existing literature does indicate promise for the use of TCP to address problem substance use in AIAN communities in a way that is effective and also culturally congruent.

Keywords: traditional ceremonial practice; American Indian; substance use; intervention; ceremony

1.0. Plain Language Summary^{*}

We conducted a systematic review of available literature on American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) traditional ceremonial practices (TCP) and problem substance use. Approaches and interventions that incorporate TCPs are essential tools for AIAN health programs trying to address problem substance use among AIAN adults. Although many studies have used a narrative method to provide evidence of the success of TCPs to reduce problem substance use, there is a paucity of data to support their effectiveness. We identified 10 studies that included quantitative data regarding TCP participation or TCP-based interventions. These studies included both urban and reservation-based populations. Several TCPs were represented in these studies, with the most common being sweat lodge ceremonies, drumming, and talking circles. Among the results of the studies, we found that by using TCPs communities were able to reduce problem substance use behaviors. Measures reported in the studies included odds ratios, difference in proportions, and difference in the amount or days of substance use. Each of the 10 studies reported some level of favorable change in substance use behaviors. A noteworthy finding of our review is that this protective ability of TCPs does not appear to vary depending on urban or reservation setting.

^{*} This section is a requirement of the target journal.

2.0. Introduction

American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN)^{*} communities have successfully relied on long-held traditional ceremonial practices (TCPs) to survive and recover from historical traumas for generations.² Interventions that incorporate TCPs to prevent or treat problem substance use are increasingly replacing the more deficits-based clinical approaches employed by Western science.⁷¹⁻⁷³ Beyond merely introducing or strengthening aspects of culture—such as language, foods, games, or arts and crafts—AIAN communities are reviving TCPs in an effort to promote spiritual and emotional healing and, correspondingly, reduce rates of problem substance use associated with historical and intergenerational trauma.⁷⁴

Increased efforts to incorporate TCPs into substance use programming are, in many ways, a form of contemporary resistance for many Indigenous peoples. Historically, it is important to remember that many of these practices were undervalued, disregarded, and even deemed illegal in this country, and this has resulted in a persistent distrust of research on the part of AIAN communities.^{1,75} These factors have helped fuel a relative paucity of Western scientific evidence regarding the effectiveness of TCPs. This presents a challenge for administrators of substance use programs, because it has led to the current policy and funding environment in which, despite millennia of practice-based evidence supporting their effectiveness, traditional practitioners and TCP-based interventions are often not eligible for reimbursement through public and private insurers.⁷⁶

^{*} The authors subscribe to the belief that the most appropriate way to refer to any Indigenous person or tribe is using the term from their specific language or dialect. For consistency, throughout this manuscript we will broadly refer to Indigenous persons and peoples of the United States using the widely accepted term American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN). However, other terms such as Indigenous, Native American, Native, American Indian, and Indian may be substituted based on context or original study language.

This trend is beginning to change, however, as greater emphasis is placed on communitybased participatory research methods and as more research is conducted *by* AIAN investigators *for* AIAN communities.⁷² Studies have emerged over the last few decades, and are increasing in number, that specifically explore the effectiveness of TCPs to reduce problem substance use. One issue, however, is that many of these studies take place outside of the United States and focus on Indigenous communities in Canada, Australia, New Zealand, or other parts of the world.^{12,77,78} For studies inside the U.S., AIAN adolescents are often the focus, due in part to the severity of health disparities in substance use-related mortality for AIAN teens.^{10,11,36} How these extra-territorial and youth-focused studies generalize to AIAN adults is not well-established.

Another issue is that Indigenous and community-based participatory research methods can seem to lend themselves more easily to a narrative, or qualitative, inquiry. This is perhaps due to the emphasis on relational communal values, rather than a more compartmentalized, quantitative approach to understanding health.⁷⁹ This effect has resulted in a greater preponderance of *qualitative* literature exploring the role and effectiveness of TCP in reducing problem substance use in AIAN communities.^{1,14,80} This is problematic because quantitative methods are often prioritized by funding institutions and scientists, even though qualitative methods are an important source of insight for examining indigenous healing methods. The gap within extant literature of studies that examine cross-cultural health and healing with the inferential power of quantitative methods adds to the continued designation of TCPs as a nonevidence-based practice. This project seeks to fill this lacuna by providing a review of quantitative data to address the question: What are the associations between interventions that incorporate traditional ceremonial practices (TCP) and problem substance use, and do the relationships vary by reservation or urban settings?

2.1. What are TCPs?

Given the significant heterogeneity among tribal nations, activities that are considered TCPs are diverse. Most tribes consider TCPs as ethically protected tribal knowledge. However, some examples of TCPs include sweat lodge, drumming, talking circles, naming ceremonies, puberty ceremonies, or other spiritual ceremonies practiced by tribal nations. This review was guided by Critical Indigenous Research Methodologies (CIRM).⁴⁴ A basic tenet of CIRM is tribal self-determination. This means that Indigenous communities have the right to identify an activity as a TCP, without a need to define or operationalize the practice for researchers. Thus, for the purposes of this review, the research team considered an activity or intervention as a TCP if that is how it was regarded by the respective AIAN communities.

3.0. Methods

The study team consisted of four researchers, two of whom are American Indian and two of whom are not but who have extensive backgrounds working with AIAN populations. The researchers come from four distinct social science fields–public health, health communications, social work, and clinical psychology–to enhance the perspective of the team when reviewing studies from various disciplines. Between September 24, 2021, and January 14, 2022, we conducted a systematic search of the literature and selection of articles in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement.^{40,41} The full review protocol was registered with PROSPERO (ID #CRD42021269710) before the search was conducted and is included as Appendix A.

Search Terms. Because the introduction of TCP into clinical and academic study is relatively recent, there is no standardized language to facilitate literature reviews. To ensure we

captured as many relevant studies as possible, we developed a broad search strategy—realizing that this would produce a greater number of initial items to be combed through to eventually find the very few articles that would meet the criteria for inclusion in the review.

Our search terms were informed by meetings with behavioral health staff from several Urban Indian Health Organizations (UIHOs). These staff identified the substances most often associated with problem use by their AIAN clientele as alcohol, methamphetamines, and opioids. Because of this, the search included terms for general substance use as well as for these three substances specifically.

Table 1. Search terms for the PRISMA-guided systematic literature review.						
American Indian (OR) Native American (OR) Indigenous	(AND)	Spiritual* (OR) Ceremon* (OR) Cultur* (OR) Tradition* (OR) Community	(AND)	Substance Use (OR) Substance Abuse (OR) Addiction (OR) Alcohol Use (OR) Alcohol Abuse (OR) Meth* Use (OR) Meth* Abuse (OR) Opioid Use (OR) Opioid Abuse (OR) Prescription Medicine (OR) Prescription Drug		

Data extraction. Via a university library OneSearch function, we searched 160 databases including PubMed, Global Health, Global Health Archive, CINAHL Complete, PsychInfo, Web of Science, Health and Wellness (Gale), Sage Online Journals, and ScienceDirect. We performed a limited gray literature review via Google Search. After an initial review that included websites for organizations such as the Indian Health Service, SAMHSA, and NIH, among others, we found that studies located via Google largely had already been identified through databases or were not eligible for inclusion, therefore we focused our limited resources on reviewing the academic literature. References were uploaded to EndNote (version 20.2) for organization and review.

The first and second authors (DB and JP, respectively) independently screened each title and then each remaining abstract for inclusion. Abstracts were screened against a guideline document⁸¹ to determine if full article review was appropriate (see Appendix B). DB and JP resolved discrepancies through discussion until consensus was reached. Full articles were initially reviewed against a guideline by DB and assigned either as exclude, potentially exclude, or potentially include. Those articles that were assigned as potentially exclude or potentially include were then brought to the full research team for discussion and final consensus.

We included studies exploring the association between TCP and substance use prevention or treatment for AIAN adults that used a quantitative design. Our original intent was to include studies that tested interventions, but due to the low number of these types of studies we decided to also include cross-sectional studies in which a TCP measure was clearly defined and reported on. While we did not expect to find consistency among the studies that would allow for a metaanalysis, our aim was to report on quantitative, rather than qualitative, data from each study.

Because our intent is to potentially inform the development and delivery of TCP-based interventions with AIAN adults, we excluded articles and studies that focused on youth (under 18 years of age) or populations outside of the United States. We also excluded qualitative studies, including case studies, due to the pervasiveness of qualitative data currently associated with this topic in the literature. We do not discount or underrate the value of qualitative methodologies; it is merely our aim to fill a particular gap in the literature.

Study Quality and Bias. As mentioned in our introduction, there exists a historical gap between Indigenous wisdom and Western science. Significant advancement has been made to narrow this gap, including the establishment of the Native American Research Centers for Health (NARCH) program in 2000 as a partnership between the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and

the Indian Health Service (IHS).⁸² By 2018, however, NARCH funding represented less than one-half of one percent of the NIH budget.⁸³

The chronic underfunding of AIAN health research, and the persistent distrust many AIAN communities have developed after experiencing abuse by researchers, must be considered when examining the quality of studies undertaken with this population. Because of this, our research team decided to assess cultural, rather than clinical, bias among the studies. Before including an article in this review, we examined whether the research was (1) either Indigenous-led or Indigenous-informed, (2) that TCP was delivered or overseen by AIAN traditional practitioners, and (3) that implementation and evaluation processes were culturally justified in the narrative. For example, a study examining the effect of sweat lodge ceremonies on problem substance use in the Navajo Nation included a traditional counselor as its second author, employees of both the Navajo Nation and the Indian Health Service (IHS) as additional authors, and the narrative included information for how the intervention and evaluation methods were grounded in Navajo tradition and culture.⁸⁰ We argue that by meeting these criteria, this and other studies contribute significantly to an area of research that could benefit greatly from future increases in attention and resources.

Full Articles. After screening, 54 full text articles were considered for this review. Figure 1 provides a detailed outline of the article selection process. We excluded 44 articles for the following reasons:

- other reviews, including systematic reviews, scoping reviews, and meta-analyses (n = 8);
- 2. no predictor (TCP) or response (substance use) measures were reported (n = 13);
- 3. no predictor measure (TCP) was reported (n = 17);
- 4. no response measure (substance use) was reported (n = 3);
- 5. study did not include an AIAN adult sample (n = 2); and
- 6. study did not employ a quantitative design (n = 1).



4.0. Results

A total of 10 studies reporting quantitative measures met the inclusion criteria for our review. Included were: 1 randomized control trial; 1 pilot study; 1 prospective cohort study; 4 evaluation studies; and 3 cross sectional studies. All 10 studies were published in academic journals between 2003 and 2021. Study environments included both reservations (n = 3) and urban settings (n = 7). Five of the studies targeted participants in either an inpatient or outpatient substance use treatment program, two studies targeted specific reservation communities, one study targeted inmates, one study targeted homeless AIAN individuals, and one study targeted AIAN college students.

Table 1. Summary of included studies for the systematic review of traditional ceremonial practices (TCP) as a potential strategy against problem

 substance use in adult American Indians.

Study	Design	Sample Size Urban/Reservation	Predictor/ Exposure	Response/ Outcome	Results
Dickerson et al. ¹³ 2021	RCT	N = 63 Urban	Twelve 3-hour sessions (total of 36 hours) of therapeutic drum behavior therapy for AI/AN adults with AOD use disorders.	Quantity and frequency of substance use by participants.	DARTNA participants reported fewer drinks per day (d = -0.39 , 95% Cl = -1.04 , 0.27), and lower odds of marijuana use in past 30 days (odds ratio = 0.50, 95% Cl = 0.10, 2.54) compared to usual care.
Dickerson et al. ⁸⁴ 2014	Pilot study	N = 10 Urban	3-hour treatment of therapeutic drum behavior therapy protocol sessions provided 2 times per week for 12 weeks.	Quantity and frequency of substance use by participants.	Eighty percent (8/10) completed at least the 6- week (midpoint) assessments. Fifty percent (5/10) completed the 12-week DARTNA program. 75% (6 of 8 participants) reported no alcohol or drug use at follow up.
Gossage et al. ⁸⁰ 2003	Evaluation study	<i>N</i> = 190 Reservation	Navajo traditional practitioners conducted sweat lodge ceremonies with inmate/patients (I/Ps).	Quantity and frequency of substance use by participants.	At follow up, IPs were drinking about 1.5 drinks less than before the intake data were collected (5.4 versus 6.8).

					25.5%, respectively (p = 0.041).
Greenfield et al. ⁸⁵	Cross-sectional	N = 347	Survey scale for <i>Traditional Spiritual</i> <i>Activities</i> as well as a single item – "how important are traditional	Quantity and frequency of substance use by	-Lower proportion of past-month marijuana use among respondents who participate in traditional ceremony: 10.5% and 17.4%, respectively (p = 0.079).
2018 su	survey	urvey Orban	spiritual values to the way you lead your life?" Response options on a 4- point Likert rating scale.	participants.	-Lower proportion of past-month alcohol use among respondents who participate in traditional ceremony: 39.3% and 48.3%, respectively (p = 0.102).
					-Lower proportion of past-month binge drinking among respondents who participate in traditional ceremony: 23.6% and 30.5%, respectively (p = 0.177).

-Lower proportion of past-month drug use among respondents who participate in traditional ceremony: 16.1% and

Herman-Stahl et al. ⁸⁶ 2003	Cross-sectional survey	N = 2,449 Reservation	Survey measure included items regarding participation in traditional practices.	Quantity and frequency of substance use by participants.	-"More American Indian oriented" were less likely to report alcohol use than "bicultural" and "less American Indian oriented" (20.4%, 51.1%, and 58.6%, respectively; p = <0.001); less likely to report heavy alcohol use (11.2%, 28.8%, and 39.9%, respectively; p = <0.001); and less likely to report illicit drug use (12.2%, 26.9%, and 27.9%, respectively; p = <0.001).
					-Compared to "more American Indian oriented" heavy drinking OR for "bicultural" was 2.88 [95% CI (1.85 – 4.47); p = <0.05] and for "less American Indian oriented" was 4.38 [95% CI (2.56 – 7.49); p = <0.05].

Saylors ⁸⁷ Ev. 2003		<i>N</i> = 742 Urban	AIAN cultural healing activities include prayer, singing, drumming, sweat		-Within the pre/post matched sample, alcohol use decreased 13% after six months and drinking alcohol to intoxication was reduced by 19%.
	Evaluation study		lodges, smudging, herbs, and use of tobacco in ceremonies.	Quantity and frequency of substance use by participants.	-Of those women who had used marijuana, non- prescription methadone,
			Talking circles were held regularly at the clinic for clients and staff.		hallucinogens, uppers, downers, and inhalants at intake, none reported use at six months.
					-Heroin use was down 93%.
Torres-Stone et al. ⁸⁸ 2006	Cross-sectional survey	<i>N</i> = 980 Reservation	Survey scale for T <i>raditional Spirituality</i> <i>Scale.</i> Response options on a 4-point Likert rating scale.	Alcohol cessation was measured as a dichotomous variable, indicating they no longer drank alcohol after a prior period of alcohol use or abuse.	Alcohol cessation was significantly and positively associated with participation in traditional spiritual activities (r = 0.23, p = <0.01).
Tonigan et al. ⁸⁹ 2020	Prospective cohort	N = 61 Urban	Frequency of attendance at either standard Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) or AA that was culturally adapted (CA-	Two alcohol use measures were computed: Proportion of days abstinent from alcohol (PDA) and Drinks	CA-AA participants reported an average of 6.49 drinks per drinking day compared to 6.72 for

Wendt et al. ⁹⁰ 2017	Evaluation study	N = 52 (AIAN subsample) Urban	Native-specific TCP activities were coded from participants' brief, open-ended responses by a Native coauthor.	Quantity and frequency of substance use by participants.	-AIANs who engaged in TCP reported significantly lower drinking frequency in past 30 days (Mean = 10.00 days vs 24.15 days, p = 0.009) as well as amount consumed in the last 30 days (Mean = 10.34 vs 31.25, p = 0.017). -Marginally significant difference in days of intoxication, with fewer days of intoxication among those who engaged in TCP (Mdn = 5.00 vs. Mdn = 29.50, p = 0.05).
Wright et al. ⁹¹ 2011	Evaluation study	N = 490 Urban	Integrated mental health and substance abuse system that includes traditional cultural practices: talking circles, sweat lodge, traditional healers, seasonal ceremonies, prayer, smudging, drumming, and herbs.	Frequency of substance use by participants.	An 80.2% decrease in alcohol or other drug use. Of the 490 participants, 116 (23.7%) reported using alcohol or drugs in the prior 30 days at baseline, with a decline to 23 (4.7%) six months later (p < .001).

4.1. TCP Measures

The studies included an array of TCP interventions or activities. The most common were drumming (n = 9), sweat lodge (n = 7), and talking circles (n = 6). Five of the studies included interventions that were delivered or overseen by a traditional practitioner. The structure of the TCP measures varied broadly from a rigorous delivery schedule to cross-sectional surveys asking about participation in TCP during a specific period of time. Several studies also included information about how TCP delivery was tailored depending upon tribal homogeneity or lack thereof, with more heterogeneous communities choosing to adapt TCP based upon wide-ranging regional practices (e.g., the southwest or northern plains). For example, in their 2014 study, Dickerson et al.⁸⁴ talk about how the processes of making drums and learning songs were adapted in order to meet the needs of a multi-tribal, urban community. This included drawing on traditional practitioners from different tribes as part of their cultural advisory board (CAB).

4.2. Substance Use Behaviors

Each of the 10 studies reported some level of favorable change in substance use behaviors, although the strength of the findings varied widely. The single RCT study found that participants who completed the TCP intervention reported fewer drinks per day (d = -0.39; 95% CI = -1.04, 0.27) and lower odds of past-30-day marijuana use (OR = 0.50; 95% CI = 0.10, 2.54) compared to those participants who received similar hours of standard care. Five studies^{84-87,91} found TCP participation or interventions to be associated with a lower proportion of selfreported substance use behaviors. Three studies^{80,89,90} found that TCP participation was associated with either fewer days consuming alcohol or fewer alcoholic drinks consumed. One study⁸⁶ reported lower substance use odds associated with TCP participation. And one study⁸⁸ found that alcohol cessation was positively associated with participation in traditional spiritual activities. Given this evidence, the review team is cautiously encouraged, and we believe this topic merits further research and attention, as outlined in our recommendations below.

4.3. Reservation vs Urban

One aim of our review was to identify whether there were differences in the application and/or effectiveness of TCP between reservation-based and urban AIAN communities. A noteworthy finding within our results is that the protective role of TCP was not confined to reservation societies. Studies in urban cities with tribally diverse samples reported reductions in problem substance use that do not appear to differ significantly from those within tribally homogeneous communities. This is especially meaningful given that the majority of AIAN individuals no longer live on tribally-controlled lands but rather in urban settings where substance use programming would need to serve a multi-tribal population.³² For example, in their 2021 study, Dickerson et al.¹³ report that their urban sample included affiliations from 33 different tribes. Yet the program was still able to demonstrate a reduction in number of drinks per day and marijuana use through its TCP-based intervention.

5.0. Discussion

AIAN people continue to experience an epidemic of problem substance use and the need for traditional practices as intervention is critical. Yet, access to TCP-based interventions for AIAN communities is currently constrained by the longstanding gap between Indigenous practice-based evidence and Western science. This could be fueled by a lack of knowledge or direct biases toward cross-cultural forms of problem substance use treatment. To redress these problems requires the promotion of science that incorporates responsible, quantitative research of Indigenous healing methods. TCPs are a culturally congruent strategy to reduce substance abuse.

To our knowledge, this is the first systematic review to highlight quantitative data exploring the relationship between TCPs and problem substance use among AIAN adults.

Most substance abuse research examines the deficits, risks, and challenges within AIAN communities.⁹²⁻⁹⁴ This research currently fuels health policy, research, and funding. Yet, identifying and quantifying the problem has not, in and of itself, provided a solution. Providing access to TCP requires that clinicians and stakeholders are able to find ways to fund traditional forms of healing. But this funding is too often hindered by either ignorance or bias against Indigenous research, despite millennia of practice and, perhaps the most confirmatory evidence, the continued existence and flourishing of AIAN communities in the face of trauma. This review focused on works that explore the inherent strengths and assets that AIAN communities possess that create this environment for individuals to demonstrate resilience, a concept termed as *Reziliency*.³⁹

As they gain in popularity, it is essential that TCPs continue to be overseen or directly led by an Indigenous traditional practitioner, as reflected in each of the studies included in this review. It is critical that our results be interpreted to reflect not just on the individual activities, such as drumming, smudging, or sweating, which traditional wisdom dictates are not independent, severable components. Rather, we must look on these as collective practices that are contextual and interwoven with language, geography, and tribal histories. The context of this evidence dictates that programming not be undertaken irreverent of the spiritual and traditional element, or as one qualitative study title directly calls out, "*Please Don't Just Hang a Feather on a Program or Put a Medicine Wheel on Your Logo and Think 'Oh Well, This Will Work.*": *Theoretical Perspectives of American Indian and Alaska Native Substance Abuse Prevention Programs.*⁹⁵

It is also important to note that many studies examining TCP do not provide definitions or explanations of how TCP was operationalized or carried out. This was a significant hurdle for our review, as there are likely several studies that could not be included because it wasn't possible from the article narrative to parse out or even determine the use of TCP, but that would have been included if more information were available. An example here are the Venner et al. studies^{96,97} examining a culturally adapted Motivational Interviewing and Community Reinforcement Approach (MICRA). Their narrative noted that the "cultural component of the ASI was adapted to assess cultural and ceremonial practices specific to the Tribe in this study," but there was no information about how TCPs were incorporated or applied throughout the intervention. While we would have liked to have amplified our results with studies such as these, we recognize the very sincere and serious reasons why many AIAN communities may not be comfortable with this level of detail being shared. It would be naive and irresponsible for any researcher to expect tribal communities to ignore past events-including the historical criminalization of the very ceremonies being practiced now and the imprisonment or murder of practitioners leading those ceremonies-when reporting on studies today.

5.1. Practical Implications

It is our hope that to the greatest extent possible this review supports and informs the development and delivery of substance use programming for AIAN communities. In addition to particular activities and practices, we have identified and laid out common themes from studies that incorporate TCP aiming to reduce problem substance use:

- The process of designing and evaluating programming and research should either be led or informed by AIAN communities;
- TCPs should be delivered or overseen by a legitimate traditional practitioner; and

• TCPs are not severable components and should be delivered in the context of spiritual and traditional elements.

To assist with future evaluation of the effectiveness of TCP, up to and including metaanalyses, we recommend researchers adopt some standardized measures while still allowing for the adaptation of programming to reflect tribal affiliations among the community. Specifically, some feasible measures to include in future studies appear to be odds ratios for substance use vs. abstinence, cross-tabulations (Chi-square) between TCP and non-TCP subsamples, number of days using a particular substance in the last 30 days, and the number of drinks consumed per day.

5.2. Strengths and Limitations

This review was led by a Native American author with more than two decades of professional experience in AIAN health and whose lived experience includes practicing and participating in TCP. The senior member of the research team is a Native American clinical psychologist whose research has focused on identifying and enhancing culturally based protective factors. The two non-Native researchers both have a background working with tribal and urban AIAN communities and one previously led a similar systematic review focused on TCP and preventing substance abuse among AIAN youth.

A limitation is the rarity of studies in general that report quantitative data regarding TCP. Several systematic or scoping reviews have highlighted qualitative evidence that supports the effectiveness and promise of TCP to reduce problem substance use. While qualitative methodologies allow for a much deeper and contextualized understanding of phenomena, evaluation of the effectiveness of TCP-based interventions must necessarily include quantitative measures as well, and this is largely missing in the published literature. Because of this, it also was not possible to complete a meta-analysis due to the lack of consistent statistical methods

among the few studies that did publish this type of data. Additionally, the scarcity of studies did not enable us to compare the effect based on type of substance use (i.e., alcohol, marijuana, or other drugs). It is possible that more data could be found in gray literature, but this review did not have the necessary resources to perform a comprehensive search beyond available databases.

Finally, the belief of this review team that TCP should be defined by respective communities is both a strength and a limitation. While in line with the tenets of Critical Indigenous Research Methodologies, it limits generalizability. For example, a TCP-based intervention designed and delivered in the Pacific Northwest might not show the same effectiveness, without significant adaptation, if employed in an AIAN community in the Southeast. However, this reinforces the finding and recommendation that TCP-based interventions be community-led and either overseen or delivered by legitimate traditional practitioners.

6.0. Funding

The authors report no funding associated with this systematic review.

CHAPTER FOUR – Manuscript 2: American Indian traditional ceremonial practices and substance use behaviors in an urban multi-tribal setting: Results from a community survey

Publication Status:

In preparation for submission (anticipated submission June 2022). Preliminary co-author, community reviews complete.

Target Journal: American Journal of Public Health

American Indian traditional ceremonial practices and substance use behaviors in an urban, multitribal setting: Results from a community survey

D'Shane Barnett¹, Julie Cahoon¹, Jeffery Peterson¹, Curtis Noonan¹, Blakely Brown¹

1. School of Public and Community Health Sciences, University of Montana, Missoula, MT

ABSTRACT

Objectives. We examined the association between American Indian traditional ceremonial practices (TCPs) protective factors and intent to participate in TCPs with self-reported substance use behaviors during the previous 12 months.

Methods. A 107-item survey was developed to assess TCP and substance use behaviors among urban American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) adults living in an urban, multi-tribal setting. The survey contained some previously validated items that were adapted as well as some original items. Recruitment materials were sent to 665 eligible AIAN adults by email or U.S. mail to participate in the online or paper and pencil survey. Of the 210 survey responses returned, 194 complete survey responses were included in the final analysis. Binomial multivariate logistic regression analysis was used to assess the relationship between TCP variables, substance use, and demographic covariates in the sample.

Results. More positive TCP protective factors were found in 56.4% of the sample. Greater self-reported intent to participate was found in 36.7% of the sample. After adjusting for age and income, multivariate analysis indicated that individuals with more positive TCP protective factors or greater self-reported intent to participate in TCPs were less likely to report alcohol or other drug use. However, these findings were not significant for marijuana use. Finally, participants with greater self-reported knowledge regarding TCPs significantly less likely to report using alcohol or other drugs besides marijuana.

Conclusions. Our findings highlight the need for greater attention to be placed on substance use interventions for urban American Indian adults that are either grounded in TCPs or that integrate TCPs into existing designs. Including a learning component aimed at increasing participant knowledge regarding TCPs may increase the effectiveness of interventions.

Keywords: American Indians; substance use; traditional practices; ceremony; intervention; treatment; protective factors

1.0. Introduction

American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) communities have successfully relied on long-held traditional ceremonial practices (TCPs) to survive and recover from historical traumas, such as forced relocation and boarding schools, for generations.^{2,47} Despite millennia of practicebased evidence, however, TCP-based interventions are often deemed as not 'validated' due to a paucity of academic research.^{1,75} A national movement toward accepting only Western scientific evidence of effectiveness culminated with the development of the National Registry of Evidencebased Programs and Practices in 2007.⁹ Relying on evidence-based programs, whether culturally adapted or not, does not appear to have solved the crisis of problem substance use in AIAN communities.

While the 2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health found that lifetime alcohol use was lower among AIAN participants than non-Hispanic Whites, AIAN adults (18 years or older) reported the highest prevalence of heavy drinking for any identified race.⁶ AIAN adults also reported the highest prevalence of both lifetime and past-year illicit drug use (including marijuana, methamphetamine, and opioids) of any other race. Alarmingly, while the prevalence of past-year illicit drug use either decreased or increased only slightly for other racial categories, the proportion of AIAN adults reporting illicit drug used increased by 37% between 2019 and 2020.⁶ The COVID-19 pandemic has only added to the substance use crisis, with AIAN individuals experiencing the greatest drug overdose death rate (drug overdose deaths per 100,000) of any racial or ethnic group in the United States between January and September, 2020, according to the CDC.⁷

As community-informed and community-led research is becoming more common, studies over the last several decades are beginning to highlight the potential for TCP-based interventions

to prevent or decrease problem substance use within AIAN communities.^{12,78} Emerging research is finding that this approach may also be effective in urban AIAN communities, which are often heterogeneous in terms of tribal affiliation and acculturation.^{13,89,91} However, not enough information is available on the generalizability of TCP-based interventions with urban AIAN populations. There have been no studies, for example, that assess the potential effectiveness for this type of substance abuse programming among urban AIAN communities in Montana.

There are five federally-funded Urban Indian Health Organizations (UIHOs) located in Montana, the second highest concentration within any state, after California.⁹⁸ To better understand TCP practices and, more importantly, the potential for a TCP-based problem substance use intervention, a survey was conducted as part of a larger research study with AIAN clients from one Montana UIHO. Here we report on the findings of this survey and present implications for the planning and development of future work to decrease problem substance use within this population.

2.0. Methods

Critical Indigenous Research Methodologies (CIRM) guided the approach of this study.⁴⁴ A CIRM framework is based on the belief that Indigenous communities possess traditional knowledge that is not in opposition to science but rather should be used to instruct research within those communities. Crucial to the CIRM process is that Indigenous knowledge dictate what topics or issues need to be studied, how they should be measured, and how that information is interpreted and disseminated. Meetings between the first author and Indigenous staff members at the UIHO—specifically the director of behavioral health and the behavioral health clinical supervisor—over the course of 2019 informed the conceptualization and design of this project.

Study approval was received from the UIHO board of directors in March 2020 and by the IHS National Institutional Review Board, the preferred IRB designated by the UIHO, in July 2020.

2.1. Project Model

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the community survey was intended to measure selfreported rates of participation in TCP activities and substance use behaviors over the previous year. Staff members at the UIHO posited that individuals who participate more actively in TCP would likely demonstrate fewer problem substance use behaviors. However, the COVID-19 pandemic created a situation in which most community-based TCP activities were cancelled to limit the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. Accordingly, the survey measures were adapted to include construct measures, specifically a participant's knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and selfreported intent to participate in TCP, that could approximate for direct participation in TCP.

In developing our COVID-adapted project model, we drew on two existing theories. Our foundational tenet for this project is *Reziliency*.³⁹ Adapted from Resilience Theory,⁹⁹ *Reziliency* was developed by an Indigenous psychologist for application in both reservation and urban American Indian communities. It is a strengths-based framework that encompasses the positive factors, approaches, and methods used within AIAN communities when faced with experiences of adversity or trauma that create an environment for individuals to demonstrate resiliency. Because we could not measure direct participation in TCPs due to the pandemic, we drew on the theories of Reasoned Action and Planned Behavior.¹⁰⁰ These frameworks have been successfully applied to prior public health work with American Indian participants.^{101,102} Based on these theoretical concepts, the research team brought the COVID-responsive project model in Figure 1 to the UIHO staff for review.



Figure 1. COVID-adapted project model showing the anticipated association between the predictor, proxy, and response variables.

2.2. Survey Development

Substance Use Measures. In consultation with a University of Montana faculty member who specializes in substance use research and with the UIHO behavioral health leadership, select substance use measures were drawn from the National Survey on Drug Use and Health¹⁰³ to capture data on needs and concerns as defined by the community. Specifically, respondents were asked about their past-year use of alcohol, marijuana, methamphetamine, inhalants, and prescription medications (in a way not directed by a medical provider).

TCP Measures. To limit the impact of recall bias on the results, the research team decided to not ask about past participation in TCPs. A review of the literature informed the selection of validated instruments for AIAN populations that included scales or items aimed at measuring other TCP-related constructs as well as health indicators and general demographics. The Indigenous Wellness Research Institute out of the University of Washington created a COVID-19 Indigenous Needs Assessment instrument that included a protective factor scale for TCP that was slightly adapted to measure participant attitudes, knowledge, and beliefs (KAB)

regarding TCP.¹⁰⁴ No articles were found by the research team that included scales related to self-reported access or intent to participate in TCP. The research team developed these two scales. Each scale—KAB, Access, and Intent—was then reviewed by two Indigenous psychologists. Feedback from both psychologists was incorporated into modified scales.

Cronbach's alpha. To assess internal validity, we performed a Cronbach's alpha test on each TCP measurement scale (see Appendix B). As expected, the modified KAB scale adapted from a previously validated instrument showed high internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.93$). The Intent scale also showed acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.85$). The Access scale, however, did not show acceptable internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.44$) and was removed from analyses.

2.3. Pilot Testing

Before deploying the survey to the community, it was pilot tested with ten participants purposively selected to allow for diversity in review based on age, gender, and level of education. The pilot testing sample was comprised of five females, four males, and one Two Spirit individual, and included college students, elders, Indigenous professionals, and a traditional practitioner. Each participant was asked to take the survey on their own and then participate in an interview with a member of the research team to provide feedback on questionnaire items for clarity, perceived relevance, and cultural appropriateness. Additionally, the survey was reviewed by three cultural advisors. Final modifications to the instrument were made by the research team based on this feedback before being distributed to the community. The full questionnaire can be found in Appendix C.

2.4. Sample

Via the electronic health records (EHR) system, UIHO staff identified eligible participants. Inclusion criteria were: (1) AIAN adults (18 years and older); (2) currently living in

either of two counties served by the UIHO; and (3) interacting with the UIHO at least once within the last three years. An interaction included any medical, dental, or behavioral health appointment, along with participation in any health promotion events or activities where contact information was collected. Based on these criteria, EHR records generated 275 email addresses and 504 physical addresses for 779 unduplicated AIAN adults.

Between September and November 2021, an email invitation and four follow-up emails were sent to potential survey participants via Qualtrics[®]. From the original set of 275 email addresses, 33 email addressed bounced or could not be delivered and one individual opted out of receiving emails, for a total of 241 potential electronic respondents. In October 2021, 504 paper survey packets were sent out with an option to complete the survey questionnaire online, using an included link or QR code, or via mail using a postage-paid return envelope. From this original set, 76 packets were returned as undeliverable and four were returned because the individual was now deceased, for a total of 424 potential paper respondents.

2.5. Statistical Methods

Measures. Outcome measures were binary, in which "0" was used to indicate no reported substance use and "1" indicated substance use. TCP variables were dichotomized based on their Likert scale values. Participants were assigned a "0" for the protective factor scale if their mean score reflected "A Little Important" or "Not At All Important" or a "1" if their mean score reflected "Fairly Important" or "Very Important." Participants were assigned a "0" for the intent scale if their mean score reflected "Extremely Unlikely," "Somewhat Unlikely," or "Neither Likely nor Unlikely" or a "1" if their mean score reflected "Somewhat Likely" or "Extremely Likely." While this approach is common with Likert scale data,¹⁰⁵ to test the validity of our results we investigated cut-point effect comparing against using median and upper quartile

values (see Appendix D). We did not find an indication that the significance of the association increases or decreases in accordance with the cut-point.

Analyses. We conducted all analyses using RStudio software (version 1.3.1093). Percentages of past-year substance use, KAB, access, and intent were estimated using Chi-square tests. Model building for binary logistic regression was accomplished through a purposeful selection process.⁵⁵ First, we performed bivariate analyses for each type of substance use outcome with each TCP measure and covariates. Any variables that individually were not significant predictors (p < 0.05) or did not influence the odds ratio by 10% or more were removed from the model.

Many, like Tai & Machin, define the objective of the modeling process as an attempt to "find the simplest (most parsimonious) model yet one that still describes the essential features of the data adequately."^{106(p.61)} To this end, the models were refined by evaluating the effect of dropping a given variable (ANOVA p-value < 0.05) to find the most parsimonious model for each outcome variable. As a result, the final regression models include age and household income.

3.0. Results

There was a cumulative response rate of 32% for all survey modes. There was a 26% response rate for the 424 individuals contacted via U.S. mail, with 68 respondents mailing a completed survey and 42 respondents completing the survey online using the web link or QR code that was included with the paper survey questionnaire. There was a 42% response rate for the 241 individuals contacted via electronic mail, with 102 surveys completed online. Of the 212 completed surveys, two were excluded because the respondent did not currently live in one of the two target counties and 16 were excluded due to incompleteness, resulting in 194 survey

responses included in the final analysis. The average time to complete the survey online was 17.25 minutes (Range: 5.5 - 65 minutes).

3.1. Demographics

Characteristics of the sample are shown in Table 1. All respondents identified as an American Indian. Tribal heterogeneity was present in the sample. There were 38 different tribal nations reported as part of various tribal affiliations and 62% of respondents reporting affiliation with a Montana tribe. Females comprised 66% of respondents in the sample, males comprised 29%, and 5% identified as Two-Spirit or nonbinary. Young adults (18-29 years) made up 24% of the sample, 47% were adults (30-55 years), and 29% were elders (56 years or older). The study took place in a college town, which may explain why education among the sample is higher than would be expected in other parts of the state. Only 17.5% had a high school diploma or less, 32.5% had completed some college, and 50% had a college degree. Despite the high levels of education, 46% of respondents reported an annual household income below \$30,000, 29% between \$30,000 and \$60,000, and 25% more than \$60,000.

		KAB Regarding TCP N ^a (%) ^b			Intent to Participate in TCP N ^a (%) ^b		
VARIABLE	\mathbf{N}^{a} (%) ^b	More Positive n = 107 (54.6)	Less Positive n = 89 (45.4)	P ^c	Greater n = 72 (36.7)	Lesser n = 124 (63.3)	P ^c
Gender				0.324			0.043
All Female Genders ^d	129 (66.5)	74 (69.8)	55 (62.5)		54 (76.1)	75 (61.0)	
All Male Genders ^e	56 (28.9)	29 (27.4)	27 (30.7)		13 (18.3)	43 (35.0)	
All Nonbinary Genders ^f	9 (4.6)	3 (2.8)	6 (6.8)		4 (5.6)	5 (4.1)	
Age				0.011			0.038
Young Adult (18-29) Adult (30-55) Elder (56+)	47 (24.2) 91 (46.9) 56 (28.9)	22 (20.8) 60 (56.6) 24 (22.6)	25 (28.4) 31 (35.2) 32 (36.4)		14 (19.7) 42 (59.2) 15 (21.1)	33 (26.8) 49 (39.8) 41 (33.3)	
Health Status				0.113			0.294
Better Health Average to Poorer Health	78 (40.2) 116 (59.8)	48 (45.3) 58 (54.7)	30 (34.1) 58 (65.9)		32 (45.1) 39 (54.9)	46 (37.4) 77 (62.6)	
Education				0.052			0.033
HS diploma or less Some college Associate or Bachelor's degree Graduate degree	34 (17.5) 63 (32.5) 70 (36.1) 27 (13.9)	14 (13.2) 30 (28.3) 43 (40.6) 19 (17.9)	20 (22.7) 33 (37.5) 27 (30.7) 8 (9.1)		8 (11.3) 18 (25.4) 31 (43.7) 14 (19.7)	26 (21.1) 45 (36.6) 39 (31.7) 13 (10.6)	
Annual Household Income				0.404			0.004
< \$30,000 \$30,000 - \$59,999 \$60,000 +	89 (45.9) 57 (29.4) 48 (24.7)	44 (41.5) 34 (32.1) 28 (26.4)	45 (51.1) 23 (26.1) 20 (22.7)		22 (31.0) 29 (40.8) 20 (28.2)	67 (54.5) 28 (22.8) 28 (22.8)	
Native American Identity				< 0.001			< 0.001
Stronger Native Identity Limited Native Identity	142 (73.2) 52 (26.8)	98 (92.5) 8 (7.5)	44 (50.0) 44 (50.0)		67 (94.4) 4 (5.6)	75 (61.0) 48 (39.0)	
Positive Childhood Experiences				0.039			0.032
0 – 2 PCEs 3 – 5 PCEs 6 – 7 PCEs	32 (16.5) 77 (39.7) 85 (43.8)	11 (10.4) 44 (41.5) 51 (48.1)	21 (23.9) 33 (37.5) 34 (38.6)		6 (8.5) 27 (38.0) 38 (53.5)	26 (21.1) 50 (40.7) 47 (38.2)	

Table 1. Select characteristics of survey respondents ($N = 194$), by knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs (KAB) regard	ling
traditional ceremonial practices (TCP) and self-reported intent to participate in TCP.	

^aUnweighted frequency from the sample. ^bColumn percentages may not add up to 100% due to rounding. ^cP values were determined by χ^2 test when all cells ≥ 5 , else Fischer's Exact test. ^dIncludes "cisgender female" and "transgender female."

^eIncludes "cisgender male" and "transgender male."

fIncludes "Two-Spirit" and "nonbinary."

3.2. Substance Use Behavior

Past-year alcohol use was reported in 63.4% of the sample, compared to a national prevalence among AIAN adults (18+ years) of 61.0%.⁶ Due to low precision, illicit drug use categories (methamphetamine, inhalants, and prescription medications used in a way not directed by a medical provider) were combined for analysis. Illicit drug use (not including marijuana) was reported in 12.4% of the sample, compared to the AIAN adult national prevalence of 11.4%. Interestingly, marijuana use was reported in 52.1% of the sample—almost 2.5 times the 2019 national prevalence for AIAN adults of 20.4%. These results are not unexpected, however, as they are in line with the region of the study which has a longstanding liberal attitude toward marijuana use and legalized the use of recreational marijuana during the study period.

3.3. Relationships between TCP and Substance Use

After adjusting for age and income, the binary logistic regression showed significant associations between the TCP predictor variables and both alcohol and other drugs, but not marijuana. Individuals with more positive KAB regarding TCP were less likely to report alcohol (AOR: 0.49; 95% CI: 0.26, 0.93) or other drug use (AOR: 0.30; 95% CI: 0.11, 0.76) in the past year, although confidence intervals were wide. Individuals who had greater intent of participating in TCP were also less likely to report alcohol (AOR: 0.51; 95% CI: 0.26, 0.98) or other drug use (AOR: 0.31; 95% CI: 0.08, 0.91) in the past year, with accordingly wide confidence intervals.

3.4. Participant Knowledge Regarding TCPs

Although the original survey scale related to participant access to TCPs did not show high internal validity when tested using Cronbach's alpha, we did explore the four individual items from the scale. Of the four statements included in the access scale, the following item had a significant association with both alcohol and other drug use: *If I am invited to a ceremony or other traditional practice, I am confident that I will know what to do or how to act (e.g., when to talk, songs to sing, what to wear)*. Participants who responded as "Strongly Agree" to this item were significantly less likely to report alcohol or other drug use over the previous 12 months. They were also less likely to report marijuana use, but this association was not statistically significant.

3.5. Positive Childhood Experiences

In attempting to maintain our focus on a strengths-based investigation, the survey instrument included a previously validated scale measuring positive childhood experiences (PCEs).^{107,108} While the scale did not contribute significantly to the association between TCP factors and substance use, and was subsequently removed from our final model, it nevertheless contributes important information about our sample. Emerging evidence is providing insight about the protective role that PCEs play in supporting adult positive mental health outcomes.¹⁰⁸ The majority of our sample (83.5%) reported at least three PCEs. In our full model, as the number of PCEs reported by participants increased, their likelihood of reporting any type of substance use decreased. However, these relationships were not statistically significant. Future work in both urban and reservation AIAN communities could explore in greater depth the role that PCEs may play in preventing problem substance use.

Table 2a. Crude and adjusted odds ratios for alcohol, marijuana, or other drug use by respondent *knowledge*, *attitudes*, *and beliefs* (KAB) regarding traditional ceremonial practices (TCP).

	Alcohol	Marijuana	Other Drugs ^a		
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)		
CRUDE					
Less Positive KAB	Ref	Ref	Ref		
More Positive KAB	0.57 (0.31, 1.03)	0.70 (0.40, 1.24)	0.37 (0.14, 0.88)*		
ADJUSTED ^b					
More Positive KAB	0.49 (0.26, 0.93)*	0.65 (0.35, 1.18)	0.30 (0.11, 0.76)*		
Age					
Young Adult (18-29)	1.98 (0.85, 4.70)	4.44 (1.95, 10.58)**	4.13 (1.07, 20.47)		
Adult (30-55)	1.30 (0.61, 2.79)	2.52 (1.21, 5.43)*	7.15 (1.93, 35.71)*		
Elder (56+)	Ref	Ref	Ref		
Annual Household Income ^c					
< \$30,000	Ref	Ref	Ref		
\$30,000 - \$59,999	2.75 (1.31, 6.00)**	0.77 (0.38, 1.57)	0.24 (0.06, 0.74)*		
\$60,000 +	2.42 (1.09, 5.61)*	0.69 (0.32, 1.50)	0.18 (0.04, 0.65)*		

SUBSTANCE USE WITHIN THE PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS

*Significant at the 0.05 level; **Significant at the 0.01 level

^aIncludes methamphetamine, inhalants, and prescription medications not used as directed by a medical provider

^bAdjusted for age and annual household income

^cAnnual household income for all household members combined

Table 2b. Crude and adjusted odds ratios for alcohol, marijuana, or other drug use by respondent *intent to participate* in traditional ceremonial practices (TCP).

	SUBSTANCE USE WITHIN THE PREVIOUS 12 MONTHS				
	Alcohol	Marijuana	Other Drugs ^a		
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)		
CRUDE					
Less Intent	Ref	Ref	Ref		
Greater Intent	0.68 (0.37, 1.25)	0.70 (0.39, 1.26)	0.31 (0.09, 0.86)*		
ADJUSTED ^b					
Greater Intent	0.51 (0.26, 0.98)*	0.67 (0.36, 1.26)	0.31 (0.08, 0.91)*		
Age					
Young Adult (18-29)	1.96 (0.85, 4.66)	4.38 (1.93, 10.39)**	4.16 (1.09, 20.47)*		
Adult (30-55)	1.23 (0.58, 2.58)	2.41 (1.16, 5.14)*	6.26 (1.73, 30.41)**		
Elder (56+)	Ref	Ref	Ref		
Annual Household Income ^c					
< \$30,000	Ref	Ref	Ref		
\$30,000 - \$59,999	3.11 (1.45, 7.00)**	0.83 (0.40, 1.71)	0.29 (0.07, 0.88)*		
\$60,000 +	2.63 (1.17, 6.15)*	0.73 (0.33, 1.58)	0.20 (0.04, 0.72)*		

*Significant at the 0.05 level; **Significant at the 0.01 level

^aIncludes methamphetamine, inhalants, and prescription medications not used as directed by a medical provider

^bAdjusted for age and annual household income

^cAnnual household income for all household members combined

4.0. Discussion

4.1. Findings

This is the first study to quantitatively explore the association between TCP and substance use behaviors in an urban Montana AIAN community. Our findings that the protective factors of TCP may be associated with lower levels of problem substance use align with those of pre-COVID studies in other urban AIAN communities that were able to examine actual participation in TCPs along with substance use behaviors. For example, in their 2021 randomized control study, Dickerson et al.¹³ found that participation in their Drum-Assisted Recovery Therapy for Native Americans in southern California was associated with fewer alcoholic drinks per day and lower odds of marijuana use among participants. Another study of AIAN adults in northern California found that participation in a culturally adapted holistic system of care was associated with a significant decrease in alcohol and other drug use.⁹¹

Within the target community of our study, we found that 54.6% of our sample reported positive KAB regarding TCP and 36.7% reported high levels of intent to participate in TCP. Participants who reported more positive KAB or greater intent to participate were significantly less likely to report alcohol or other drug use in the past year. Programming like that in the California AIAN studies was not available in the target community during our study. However, our results support the development of TCP-based interventions as an appropriate approach to substance use reduction.

In our sample, adults (30 - 55 years) and younger adults (18 - 29 years) were more likely to report substance use than elders (56 years or older). Households with higher incomes were more likely to report alcohol use and households with lower incomes were more likely to report using marijuana and other drugs. When taken together with other epidemiological data, this
information can help inform future programming. For example, if surveillance shows that drug overdose is occurring at greater rates than alcohol-related death in the target community, a TCPbased intervention could be aimed at younger adults or individuals with lower income.

Marijuana use in our sample was high, in fact roughly double that of the 2020 national AIAN adult use rate.⁶ While there is some evidence in the literature that marijuana may be perceived as less harmful than alcohol or other drugs,^{109,110} this construct was not measured in the current study. Further investigation could explore the disproportionately high prevalence of marijuana use. It is also important to note that recreational marijuana is currently legal in the state where the study took place. This, along with other factors, may contribute to prevalence being higher among the target community than national trends.

4.2. Implications

Our findings have several important implications. First, efforts to decrease problem substance use, especially for alcohol and other drugs, among AIANs living in urban settings may be more effective if they include a TCP component. In our study, increases in TCP variables were associated with decreases in self-reported substance use behaviors. Indigenous communities draw on generations of practice-based evidence that help guide TCPs and their potential effectiveness. This evidence is reflected in our data, which provide further support for the need to develop problem substance use programming that includes TCP activities at least as a component, if not at its foundation.

To accomplish this, public and private payers need to dedicate funding toward TCPbased interventions. Our study provides preliminary data about KAB and intent, because the UIHO does not have funding to implement broad TCP programming. Once this type of

programming is supported, future research could explore effectiveness and help inform best practices for urban AIAN communities.

Additionally, our data highlight the need for more research to better understand community-wide prevalence of problem substance use, particularly marijuana, within the study and other urban American Indian communities. The potential adverse effects of chronic, non-medical marijuana use include cardiovascular problems, cognitive impairment, and mental illness.^{111,112} The high prevalence of marijuana use in our sample may lead to disproportionate disease burden in the future, if not adequately understood or addressed. Future research could explore both the reasons why marijuana use may be so frequent and possible interventions to reduce rates of marijuana use.

4.3. Limitations

American Indians make up a small proportion of the total population of the two counties participating in this study and locating them within the broader community is challenging. Because there is no single sampling frame of all AIAN individuals in the area, the research team took the approach of drawing from the UIHO's EHR system to identify potential participants. Because of this, it is not possible to know how generalizable our results are to the entire AIAN community—however, the sampling frame was the largest available and included about onefourth of the total AIAN census population for the area.

The cross-sectional survey design also has several limitations. First, it is subject to recall bias, especially because we were asking for information over a 12-month period. However, this same period was applied to both the predictor and outcome variables, which should help limit the impact on findings. Second, response bias could lead to an overestimation of healthy behaviors, as individuals experiencing problem substance use could be less likely to complete and return a

survey. We attempted to limit this by taking steps to make the survey was easily accessible, which included allowing participants to take the survey in their own homes or wherever they were most comfortable and ensuring that participants could complete the questionnaire at their own pace, save results, come back to the survey, and receive appropriate financial compensation upon completion. Finally, those individuals who did return a survey might be reporting answers that they believe to be socially desirable, especially when considering that problem substance use is largely considered an unacceptable disease and is often stigmatized. This was addressed by not only making the survey anonymous but including language throughout the questionnaire reminding participants of their anonymity.

It is also important to note that these data come from a larger survey that included questions related to not only substance use but also intimate partner violence (IPV), which might have caused some respondents distress and/or led to lower completion rates. The survey included a list of both IPV and substance use counseling resources—including some that are AIANspecific and others that are available 24 hours a day—as well trigger warnings letting respondents know what kind of questions to expect, as well as an option to skip the IPV section altogether if they were uncomfortable. Additionally, the IPV questions were placed after the TCP and substance use questions in an attempt to minimize the impact on data collection.

5.0. Funding

Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number U54GM115371. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

CHAPTER FIVE – Manuscript 3: Traditional ceremonial practices as an intervention to reduce problem substance use in an urban multi-tribal Native American community: A qualitative descriptive study

Publication Status:

In preparation for submission (anticipated submission July 2022). Preliminary co-author, community reviews complete.

Target Journal: American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research

Traditional ceremonial practices (TCP) as a strategy to reduce problem substance use in an urban Native American community: A qualitative descriptive study

D'Shane Barnett¹, Catherine McKinley², Annie Belcourt¹

- 1. School of Public and Community Health Sciences, University of Montana, Missoula, MT
- 2. School of Social Work, Tulane University, New Orleans, LA

ABSTRACT

Objective. American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) communities have relied on traditional ceremonial practices (TCP) for generations to survive and recover from historical traumas. The purpose of this research is to qualitatively explore the potential for TCP-based interventions aimed at reducing problem substance use in an urban, multi-tribal setting.

Methods. A qualitative descriptive study was conducted using semi-structured interviews with 11 adult AIAN members of an urban Montana community. The interviews were transcribed, coded, and analyzed using NVivo (release 1.6.1). Theoretical thematic analysis was used to identify themes and subthemes.

Results. Themes for developing a TCP-based intervention include: (a) "It has to come from the elders" - Design and delivery of TCP interventions guided by elders; (b) "They've never really been given the rights" - Vetting of traditional practitioners; (c) "You have to educate them first on these things" - The need for a learning component; and (d) "It's so much different than the reservation" - A multi-tribal approach. Themes related to access barriers include: (e) "I don't really hear as much here in [the city]" – Lack of communication about activities; (f) "I do it in secrecy" – The need for a dedicated physical space; and (g) "I always went back home...to do our cultural practices" – The practice of "going home" to participate in TCP.

Conclusions. Interventions that incorporate TCP are a valuable tool in the fight to reduce problem substance use in urban, multi-tribal AIAN communities. Participants spoke about their desire to see this type of programming in their local community, but also provided parameters about how they would want to see that programming be designed. Urban AIAN-serving organizations may work with elders and tribally sanctioned traditional practitioners to develop TCP-based interventions can serve individuals from an array of tribal backgrounds.

1.0. Introduction

American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN)^{*} communities grapple with the symptoms and effects of historical trauma, discrimination, and poverty, which may contribute to observed high rates of problem substance use.⁵ In the 2020 National Survey on Drug Use and Health, for example, AIAN individuals reported the highest rates of heavy alcohol or illicit drug use of any racial or ethnic group.⁶ Elevated problem substance use rates drive much of the morbidity and mortality that AIANs disproportionately experience. On average, AIANs die 5-6 years earlier than non-AIANs. Not only is problem substance use a risk for the top causes of death (i.e., cardiovascular disease, cancer, unintentional injuries, motor vehicle accidents, and diabetes), alcohol induced death is the 5th highest cause of death – almost 7 times higher than the rate of non-AIANS.¹¹³ While epidemiologic data are important tools for examining population health, interpreting data on Indigenous communities through the context of a mainstream lens can be problematic.¹¹⁴

In the past, high rates of problem substance use in AIAN communities was erroneously viewed by outside academics through a lens of biological vulnerability, known as the "Firewater Myth."¹¹⁵ It was presumed that AIAN individuals were somehow more susceptible to alcoholism and other substance use due to a physiological deficit at the genetic level. Over time, a body of research has been built up showing that structural and social determinants are the more likely

^{*} The authors subscribe to the belief that the most appropriate way to refer to any Indigenous person or tribe is using the term from their specific language or dialect. For consistency, throughout this manuscript we will broadly refer to Indigenous persons and peoples of the United States using the widely accepted term American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN). However, other terms such as Indigenous, Native American, Native, American Indian, and Indian may be substituted based on context or original quotations.

drivers not just for problem substance use, but conversely for resilience and high rates of abstinence among AIAN individuals.^{73,116,117}

Traditionally, AIAN communities and individuals held ecological knowledge that supported holistic wellness for their tribal members through a variety of medicines and ceremonies.¹ However, as the existence and prosperity of tribal nations became a focus of genocide and assimilation to the United States in the 19th century, policies and systems were put in place to eliminate the ability of AIAN people to employ these protective traditional ceremonial practices (TCP).^{47,118} Beginning in 1883, laws were established outlawing the practice of TCPs under threat of imprisonment and many of these laws remained in effect until the passage of the American Indian Freedom of Religion Act of 1978.³ The disproportionate disease burden seen today in AIAN populations is a lasting ramification of this systematic alienation of AIAN communities from TCPs and traditional wisdom over three generations.⁴⁷ As is the paucity of academic evidence needed to validate TCPs within Western science.¹¹⁹

Today there is a growing movement in AIAN healthcare and academic communities to support AIAN-serving substance use programs in their efforts to revive and incorporate TCPs.¹²⁰ Scholars who have worked extensively within AIAN communities (notably including Native scholars) now advocate for more a culturally grounded contextualization of intervention development for a variety of health concerns. Antiquated approaches to Indigenous intervention science have emphasized external approaches to both science and intervention. It is becoming increasingly apparent, however, that public health interventions based upon Indigenous ways of knowing and healing can provide more culturally congruent, and potentially more effective, intervention strategies.^{15,75,121}

Kleinman's⁴⁶ explanatory model of cross-cultural understanding of health and illness delineated the importance of incorporating an individual client or patient's view of their own lived experience within an effective intervention plan. This includes how individuals or communities view their own beliefs, social connections, culture, and spirituality. More recently, Indigenous authors have effectively advocated for the inclusion of strengths-based or resiliency models of health etiology. Walters et al.¹¹⁴ describe the importance of an Indigenist-stress coping model to understand the influence of cultural factors within health outcomes. In Montana, research has begun to shift toward a resiliency approach. Research findings have helped to identify the importance of cultural factors in adaptive coping following trauma.³⁹

This project is aimed at elucidating the empirical potential for TCP-based interventions in an urban, multi-tribal setting using exploratory, structured interviews with a cross-section of adult AIAN community members. Part of a larger sequential mixed-methods study, this research expounds upon the meaning or broader understanding of the associations between TCP and substance use behaviors found to be protective in a quantitative survey study of the same domains.¹²² Interviews for this study aimed to explore the perceptions of community members related to how TCP-based interventions could be implemented successfully to reduce problem substance use. Additionally, interviews were directed to describe the difference between levels of KAB and intent that were identified in survey results among the target community, through actual lived experience interview data from key informants.

1.1. Examples of TCP

The purpose of this study was to explore the potential for interventions that incorporate TCP as an approach, rather than test a particular practice or activity. With that goal in mind, the researchers did not define TCP ahead of time. Instead, we took a culturally and community-

informed approach by letting participants define TCP based on their respective tribal backgrounds. Below are some of the most common examples of TCP that were identified by the participants during the interviews.

- Sweat lodge: Variations of the sweat lodge ceremony are ubiquitous throughout many Indigenous traditions worldwide.¹²³ However, each tribal nation is unique in its protocols for how the ceremony takes place, how the lodge is built, who should or should not participate, etc.
- **Talking circle:** Rooted in ceremonial practices within many different tribes, talking circles are applied in various formats in contemporary AIAN societies– ranging from highly protocoled ceremonial practices to more informal, though no less structured, group communication tools.^{124,125}
- **Pipe ceremony:** Another practice common to many tribes in the United States is the ceremonial use of tobacco.¹²⁶ Popularized in Western culture, the practice of using a pipe to smoke tobacco or other Indigenous plants remains a very sacred practice. Usually, only certain individuals within a tribe–often known as *pipe carriers*–are allowed to lead these ceremonies.
- Smudging: This is the practice of burning Indigenous medicines (leaves, roots, resin, etc.) but not for inhalation.¹²⁷ Rather, the purposes of smudging can include purification of a person's body, physical artifacts, or the space around someone. Also popularized in Western culture, different tribes have historically relied on various medicines for smudging, including sage, sweet grass, cedar, copal, and tobacco, among others.

• Sun Dance: A religious ceremony common to many Plains tribes, the Sun Dance is an annual rite.¹²⁸ The history behind the ceremony, protocols such as when it takes place and for how long, and other factors will often vary by tribe.

2.0. Methods

2.1. Reflexivity

As an administrator at several AIAN-serving healthcare organizations, the first author spent many years overseeing programs and services aimed at reducing problem substance use for AIAN adults. A constant source of frustration was the ability to receive financial compensation when patients would see a medical or behavioral health clinician–a service deemed as evidencebased by public and private payers and policymakers–and a concurrent inability to receive compensation when patients would work with a traditional practitioner–a service with longstanding practice-based evidence which was disregarded by payers and policymakers. With the guidance and mentorship of faculty co-authors who have extensive experience in qualitative methods with AIAN communities, the research questions for this article were explored in an attempt to address this gap between evidence-based practice and practice-based evidence.

2.2. Design

The research team selected qualitative descriptive methods for this study because of their ability to produce rich data while also remaining close to participant voice.⁶² This approach facilitates moving from a data-based premise to practical conclusions that can be employed by programs serving AIAN individuals, which the research team found to be of value since the intent of this study is to inform practice.⁶⁵ Qualitative descriptive methods have been applied to culturally sensitive research with AIAN populations^{64,129,130} as well as broader health science research.¹³¹⁻¹³³

This project was part of a larger mixed-methods study exploring TCPs as a potential strategy to reduce problem substance use in an urban, multi-tribal community. The first phase of the study was a cross-sectional survey delivered to adult members of the target AIAN community (N = 194). Findings from the survey informed the design of this qualitative study, specifically around identifying barriers to TCP. In the survey results, several respondents reported very positive knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs (KAB) regarding the protective nature of TCPs, but lower rates of self-reported intent to participate in TCP. This qualitative study explored that pattern further and identified community- and individual-level barriers to accessing TCP which are crucial for future programs to address.

2.3. Participants

Qualitative descriptive studies employ a range of sample sizes. As Patton^{66(p.244)} states, "There are no rules for sample size in qualitative inquiry." Certain qualitative approaches, such as the constant comparative method, draw on theoretical saturation. Other approaches argue that what is important is that sampling strategies reflect the purpose for the inquiry and include cases deemed rich in information that make sense as far as credibility and available resources.^{134,135} To provide an in-depth exploration of community thoughts and perceptions regarding TCP as an intervention, we used purposive sampling with the intent of being as representative as possible of the target community while also allowing for maximum variety. Participants were selected based on their representation of different demographics and varying levels of enculturation—as a reflection of similar diversity found in the target population.

2.4. Data Collection

Prior to data collection, approval was obtained from the Indian Health Service (IHS) National Institutional Review Board (No. N20-N-03). The interview moderator's guide was

developed by the research team and informed by the preceding phase of the study. We pilot tested the questions with five AIAN adults from the target community, identified by staff members of the local AIAN health center, to ensure clarity and cultural appropriateness. The participants answered questions about their background living in an urban, multi-tribal setting, their experience with TCP, and their thoughts about if and how TCP should be incorporated into an intervention aimed at reducing problem substance use within their community.

Data were collected through semi-structured interviews between December 2021 and January 2022. Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, all participants were offered the option to complete the interview via Zoom platform, over the telephone, or in person, according to their comfort level. The interviews were audio recorded, with the interviewees' consent, on two devices to ensure quality of the recordings. The interviews lasted an average of 60 minutes (range: 37-104 minutes) and participants received a \$50 gift card in exchange for their time.

2.5. Data Analysis

Interviews were transcribed verbatim with identifiers removed. NVivo (release 1.6.1), a qualitative data analysis software program, was used to code and analyze the interviews. Theoretical thematic analysis¹³⁶ was undertaken as a deductive approach that is guided by existing theory and knowledge and allows for focus on a specific research question. An initial coding scheme was informed by both *Reziliency³⁹* and the theories of Reasoned Action and Planned Behavior,¹⁰⁰ results from the preceding phase of the research project, and field notes from the interview moderator. Although more structured and directed in its approach, this method retains the emergent qualitative design, as text that cannot be categorized under the initial coding scheme is given a new code and either incorporated into existing themes where appropriate or reexamined as a separate theme.⁶⁹

The analysis process involved: (a) the first author coded 20% of the transcripts line by line using the approach described above; (b) the second and third authors reviewed the first author's coding, and provided initial feedback and affirmed consensus across interpretations of results; (c) the first author then coded the remaining transcripts line by line to identify key concepts and themes; (d) over 50 preliminary codes were organized into initial themes and subthemes; (e) emergent themes and subthemes were identified and organized; (f) all participants who could be reached performed member checking of themes and assigned quotes by providing feedback and clarification or amendments; and (g) the research team, three cultural advisors, and the board of directors of the local AIAN health center reviewed themes and assigned quotes to provide feedback and recommendations.

3.0. Results

Participants were assigned pseudonyms, and individually identifiable information was excluded for reporting purposes. From the interview data, the following four primary themes were identified as foundational ways to help guide the design and development of a TCP-based program aimed at reducing problem substance use among AIAN adults in an urban, multi-tribal setting: *"It has to come from the elders" - Design and delivery of TCP interventions guided by elders; "They've never really been given the rights" - Vetting of traditional practitioners; "You have to educate them first on these things" - The need for a learning component; "It's so much different than the reservation" - A multi-tribal approach. Additionally, three broad themes were identified related to potential barriers to accessing TCP that should also be addressed in future programming: <i>"I don't really hear as much here in [the city]" – Lack of communication about activities; "I do it in secrecy" – The need for a dedicated physical space; "I always went back home...to do our cultural practices" – The practice of "going home" to participate in TCP.*

3.1. Study Participants

Our final sample of 11 AIAN adult participants included a cross section of adults from a wide diversity of tribal backgrounds. Gender and age varied across the sample, with female adults (n = 5), male adults (n = 2), female elders (n = 2), and male elders (n = 2), for a total of seven females and four males. One participant is a traditional practitioner, and another is a cultural staff member at an urban AIAN health center. Seven of the participants grew up on a reservation and moved to the city, three grew up in an urban setting, and one grew up in a rural, off-reservation setting. Five of the participants had a median annual household income of \$40,000 or less, with the remaining six greater than \$40,000. All four elders moved to the city to retire, five of the participants moved to the city to attend the university, and two participants moved to the city to be closer to family members who had relocated. Participant tribal affiliations reflected the multi-tribal community setting, with seven different tribal nations represented–four Montana tribes, one Great Basin tribe, one Plateau tribe, and one Southeastern tribe.



3.2. Recommendations for TCP-based program design

"It has to come from the elders" - Design and delivery of TCP interventions guided by elders

A majority of participants (n = 9) reported that they would expect elders to be involved in the design and/or delivery of a TCP-based intervention. For many, this was related to the concept of a multi-tribal environment in which no one individual could be an expert on appropriate practices from each tribe, how they should be carried out, and the history and protocol of each TCP.

Ceremonies could be tribally specific...so we need to have recognized elders from those tribes who can decide what is appropriate for whichever tribe they're from. I think any and all ceremonies that can be a benefit and the elders are willing to share those...I think whatever the elders are willing to share.

Other times the role of elders was mentioned in broad terms, largely relating to understanding the meaning behind ceremonies from a particular tribal perspective,

So that learning process can bring in elders...leaders from different tribal backgrounds to really...first do the education. And then that education can also include: this is how we smudge, this is how we build a tipi, this is how we do sweat [lodge] from our tribe.

An important role of bringing elders is building community trust that the programming is legitimate, credible, and trustworthy,

It has to come from elders...'cause they have that respect from, from my personal view. If [someone speaking] is not someone that I know, that I respect...I'm not really listening and paying attention...to me, that's where we utilize our elders, elders play this part. It was also noted by participants that elders can help shape how programming might be different in an urban area versus the reservation. There are many reasons that TCPs might not be able to

look exactly the same, but elders can ensure that adaptations are culturally appropriate. This helps ensure access to TCPs while protecting them from the misappropriation that is often seen in non-AIAN programs.

"They've never really been given the rights" - Vetting of traditional practitioners

Across the participants, just over half (n = 7) reported a desire to see traditional practitioners be vetted before being allowed to lead ceremonies. Most tribes require that a person leading a TCP has received instruction or been properly transferred the rights to perform those ceremonies following traditional methods.

Like you're given different rights, especially when it comes to...singing certain songs...you know there's rights that you have to be given or earned. And I think that's really important when it comes to cultural stuff, because not everybody can do different things.

Participants expressed a fear that individuals who are not tribal members and/or who have not received the training, rights, and permissions to perform certain ceremonies will falsely portray themselves as having done so. These individuals are often referred to as "plastic shamans" or "plastic medicine men."[Aldred 2000]

Yeah, I feel like we could, we have a lot of room for exploitation in this field, especially with those overnight shaman training classes...and then people...kind of assert that they know the way, but are not given the rights to do it from the community or elders that they come from.

Many of the participants noted that being in an urban setting, versus a tribally controlled reservation, may heighten the potential for this type of deception, since individuals can reference communities and ceremonies that may be unfamiliar to others.

Sometimes you hear about people self-appointing themselves. Like, they'll be from somewhere and they move to an urban area and maybe they know a lot but they've never really been given the rights, but they move to an urban area and those people don't know that.

While the most common reference to vetting practitioners was about rights and legitimacy, it is also important that the person leading whatever activity is taking place is appropriate in general, or as one participant stated,

I wouldn't want to be an organization that just picks a Northern Cheyenne to teach a Blackfeet class.

To combat the potential of an individual leading TCP without the appropriate rights or training to do so, participants suggested that the program rely on recognized elders from the respective tribes to both identify potential practitioners, either in the urban area or from their home reservation, as well vet anyone who shows up in an urban setting claiming to have the authority to lead TCP. If the program does not know of any elders from a particular tribe, there is also the option to contact the tribe directly for consultation.

"You have to educate them first on these things" - The need for a learning component

Among the participants, roughly 80% (n = 9) reported the need for a teaching component to be included in any TCP-based programming. Ceremonies have protocols and histories, and not every person has had the opportunity to learn about these things throughout their life. Not only might this serve as a barrier, as some people might not feel comfortable participating if they are unfamiliar with any particular TCP, but it also lends to the integrity of the program by ensuring fidelity to tribal history and practices.

There also needs to be some teaching about the protocols behind the ceremony, what this ceremony is about, you know, basically...some teaching about culture before you even get to the part about the ceremony...It's a whole teaching process...And one of the things I've learned throughout the years is just the basics. The basic protocols, the basic way when we're at [a] ceremony or we're at a sweat lodge.

The learning component was also seen as a way to re-connect people to traditional wisdom, regardless of whether they grew up on a reservation or in an urban environment.

I would reach out to like every direction or whatever, bring something in that way. And just, as a teaching, because not just as individuals, not just as specific tribes, but as Native people, they're lost. People are lost. Not just, you know, each individual tribe has suffered so much loss, and probably even so much more since we started with [the COVID pandemic], you know.

While many of the participants reflected on the learning component as listening to elders teach about the histories and protocols of TCP, one participant took it a step further and recommended a more formal approach:

You would almost have to create a handbook...there is protocol...just being with the tribal elder...to create those protocols, it'd almost be like a handbook. Here's...what this elder's saying how they practice and protocols.

Clearly, the extent of the learning component will need to be a reflection of the resources available to the program. As mentioned above, one important source of information is elders who live in the community.

That learning process can bring in elders...And then once there's kind of like that...learning then maybe it's the right time to actually say, "Okay, so now who wants to smudge? Do you want to...come participate in the sweat? We're gonna...have a naming ceremony for any of the kids who...didn't get names.

For programs with greater resources, however, participants also reported interest in developing a pool of traditional practitioners from different reservations and bringing them into the urban area to teach and provide TCP to community members on a rotating basis. This was seen as a way to ensure both diversity in teaching and that individuals are bringing legitimate and trustworthy knowledge that reflects the particular tribes they are representing.

"It's so much different than the reservation" - A multi-tribal approach

What makes the urban setting unique is that AIAN healthcare programs need to serve individuals from many different tribal backgrounds, in contrast to the tribal homogeneity that might be found on reservations.[Urban Indian Health Commission 2007] This presents both a challenge, in that programming based on one specific tribe might not be appropriate or attractive to a large proportion of the community, and an opportunity to design robust programming that is informed by different tribal ceremonies and customs.

In the city it's so much different than the reservation...on the reservation, it's specific to your tribe. But when you're in the city, someone might teach you, but it might be Lakota. I always remember my sister going to a Head Start program in the city and she learned these songs and they were little Lakota children songs, and I always remember her singing them and I would sing them too, because that was so cool. You know, 'cause it was just...Indian, period.

Although the participants noted that TCP varies from tribe to tribe, there was a willingness to incorporate and learn about other tribes and the potential benefit that comes from TCP regardless of the tribe of origin.

And to me, learning from different people and bringing them in, that teaches respect for the different cultures. Like every, every reservation has a different way. Not everything is just the same. And that's okay.

This was also reflected in the variety of elders and traditional practitioners that participants would like to see included in the programming.

I would definitely reach out...if there was somebody [from a particular tribe] that you could bring in to help...with any kind of ceremony, I would reach out to people and I would say, hey, do you guys want to come out here? And...invite these people who come from across the state or across the United States or wherever, to come help us do [the] ceremony or come teach us their ways. Because we're not just the seven tribal nations in Montana. There's a whole, there's over 550 now, I believe, recognized tribes in the United States and I'm sure we...in an urban area like [the city of the study], I'm sure we represent a good 20, maybe 30 of 'em, minimum.

It was noted by the participants that not every AIAN individual in an urban setting will be comfortable participating in TCPs that come from or are led by practitioners from a tribe different than their own. For these individuals, the benefit to a multi-tribal approach is that they could opt to participate only when they are comfortable with the activity or the practitioner. For others who might be comfortable, or even enjoy, the experience of learning about and participating in TCP from another tribe, however, this approach would expand their access and opportunities to draw on TCP when trying to heal.

3.3. Barriers to accessing TCP

Although the focus of the study was to identify factors to potentially enhance the success of a TCP-based intervention aimed at reducing problem substance use, many of the participants also noted barriers that might need to be addressed. Sometimes these barriers were mentioned in direct relation to the programming–e.g., if this issue isn't addressed, then the program might not be successful–other times these barriers emerged as part of general responses about their thoughts on efforts to develop this type of programming.

"I don't really hear as much here in [the city]" – Lack of communication about activities

The local AIAN health center currently offers certain ceremonies that are made available to everyone who would like to attend, but community members cannot participate in activities that they don't know about. Whether it's generally not knowing these activities are taking place, or specifics like when and where they are occurring, a need for communication and getting the word out was reported by almost half of the participants (n = 5).

I don't hear as much [about ceremony] here in [the city], but if I hear anything it's from my family [on a neighboring reservation]...the different things going on up there...So they do all that stuff there and I'm- I'm not [from that tribe], so I don't really partake in any of that, but I know they do stuff there...but I don't really hear as much here in [the city].

Even for those participants who reported having some kind of knowledge or contact with the local AIAN health center, there wasn't a sense that TCP activities were broadly communicated. It's maybe somewhat easy [to access ceremonies]. I know there's a couple of things offered through the [local AIAN health center] and such, but, I guess in [the city] I

don't know a whole lot of people...or organizations...organizing people to have ceremonies.

This appears to highlight a need for a more robust communication strategy on the part of organizations about what types of TCP are available, when and where they will take place, who is invited to participate, etc.

"I do it in secrecy" – The need for a dedicated physical space

Although only mentioned in a few of the interviews (n = 3), there does appear to be at least some desire for TCP programming to take place in a space that is dedicated for that purpose, rather than relying on finding available space on an ad hoc basis.

It requires space...to have activities each day of the week...I feel like once you get the space and the staff, you could do any number of things that are already being done. The sewing classes, beading, dancing... you know, teaching dancing, drumming, teaching how to make a drum, all those things.

The concept of dedicated space went beyond just for organized programming. The importance of having a place where TCPs could occur, either as a group or even just as an individual, that was safe and that supported participants' ability to carry out traditional activities without needing to worry about interacting with others who either aren't AIAN or who may not understand TCP was also expressed.

I think a lot of times when I'm out, I call it out in the woods doing my [tribal] woman stuff, I...(laughs)...I run into a lot of people who are kind of surprised at what I'm doing or what I'm picking or looking for. And I do it in secrecy and a lot of fear in that where I'm picking or gathering, um, or praying is, it's not allowed, right? It's not allowed in those places. And then when we are praying, it's kind of

like a spectacle almost and some people do stop and some people are respectful and just, you know, walk by.

While there are many practical barriers to establishing a dedicated space for TCPs, such as the associated costs, it appears that doing so might have the effect of increasing access and participation.

"I always went back home...to do our cultural practices" – The practice of "going home" to participate in TCP

A final theme was the concept of "going home" for ceremonies, reported by just over 60% of participants (n = 7). We asked participants why someone in an urban area might report very positive KAB regarding TCP but at the same time report low intent to participate in TCP if given the option.

So here we have...in [the city] we have a lot of people that...they're here for school, but then they go home for ceremony...So it's like, "Well, no, I won't do that because...I can go home and I can go sweat at home and I'll...we have the naming ceremony, [but] we'll do that at home."

A noteworthy finding is that this was not only reported by participants who had grown up on the reservation but also by participants who never lived on the reservation. One respondent who grew up in an urban area tells us:

So I think in [the city] you kind of get a chance to...figure things out here. And then when you go home...you can see the protocols.

Even though participants mentioned the desire to "go home" for ceremony, there was a recognition of the importance of offering TCP in urban areas,

So when I moved to [the city], I always went back home. I always went to [the reservation] to do our cultural practices. But when we couldn't make it back and you know, like yearly...we have to do certain stuff, I turned to the [local AIAN health center]. I find that's really beneficial here. I really like 'cause they offered...the sweats–we sweated with the Crows their way, we sweated with the Blackfeet their way.

4.0. Discussion

The aim of this qualitative descriptive study was to identify and describe themes and methods that can help inform the development of interventions aimed at reducing problem substance use among AIAN adults that incorporate TCP as part of their design, specifically in an urban, multi-tribal setting. AIAN communities possess valuable traditional wisdom and ecological knowledge that could be used to support healing. However, this knowledge has largely remained practice-based, and this study provides an opportunity to build a foundation for interventions that are not only culturally congruent, but also directly informed by the community in which they are meant to be used.

Participants largely noted a desire to see TCP-based programming in their community. A foremost concern, however, is that the programming be safe for the participants and adhere to tribally sanctioned practices. Currently, there are examples of this type of programming taking place in urban AIAN communities throughout the United States.^{13,14,74} However, there is little guidance as to how this programming should be developed. Specifically, what considerations are helpful in designing programs to ensure that they are attractive, respond appropriately to community needs, and are based on legitimate traditional ecological knowledge? The findings from this study provide tangible factors that can help guide that process.

In AIAN communities, elders are broadly considered to be the keepers of tradition, knowledge, and culture.¹³⁷⁻¹³⁹ This makes them an essential asset in the design and delivery of TCP-based interventions. A common example in the literature of how AIAN substance use programs have successfully engaged elders in the development of their services is via a community or cultural advisory board.^{13,140,141} From our study, it appears that this approach should not merely be considered a "best practice" but rather an essential component that administrators should incorporate from the most nascent stage of program development.

Program administrators have a duty to protect participants from predators and spiritual abuse. Unfortunately, there is a long history of misappropriation of AIAN knowledge of TCPslegitimate or not-to prey on others.¹⁴² Because of this, any individual who is going to lead a TCP as part of an intervention must be vetted to ensure that (1) they have the training and rights to do so, and (2) they will not use their position of power, especially in situations where participants may be vulnerable, to commit acts of physical, mental, emotional, or spiritual abuse. As noted above, one way to accomplish this is to ensure that recognized elders play an active role in deciding what TCPs should be incorporated and who can lead them. Researchers and practitioners may approach this development with community-based participatory research methods with the support of a community advisory board (CAB) to guide and share power in decision-making. This CAB may be selected carefully to include trusted cultural insiders, elders, and community members with appropriate knowledge and commitments to TCPs. Practitioners should be able to provide references for where they have led TCPs in the past, and program staff can speak with individuals from those communities to verify the ability of the practitioner to appropriately lead activities. Most tribal nations also have an organized body representing the interests of their members (most often a tribal government or Alaska Native corporation) who

can be contacted to verify legitimacy. If for any reason a program is not able to carry out vetting, participants should be notified of this fact so that they can decide for themselves whether they are comfortable participating.

There are very legitimate and compelling reasons why protocols around TCP are not widely published. AIAN communities have faced serious traumas associated with the criminalization of TCPs in the past and the desire to protect from further danger is logical. That younger AIAN adults are not trained in protocols related to TCPs may be an unintended consequence of this safeguarding, however. Across the United States, we see communities bringing TCPs back into their service delivery approach and using this as an opportunity to include teaching about these protocols.^{36,78} While much of this effort is focused on youth, our results show both a need and a desire for a learning component to be included as often as possible and for all participants, to fully reap the benefits of TCPs in a therapeutic environment.

The multi-tribal nature of urban settings presents both a challenge and an opportunity for TCP-based interventions. The Indian Health Service has been providing funding to urban health programs since the 1970s and several of these have developed very successful substance use programming that incorporates TCPs into their services.⁹¹ While it may not be practical to include activities from every tribe represented among their patient population, programs can develop interventions that draw on TCPs from several of their larger tribal populations. By developing a robust array of TCP-based interventions, individuals can have the option of participating in those activities in which they are most comfortable. This is a valuable method of broadening access while also ensuring appropriate adherence to tribal protocols and traditions.

Because the focus of the interviews was on developing an intervention within an urban, multi-tribal environment, the concept of "going home" was not followed up on during the

interviews. However, we believe it is crucial that future research explore this concept further. What draws participants home for TCP, and could it inform the potential development of TCPbased programming in an urban setting? Is there a possibility that the place-based nature of tribal people and their respective ceremonies would make an urban TCP less feasible? Is this simply related to the issue of communication and not knowing where/when ceremonies are taking place in the city? Are there certain aspects of reservation environments that need to be replicated in order to enhance the potential for success of an urban TCP-based intervention? These are important questions for researchers and practitioners to ask, and our knowledge and understanding of TCP would benefit greatly from the answers those questions provide.

4.1. Limitations

This study focused on a topic that historically has been very sensitive, American Indian ceremonies. Most AIAN communities have spent generations guarding knowledge related to ceremonies out of fear, stemming from the outlawing of these practices, imprisonment or disappearance of individuals practicing these ceremonies, and the stigma that has been associated with these practices by mainstream American communities.^{1,47} Although the interviews were conducted by an AIAN researcher, it is plausible that there is still reticence on the part of community members to fully and openly discuss all aspects related to TCP. This may especially be true of older participants who were alive before the passage of the American Indian Freedom of Religion Act in 1978, which was about 60% of our sample.

Participants for this study were purposively sampled and recruited through outreach associated with the local AIAN health center and other AIAN-serving organizations. It is unclear if the experiences of these individuals would be similar to AIAN adults who do not access these organizations. But, as the intent is to inform the development of programs and services, we

selected a sample that might be most likely to use those services. Additionally, participants were allowed to self-identify as AIAN. While there are national debates about the definition of AIAN, the AIAN health center that we partnered with for this study allows individuals to self-identify and that was the most appropriate criteria for this study as we hope to see TCP-based interventions take place in this community.

5.0. Public Health Implications

AIAN and non-AIAN health intervention researchers can all agree upon the need for improved public health prevention, early intervention, and treatment options for AIAN populations. The severity of the COVID-19 pandemic health impacts alone stands as testament to the critical public health crises facing indigenous communities. Between January and September, 2020, AIAN individuals experienced the greatest drug overdose death rate of any racial or ethnic group according to the CDC.⁷ This figure highlights the urgency with which AIAN communities need access to effective substance use prevention and treatment programming. This study provides a unique exploration of the ways in which traditional knowledge and practices can be implemented in contemporary public health to elevate the efficacy of future policy and practice.

AIAN approaches to health and wellness tend to center the interconnections across spiritual, mental, emotional, physical, social, and environmental health.¹⁴³ Extant approaches to problem substance use in urban contexts have conventionally been approached from a non-AIAN worldview, that have left out the centrality of TCP and their interrelationships with mental, physical, social, and spiritual health.¹⁴³ Although the development of these programs must carefully honor existing tribal protocols and practices, and pose complexities, particularly in urban contexts, culturally relevant interventions tend to be appreciated and more effective to address problem substance use among AIANs.^{11,144} Among our study participants, there was a strong belief that TCP-based interventions can be effective both for prevention and treatment of problem substance use. Often, communities are faced with deciding whether to allocate precious limited resources toward either prevention or intervention. From our data, TCPs emerge as an option that can be leveraged for both functions, due to their protective ability to support healing from trauma and promote resilience. Effective and culturally grounded programs often incorporate both TCP, such as talking circles and sweat lodges, while also include psychoeducational teaching modalities.^{145,146}

AIAN health administrators have known for years that TCP-based interventions are effective approaches to reducing problem substance use but encounter the dilemma that these services are rarely funded by public or private payers. Not only does our study lend weight to the millennia of practice-based evidence supporting the role of TCPs, but we provide administrators with recommendations for how to design programming from a community-informed perspective. As one of the elders we interviewed so eloquently states, "we know what the hell we're doing, if they'd just give us the money and let us do it our damn selves."

6.0. Funding

Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute of General Medical Sciences of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number U54GM115371. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

CHAPTER SIX – CONCLUSION

This section provides a summary of the research findings across all three studies and discusses these findings within the context of the existing literature. It also relates the findings back to public health practice and makes recommendations for the direction of future exploration and examination. An overall conclusion of the research project is also presented.

Summary of Research Findings

As a sequential, mixed-methods study, this dissertation achieved three goals: (1) a thorough and systematic review of the evidence regarding the effectiveness of TCP-based interventions to reduce problem substance use in AIAN communities; (2) a quantitative survey measuring TCPs and substance use variables among adult members of an urban AIAN community; and (3) a qualitative exploration of the potential for TCP-based interventions to be used effectively in a local urban, multi-tribal setting.

The systematic review focused on analysis of quantitative data and identified 10 study articles that provided evidence of effectiveness. Noteworthy findings included the different types of TCPs used by programs, that study settings were both urban and reservation-based, and the need for standardized measures among future research to support meta-analyses. The community survey found that more than half of respondents reported positive knowledge, attitudes, and beliefs (KAB) regarding TCPs and one out of every three respondents reported high levels of intent to participate in TCPs. Individuals with more positive KAB or greater levels of intent to participate in TCPs were less likely to report substance use. Finally, the qualitative exploration found several themes that can help guide the development of TCP-based interventions in an urban, multi-tribal setting.

Public Health Relevance

This research moves the investigation of problem substance use in AIAN communities toward a strengths-based perspective. While epidemiological data are important tools in understanding problems, they do not, in and of themselves, provide solutions. *Reziliency* tells us that AIAN communities have the protective factors, approaches, and methods to create an environment that supports resiliency. Public health efforts within AIAN communities would benefit from a deeper understanding of those protective factors and how they can be leveraged to improve health outcomes and eliminate disparities.

Reducing problem substance use in AIAN communities is a national public health priority. The Indian Health Service currently has four programs and initiatives aimed at reducing alcohol, opioid, and other substance use among AIAN communities nationally.¹⁴⁷ The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration identified community-based treatment and recovery services as a priority in its report on AIAN results from the 2019 National Survey on Drug Use and Health.¹⁴⁸ And the Native American Research Centers for Health at the National Institutes of Health aims to support health research projects that are identified by AIAN communities across the country.¹⁴⁹

This research project has provided a platform for future studies that is in line with national priorities. It is also aligned with community-identified priorities, not only for which needs to address but also how to address them. A primary goal of this project is to bring attention to AIAN practice-based evidence in an attempt to promote policies and funding that recognize its value. There are five urban health centers funded by the Indian Health Service in Montana. Future research could use methods similar to those of this study and identify similarities or

differences around TCP factors, substance use behaviors, and the potential for a TCP-based intervention to reduce problem substance use in their respective communities.

Overall Limitations and Future Directions

An original aim of this project was to identify a relationship between participation in TCPs and substance use behaviors. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic that wasn't possible, and a key limitation was the need to rely on proxy TCP variables to estimate this association. As communities begin to hold ceremonies again, it would be of value to examine if this relationship indeed exists and explore how it could inform interventions aimed at reducing problem substance use.

Several factors limit generalizability of our results. First, we were not able to randomly sample from the entire urban AIAN population of our study location for our survey. Instead, we relied on a sampling frame of those individuals who had some type of interaction with the local AIAN health center. Because not all members of the target population had an equal opportunity to be included in the survey, our results are subject to a certain level of bias. However, the sampling frame included not just those individuals who received primary care at the health center, but also those who had participated in community-wide events and activities. We also saw a range of ages, incomes, and other sociodemographic variables represented in our sample. So, while not generalizable, our findings do contribute valuable knowledge and have been shared with that community.

Additionally, due to time and resource constraints our qualitative exploration was directed rather than inferential in design. Although this approach is not as exhaustive, it is still capable of producing rich data that brings the voice of the participants into consideration when making practical decisions about programming.⁶⁵ Future work could not only expand on our

research question, but through an emergent design process could also explore aspects of TCPs that were not considered as part of this present study.

Conclusion

As a research community, we have much work to do to repair and strengthen the relationship between academia and AIAN communities. Policies and resources should be dedicated in a way that supports the exploration and validation of practice-based evidence but does so in a way that is guided by AIAN traditional knowledge and wisdom. Working together, we can more effectively craft powerful tools for AIAN communities to wield in their efforts to heal from trauma and reduce problem substance use.

REFERENCES

- Gone JP. Indigenous Traditional Knowledge and Substance Abuse Treatment Outcomes: The Problem of Efficacy Evaluation. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*. 2012;38(5):493-497.
- 2. Yellow Horse Brave Heart M, Chase J, Elkins J, Martin J, Nanez J, Mootz J. Women finding the way: American Indian women leading intervention research in Native communities. *Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res.* 2016;23(3):24-47.
- Irwin L. Freedom, Law, and Prophecy: A Brief History of Native American Religious Resistance. *American Indian Quarterly*. 1997;21(1):35-55.
- Hodge FS. No Meaningful Apology for American Indian Unethical Research Abuses. *Ethics & behavior*. 2012;22(6):431-444.
- 5. Yellow Horse Brave Heart M. The historical trauma response among natives and its relationship with substance abuse: A Lakota illustration: Morning star rising: healing in native American communities. *Journal of psychoactive drugs*. 2003;35(1):7-13.
- Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. *Results from the 2020 National* Survey on Drug Use and Health: Detailed tables. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; October 2021.
- Panchal N, Garfield R, Cox C, Artiga S. Substance Use Issues Are Worsening Alongside Access to Care. Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF);2021.
- Larios SE, Wright S, Jernstrom A, Lebron D, Sorensen JL. Evidence-Based Practices, Attitudes, and Beliefs in Substance Abuse Treatment Programs Serving American Indians and Alaska Natives: A Qualitative Study. *J Psychoactive Drugs*. 2011;43(4):355-359.

- Green-Hennessy S. Suspension of the National Registry of Evidence-Based Programs and Practices: the importance of adhering to the evidence. *SUBST ABUSE TREAT PR*. 2018;13(1):26-26.
- Kelley A, Witzel M, Fatupaito B. A review of tribal best practices in substance abuse prevention. *J Ethn Subst Abuse*. 2019;18(3):462-475.
- Liddell J, Burnette CE. Culturally-Informed Interventions for Substance Abuse Among Indigenous Youth in the United States: A Review. *J Evid Inf Soc Work*. 2017;14(5):329-359.
- Leske S, Harris MG, Charlson FJ, et al. Systematic review of interventions for Indigenous adults with mental and substance use disorders in Australia, Canada, New Zealand and the United States. *Aust NZ J Psychiat*. 2016;50(11):1040-1054.
- Dickerson DL, Amico EJ, Klein DJ, et al. Drum-Assisted Recovery Therapy for Native Americans (DARTNA): Results from a feasibility randomized controlled trial. *J Subst Abuse Treat.* 2021;126:108439-108439.
- Gone JP, Tuomi A, Fox N. The Urban American Indian Traditional Spirituality Program:
 Promoting Indigenous Spiritual Practices for Health Equity. *Am J Commun Psychol.* 2020;66(3-4):279-289.
- 15. Bosma LM, Silva J, Jansen AL, Sandman NR, Hink RL. THE WIIDOOKOWISHIN PROGRAM: RESULTS FROM A QUALITATIVE PROCESS EVALUATION OF A CULTURALLY TAILORED COMMERCIAL TOBACCO CESSATION PROGRAM. AM INDIAN ALASKA NAT. 2014;21(1):18-34.

- Hartmann WE, Gone JP. Incorporating Traditional Healing Into an Urban American Indian Health Organization: A Case Study of Community Member Perspectives. J COUNS PSYCHOL. 2012;59(4):542-554.
- 17. Portman TAA, Garrett MT. Native American Healing Traditions. *International journal of disability, development, and education.* 2006;53(4):453-469.
- Johansen BE, Mann BA. Encyclopedia of the Haudenosaunee (Iroquois Confederacy).
 Westport, Conn.: Westport, Conn. : Greenwood Press; 2000.
- 19. Chee VE. Medicine Men. JAMA. 1991;265(17).
- National Archives and Records Administration. Indian Entities Recognized by and Eligible To Receive Services From the United States Bureau of Indian Affairs. 2021 Jan 29; <u>https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/01/29/2021-01606/indian-entitiesrecognized-by-and-eligible-to-receive-services-from-the-united-states-bureau-of.</u> Accessed March 15, 2022.
- 21. Koenig HG. Religion, spirituality, and health: a review and update. *Adv Mind Body Med.*2015;29(3):19-26.
- Cheney AM, Curran GM, Booth BM, Sullivan SD, Stewart KE, Borders TF. The Religious and Spiritual Dimensions of Cutting Down and Stopping Cocaine Use: A Qualitative Exploration Among African Americans in the South. *J DRUG ISSUES*. 2014;44(1):94-113.
- Watkins TL, Simpson C, Cofield SS, Davies S, Kohler C, Usdan S. The Relationship of Religiosity, Spirituality, Substance Abuse, and Depression Among Black Men Who Have Sex with Men (MSM). *J Relig Health*. 2016;55(1):255-268.
- Salas-Wright CP, Olate R, Vaughn MG. Religious Coping, Spirituality, and Substance Use and Abuse Among Youth in High-Risk Communities in San Salvador, El Salvador. SUBST USE MISUSE. 2013;48(9):769-783.
- Duran E, Duran B. *Native American postcolonial psychology*. Albany: SUNY Press; 1995.
- 26. Winderowd C, Montgomery D, Stumblingbear G, Harless D, Hicks K. DEVELOPMENT OF THE AMERICAN INDIAN ENCULTURATION SCALE TO ASSIST COUNSELING PRACTICE. AM INDIAN ALASKA NAT. 2008;15(2):1-14.
- 27. Garroutte EM, Beals J, Orton Anderson H, et al. Religio-Spiritual Participation in Two
 American Indian Populations. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*. 2014;53(1):1737.
- Goodkind JR, Gorman B, Hess JM, Parker DP, Hough RL. Reconsidering Culturally Competent Approaches to American Indian Healing and Well-Being. *Qual Health Res.* 2015;25(4):486-499.
- 29. Lavalley J, Kastor S, Tourangeau M, Goodman A, Kerr T. You just have to have other models, our DNA is different: the experiences of indigenous people who use illicit drugs and/or alcohol accessing substance use treatment. *HARM REDUCT J.* 2020;17(1):19-19.
- 30. Schultz K, Teyra C, Breiler G, Evans-Campbell T, Pearson C. "They Gave Me Life": Motherhood and Recovery in a Tribal Community. *SUBST USE MISUSE*.
 2018;53(12):1965-1973.
- Danto D, Walsh R. Mental Health Perceptions and Practices of a Cree Community in Northern Ontario: A Qualitative Study. *Int J Ment Health Addiction*. 2017;15(4):725-737.

- 32. U.S. Census Bureau. *The American Indian and Alaska Native Population: 2010*. Suitland,
 MD: U.S. Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration;2012.
- 33. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. *Results from the 2017 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Detailed tables.* Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration; September 2018 2018.
- 34. Gone JP, Calf Looking PE. American Indian Culture as Substance Abuse Treatment: Pursuing Evidence for a Local Intervention. *J PSYCHOACTIVE DRUGS*. 2011;43(4):291-296.
- Legha RK, Novins D. The Role of Culture in Substance Abuse Treatment Programs for American Indian and Alaska Native Communities. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2012;63(7):686-692.
- 36. Whitbeck LB, Walls ML, Welch ML. Substance Abuse Prevention in American Indian and Alaska Native Communities. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*. 2012;38(5):428-435.
- 37. Dickerson DLDOMPH, Brown RAPD, Johnson CLPD, Schweigman KMPH, D'Amico EJPD. Integrating Motivational Interviewing and Traditional Practices to Address Alcohol and Drug Use Among Urban American Indian/Alaska Native Youth. J SUBST ABUSE TREAT. 2015;65:26-35.
- U.S. Census Bureau. Census 2010 American Indian and Alaska Native Summary File;
 Urban and rural; Universe Total Population; Table: PCT2. Accessed July 15, 2019.
- 39. Belcourt-Dittloff AE. *Resiliency and risk in Native American communities: A culturally informed investigation*, ProQuest Dissertations Publishing; 2007.
- 40. Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Syst Rev.* 2015;4(1):1-1.

- 41. Shamseer L, Moher D, Clarke M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015: elaboration and explanation. *BMJ*. 2015;349(1):g7647-g7647.
- 42. Zimmerman MA. Resiliency Theory: A Strengths-Based Approach to Research and Practice for Adolescent Health. *HEALTH EDUC BEHAV*. 2013;40(4):381-383.
- 43. McKinley CE, Figley CR, Woodward SM, et al. COMMUNITY-ENGAGED AND CULTURALLY RELEVANT RESEARCH TO DEVELOP BEHAVIORAL HEALTH INTERVENTIONS WITH AMERICAN INDIANS AND ALASKA NATIVES. AM INDIAN ALASKA NAT. 2019;26(3):79-103.
- Brayboy BMJ, Gough HR, Leonard B, Roehl RF, Solyom JA. Reclaiming scholarship:
 Critical indigenous research methodologies. In: Lapan SD, Quartaroli MT, Riemer FJ,
 eds. *Qualitative research: An introduction to methods and designs*. Jossey-Bass/Wiley;
 2012:423-450.
- 45. Wilson S. *Research is ceremony: indigenous research methods*. Black Point, N.S.: Fernwood; 2008.
- 46. Kleinman A. Concepts and a model for the comparison of medical systems as cultural systems. *Social science & medicine Part B, Medical anthropology.* 1978;12:85-93.
- Yellow Horse Brave Heart M, Chase J, Elkins J, Altschul DB. Historical Trauma Among Indigenous Peoples of the Americas: Concepts, Research, and Clinical Considerations. J Psychoactive Drugs. 2011;43(4):282-290.
- 48. Tsosie RL, Grant AD, Harrington J, et al. The Six Rs of Indigenous Research. *Tribal college*. 2022;33(4).

- Indian Health Service (IHS). Office of Urban Indian Health Programs. <u>https://www.ihs.gov/urban/</u>. Accessed September 30, 2020.
- Brady SS, Brubaker L, Fok CS, et al. Development of Conceptual Models to Guide Public Health Research, Practice, and Policy: Synthesizing Traditional and Contemporary Paradigms. *Health Promot Pract.* 2020;21(4):510-524.
- 51. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ*. 2009;339(2009):b2700-b2700.
- 52. Edwards SL, McFadden M, Lanier AP, et al. Construct Validity of the SF-12 among American Indian and Alaska Native People Using Two Known Scoring Methods. J HEALTH CARE POOR U. 2012;23(3):1123-1136.
- 53. Jordan BK, Karg RS, Batts KR, Epstein JF, Wiesen C. A clinical validation of the National Survey on Drug Use and Health Assessment of Substance Use Disorders. *ADDICT BEHAV*. 2008;33(6):782-798.
- 54. Chae DH, Walters KL. Racial Discrimination and Racial Identity Attitudes in Relation to Self-Rated Health and Physical Pain and Impairment Among Two-Spirit American Indians/Alaska Natives. AM J PUBLIC HEALTH. 2009;99(S1):S144-S151.
- Zhang Z. Model building strategy for logistic regression: purposeful selection. Ann Transl Med. 2016;4(6):111-111.
- 56. Unger JB, Sussman S, Begay C, Moerner L, Soto C. Spirituality, Ethnic Identity, and Substance Use among American Indian/Alaska Native Adolescents in California. SUBST USE MISUSE. 2020;55(7):1194-1198.

- 57. Mannix TR, Austin SD, Baayd JL, Simonsen SE. A Community Needs Assessment of Urban Utah American Indians and Alaska Natives. *J Community Health*.
 2018;43(6):1217-1227.
- 58. Currie CL, Wild TC, Schopflocher DP, Laing L, Veugelers P. Illicit and prescription drug problems among urban Aboriginal adults in Canada: The role of traditional culture in protection and resilience. SOC SCI MED. 2013;88:1-9.
- 59. Glasnapp J, Butrick E, Jamerson S, Espinoza M. Assessment of Clients Health Needs of Two Urban Native American Health Centers in the San Francisco Bay Area. J HEALTH CARE POOR U. 2009;20(4):1060-1067.
- Padgett DK. *Qualitative and Mixed Methods in Public Health*. Thousand Oaks,
 California: SAGE Publications; 2012.
- 61. Chiu LF. Critical reflection: More than nuts and bolts. *Action research (London, England).* 2006;4(2):183-203.
- Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Res Nurs Health*.
 2000;23(4):334-340.
- Sandelowski M. What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. *RES NURS HEALTH*. 2010;33(1):77-84.
- 64. Burnette CE, Sanders S, Butcher HK, Rand JT. A Toolkit for Ethical and Culturally Sensitive Research: An Application with Indigenous Communities. *Ethics and social welfare*. 2014;8(4):364-382.
- 65. Colorafi KJ, Evans B. Qualitative Descriptive Methods in Health Science Research. *HERD-HEALTH ENV RES.* 2016;9(4):16-25.

- 66. Patton MQ. *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. 3 . ed. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Thousand Oaks, Calif. : Sage Publications; 2002.
- 67. Tolley EE, Ulin PR, Mack N, Robinson ET, Succop SM. *Qualitative Methods in Public Health: A Field Guide for Applied Research*. 2 ed. Hoboken: Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated; 2016.
- 68. Miles MB, Huberman AM, Saldaña J. *Qualitative data analysis : a methods sourcebook.*3rd ed: Thousand Oaks, Califorinia : SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2014.
- 69. Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. *Qual Health Res.* 2005;15(9):1277-1288.
- Miles MB, Huberman AM, Saldaña J. Chapter 4 Fundamentals of Qualitative Data Analysis. In: *Qualitative Data Analysis: A Methods Sourcebook*. SAGE Publications; 2014:95.
- Beckstead DJ, Lambert MJ, DuBose AP, Linehan M. Dialectical behavior therapy with American Indian/Alaska Native adolescents diagnosed with substance use disorders: Combining an evidence based treatment with cultural, traditional, and spiritual beliefs. *Addict Behav.* 2015;51:84-87.
- 72. Carlock D. Native American Health: Traditional Healing and Culturally Competent Health Care Internet Resources. *Med Ref Serv Q.* 2006;25(3):67-76.
- 73. Coyhis D, White WL. Alcohol Problems in Native America: Changing Paradigms and Clinical Practices. *Alcoholism treatment quarterly*. 2002;20(3-4):157-165.
- 74. King J, Masotti P, Dennem J, et al. The Culture is Prevention Project: Adapting the Cultural Connectedness Scale for Multi-Tribal Communities. *Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res.* 2019;26(3):104-135.

- 75. Duran B, Harrison M, Shurley M, et al. Tribally-Driven HIV/AIDS Health Services Partnerships: Evidence-Based Meets Culture-Centered Interventions. *Journal of HIV/AIDS & social services*. 2010;9(2):110-129.
- Payne HE, Steele M, Bingham JL, Sloan CD. Identifying and Reducing Disparities in Mental Health Outcomes Among American Indians and Alaskan Natives Using Public Health, Mental Healthcare and Legal Perspectives. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. 2018;45(1):5-14.
- 77. Duran BG, Wallerstein N, Miller WR. New Approaches to Alcohol Interventions Among American Indian and Latino Communities: The Experience of the Southwest Addictions Research Group. *Alcoholism treatment quarterly*. 2007;25(4):1-10.
- 78. Rowan M, Poole N, Shea B, et al. Cultural interventions to treat addictions in Indigenous populations: findings from a scoping study. *Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy*. 2014;9(1):34.
- 79. Hovey RB, Delormier T, McComber AM, Lévesque L, Martin D. Enhancing Indigenous Health Promotion Research Through Two-Eyed Seeing: A Hermeneutic Relational Process. *Qual Health Res.* 2017;27(9):1278-1287.
- Gossage JP, Barton L, Foster L, et al. Sweat Lodge Ceremonies for Jail-Based Treatment. J Psychoactive Drugs. 2003;35(1):33-42.
- Polanin JR, Pigott TD, Espelage DL, Grotpeter JK. Best practice guidelines for abstract screening large-evidence systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Res Synth Methods*. 2019;10(3):330-342.
- 82. Indian Health Service (IHS). Native American Research Centers for Health. <u>https://www.ihs.gov/dper/research/narch/</u>. Accessed February 26, 2021.

- 83. Tribal Health Research Office. *American Indian/Alaska Native Health Research Fiscal Year 2018: A quantitative portfolio analysis of research funded by the National Institutes of Health.* Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health.
- B4. Dickerson DL, Venner KL, Duran B, Annon JJ, Hale B, Funmaker G. DRUM-ASSISTED RECOVERY THERAPY FOR NATIVE AMERICANS (DARTNA): RESULTS FROM A PRETEST AND FOCUS GROUPS. *AM INDIAN ALASKA NAT*. 2014;21(1):35-58.
- 85. Greenfield BL, Venner KL, Tonigan JS, Honeyestewa M, Hubbell H, Bluehorse D. Low rates of alcohol and tobacco use, strong cultural ties for Native American college students in the Southwest. *ADDICT BEHAV*. 2018;82:122-128.
- Herman-Stahl M, Spencer DL, Duncan JE. The implications of cultural orientation for substance use among American Indians. *Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res.* 2003;11(1):46-66.
- Saylors K. The Women's Circle Comes Full Circle. *J Psychoactive Drugs*.
 2003;35(1):59-62.
- Torres-Stone RA, Whitbeck LB, Xiaojin C, Johnson K, Olson DM. Traditional practices, traditional spirituality, and alcohol cessation among American Indians. *J Stud Alcohol*. 2006;67(2):236-244.
- Tonigan JS, Venner K, Hirchak KA. Urban American Indian Adult Participation and Outcomes in Culturally Adapted and Mainstream Alcoholics Anonymous Meetings. *Alcohol Treat Q.* 2020;38(1):50-67.
- 90. Wendt DC, Collins SE, Nelson LA, Serafini K, Clifasefi SL, Donovan DM. Religious and Spiritual Practices Among Home-less Urban American Indians and Alaska Natives

with Severe Alcohol Problems. *Am Indian Alsk Native Ment Health Res.* 2017;24(3):39-62.

- 91. Wright S, Nebelkopf E, King J, Maas M, Patel C, Samuel S. Holistic System of Care:
 Evidence of Effectiveness. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2011;46(11):1420-1430.
- 92. Stanley LR, Crabtree MA, Swaim RC. Opioid Misuse Among American Indian Adolescents. *American journal of public health*. 2021;111(3):471-474.
- 93. Sussman S, Unger JB, Begay C, Moerner L, Soto C. Prevalence, Co-Occurrence, and Correlates of Substance and Behavioral Addictions Among American Indian Adolescents in California. *Journal of drug education*. 2021;50(1-2):31-44.
- 94. Swaim RC, Stanley LR. Substance Use Among American Indian Youths on Reservations Compared With a National Sample of US Adolescents. *JAMA network open*. 2018;1(1):e180382.
- 95. Walsh-Buhi ML. "Please Don't Just Hang a Feather on a Program or Put a Medicine Wheel on Your Logo and Think 'Oh Well, This Will Work'": Theoretical Perspectives of American Indian and Alaska Native Substance Abuse Prevention Programs. *Fam Community Health.* 2017;40(1):81-87.
- 96. Venner KL, Serier K, Sarafin R, et al. Culturally tailored evidence-based substance use disorder treatments are efficacious with an American Indian Southwest tribe: an open-label pilot-feasibility randomized controlled trial. *Addiction*. 2021;116(4):949-960.
- 97. Venner KL, Greenfield BL, Hagler KJ, et al. Pilot outcome results of culturally adapted evidence-based substance use disorder treatment with a Southwest Tribe. *Addict Behav Rep.* 2015;3(C):21-27.

- Indian Health Service (IHS). Fiscal Year 2021 Justification of Estimates for Appropriations Committees. Rockville, MD: Department of Health & Human Services (DHHS); February 5, 2020.
- 99. Richardson GE. The metatheory of resilience and resiliency. *J CLIN PSYCHOL*.2002;4(4):307-321.
- 100. McEachan R, Taylor N, Harrison R, Lawton R, Gardner P, Conner M. Meta-Analysis of the Reasoned Action Approach (RAA) to Understanding Health Behaviors. *ann behav med.* 2016;50(4):592-612.
- 101. Dobbs PD, Jozkowski KN, Hammig B, et al. College Student E-cigarette Use: A
 Reasoned Action Approach Measure Development. *Am J Hlth Behav.* 2019;43(4):753-766.
- 102. Dippel EA, Hanson JD, McMahon TR, Griese ER, Kenyon DB. Applying the Theory of Reasoned Action to Understanding Teen Pregnancy with American Indian Communities. *Matern Child Health J.* 2017;21(7):1449-1456.
- 103. Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH). <u>https://www.datafiles.samhsa.gov/dataset/national-survey-drug-use-and-health-2020-nsduh-2020-ds0001</u>. Accessed August 10, 2020.
- 104. Indigenous Wellness Research Institute. COVID-19 Indigenous Needs Assessment. <u>http://iwri.org/naca/</u>. Accessed Accessed February 14, 2022.
- 105. Harpe SE. How to analyze Likert and other rating scale data. *Currents in pharmacy teaching and learning*. 2015;7(6):836-850.
- 106. Tai B-C, Machin D. Regression methods for medical research. In: West Sussex, UK:John Wiley and Sons; 2014:61.

- 107. Sege R, Bethell C, Linkenbach J, Jones JA, Klika B, Pecora PJ. *Balancing Adverse Childhood Experiences With HOPE: New Insights Into the Role of Positive Experience on Child and Family Development.* Boston: The Medical Foundation;2017.
- 108. Bethell C, Jones J, Gombojav N, Linkenbach J, Sege R. Positive Childhood Experiences and Adult Mental and Relational Health in a Statewide Sample: Associations Across Adverse Childhood Experiences Levels. JAMA PEDIATR. 2019;173(11):e193007e193007.
- 109. Prince MA, Swaim RC, Stanley LR, Conner BT. Perceived harm as a mediator of the relationship between social norms and marijuana use and related consequences among American Indian youth. DRUG ALCOHOL DEPEN. 2017;181:102-107.
- Choi NG, DiNitto DM, Marti CN. Older marijuana users' marijuana risk perceptions: associations with marijuana use patterns and marijuana and other substance use disorders. *INT PSYCHOGERIATR*. 2018;30(9):1311-1322.
- Hall W, Degenhardt L. The adverse health effects of chronic cannabis use. *DRUG TEST ANAL*. 2014;6(1-2):39-45.
- 112. Hall WP, Degenhardt LP. Adverse health effects of non-medical cannabis use. *LANCET*.2009;374(9698):1383-1391.
- 113. Indian Health Service (IHS). Disparities. 2019 Oct;
 <u>https://www.ihs.gov/newsroom/factsheets/disparities/</u>. Accessed February 6, 2022.
- 114. Walters KL, Simoni JM, Evans-Campbell T. Substance Use Among American Indians and Alaska Natives: Incorporating Culture in an "Indigenist" Stress-Coping Paradigm. *Public Health Rep.* 2002;117(Suppl 1):S104-S117.

- La Marr CJ. "Firewater myth": Fact, fantasy or self -fulfilling prophecy [Ph.D.]. Ann Arbor, University of Washington; 2003.
- 116. Gonzalez VM, Skewes MC. Association of Belief in the "Firewater Myth" With Strategies to Avoid Alcohol Consequences Among American Indian and Alaska Native College Students Who Drink. *PSYCHOL ADDICT BEHAV*. 2018;32(4):401-409.
- 117. Cunningham JK, Solomon TA, Muramoto ML. Alcohol use among Native Americans compared to whites: Examining the veracity of the 'Native American elevated alcohol consumption' belief. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* 2016;160:65-75.
- 118. Wenger T. We Have a Religion: The 1920s Pueblo Indian Dance Controversy and American Religious Freedom. Chapel Hill: Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press; 2009.
- Gone JP. Research Reservations: Response and Responsibility in an American Indian Community. *Am J Community Psychol.* 2006;37(3):333-340.
- 120. Dickerson D, Baldwin JA, Belcourt A, et al. Encompassing Cultural Contexts Within Scientific Research Methodologies in the Development of Health Promotion Interventions. *Prev Sci.* 2018;21(Suppl 1):33-42.
- 121. Chong J, Fortier Y, Morris TL. Cultural Practices and Spiritual Development for Women in a Native American Alcohol and Drug Treatment Program. *J Ethn Subst Abuse*. 2009;8(3):261-282.
- 122. Barnett DS, Cahoon J, Peterson JC, Brown BD. American Indian traditional ceremonial practices and substance use behaviors in an urban, multi-tribal setting: Results from a community survey. Forthcoming.

- 123. Marsh TN, Marsh DC, Ozawagosh J, Ozawagosh F. The Sweat Lodge Ceremony: A Healing Intervention for Intergenerational Trauma and Substance Use. *International indigenous policy journal*. 2018;9(2).
- Momper SL, Delva J, Reed BG. OxyContin Misuse on a Reservation: Qualitative Reports by American Indians in Talking Circles. *SUBST USE MISUSE*. 2011;46(11):1372-1379.
- Becker SA, Affonso DD, Beard MBH. Talking Circles: Northern Plains Tribes American Indian Women's Views of Cancer as a Health Issue. *PUBLIC HEALTH NURS*. 2006;23(1):27-36.
- Godlaski TM. Holy Smoke: Tobacco Use Among Native American Tribes in North America. SUBST USE MISUSE. 2013;48(1-2):1-8.
- 127. Greensky C, Stapleton MA, Walsh K, et al. A Qualitative Study of Traditional Healing Practices among American Indians with Chronic Pain. *PAIN MED*. 2014;15(10):1795-1802.
- Lycett SJ. Dynamics of Cultural Transmission in Native Americans of the High Great Plains. *PLOS ONE*. 2014;9(11):e112244-e112244.
- 129. Roh S, McKinley CE, Liddell JL, Lee Y-S, Yun Lee H. American Indian women cancer survivors' experiences of community support in a context of historical oppression. *Journal of community practice*. 2020;28(3):265-279.
- 130. Fuentes M, Lent K. Culture, Health, Function, and Participation Among American Indian and Alaska Native Children and Youth With Disabilities: An Exploratory Qualitative Analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2019;100(9):1688-1694.

- Jokiniemi K, Miettinen M. Specialist Nurses' Role Domains and Competencies in Specialised Medical Healthcare: A Qualitative Descriptive Study. *International journal* of caring sciences. 2020;13(1):171-179.
- 132. Feyissa GT, Woldie M, Munn Z, Lockwood C. Exploration of facilitators and barriers to the implementation of a guideline to reduce HIV-related stigma and discrimination in the Ethiopian healthcare settings: A descriptive qualitative study. *PLOS ONE*. 2019;14(5):e0216887-e0216887.
- 133. Cho J, Jeong K, Kim S, Kim H. Exploring the Healthcare Seeking Behavior of Medical Aid Beneficiaries Who Overutilize Healthcare Services: A Qualitative Descriptive Study. *INT J ENV RES PUB HE*. 2019;16(14):2485.
- 134. Fawcett J. *Evaluating research for evidence-based nursing practice*. Philadelphia: Philadelphia : F.A. Davis; 2009.
- 135. LoBiondo-Wood G, Haber J. *Nursing research : methods and critical appraisal for evidence-based practice.* 8th edition.. ed: St. Louis, Missouri : Elsevier; 2014.
- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*. 2006;3(2):77-101.
- 137. Cwik M, Goklish N, Masten K, et al. "Let our Apache Heritage and Culture Live on Forever and Teach the Young Ones": Development of The Elders' Resilience Curriculum, an Upstream Suicide Prevention Approach for American Indian Youth. AM J COMMUN PSYCHOL. 2019;64(1-2):137-145.
- 138. Flicker S, O'Campo P, Monchalin R, et al. Research Done in "A Good Way": The Importance of Indigenous Elder Involvement in HIV Community-Based Research. Am J Public Health. 2015;105(6):1149-1154.

- Alexie O, Alexie S, Marlow P. Creating Space and Defining Roles: Elders and Adult Yup'ik Immersion. *Journal of American Indian education*. 2009;48(3):1-18.
- 140. Elizabeth JDA, Daniel LD, Anthony R, et al. Integrating traditional practices and social network visualization to prevent substance use: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial among urban Native American emerging adults. *Addiction science & clinical practice*. 2021;16(1):56-56.
- 141. Fiedeldey-Van Dijk C, Rowan M, Dell C, et al. Honoring Indigenous culture-asintervention: Development and validity of the Native Wellness Assessment (TM). J ETHN SUBST ABUSE. 2017;16(2):181-218.
- 142. Gray JS, LaBore KB, Carter P. Protecting the Sacred Tree: Conceptualizing Spiritual Abuse Against Native American Elders. *PSYCHOL RELIG SPIRIT*. 2021;13(2):204-211.
- 143. West AE, Williams E, Suzukovich E, Strangeman K, Novins D. A Mental Health Needs Assessment of Urban American Indian Youth and Families. *Am J Community Psychol.* 2012;49(3):441-453.
- 144. Gone JP, Trimble JE. American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health: Diverse Perspectives on Enduring Disparities. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* 2012;8(1):131-160.
- Hill DM. Traditional Medicine and Restoration of Wellness Strategies. *Journal of aboriginal health*. 2009;5(1):26.
- 146. Hill DM. Traditional medicine in contemporary contexts: Protecting and respecting indigenous knowledge and medicine. Ottowa: National Aboriginal Health Organization;2003.
- 147. Indian Health Service (IHS). Programs and Initiatives.
 https://www.ihs.gov/asap/about/programs/. Accessed March 31, 2022.

- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. 2019 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: American Indians and Alaska Natives (AI/ANs). Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA);2020.
- 149. National Institute of General Medical Sciences. Native American Research Centers for Health. 2022 Jan 05; <u>https://www.nigms.nih.gov/capacity-building/division-for-research-capacity-building/native-american-research-centers-for-health-(narch)</u>. Accessed March 31, 2022.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A. Systematic Review Protocol



Systematic review

1. * Review title.

Give the title of the review in English

Ceremony and traditional spiritual practices (CTSP) as a culturally tailored strategy against problem

substance use in urban American Indian communities: A systematic review

2. Original language title.

For reviews in languages other than English, give the title in the original language. This will be displayed with the English language title.

3. * Anticipated or actual start date.

Give the date the systematic review started or is expected to start.

01/09/2021

4. * Anticipated completion date.

Give the date by which the review is expected to be completed.

31/12/2021

5. * Stage of review at time of this submission.

Tick the boxes to show which review tasks have been started and which have been completed. Update this field each time any amendments are made to a published record.

Reviews that have started data extraction (at the time of initial submission) are not eligible for inclusion in PROSPERO. If there is later evidence that incorrect status and/or completion date has been supplied, the published PROSPERO record will be marked as retracted.

This field uses answers to initial screening questions. It cannot be edited until after registration.

The review has not yet started: Yes

Review stage	Started	Completed
Preliminary searches	No	No
Piloting of the study selection process	No	No
Formal screening of search results against eligibility criteria	No	No
Data extraction	No	No
Risk of bias (quality) assessment	No	No
Data analysis	No	No

Provide any other relevant information about the stage of the review here.

6. * Named contact.

The named contact is the guarantor for the accuracy of the information in the register record. This may be any member of the review team.

D'Shane Barnett

Email salutation (e.g. "Dr Smith" or "Joanne") for correspondence:

D'Shane

7. * Named contact email.

Give the electronic email address of the named contact.

dshane.barnett@umontana.edu

8. Named contact address

Give the full institutional/organisational postal address for the named contact.

32 Campus Drive

Skaggs 177

9. Named contact phone number.

Give the telephone number for the named contact, including international dialling code.

4063049494

10. * Organisational affiliation of the review.

Full title of the organisational affiliations for this review and website address if available. This field may be completed as 'None' if the review is not affiliated to any organisation.

University of Montana

Organisation web address:

https://health.umt.edu/publichealth/

11. * Review team members and their organisational affiliations.

Give the personal details and the organisational affiliations of each member of the review team. Affiliation refers to groups or organisations to which review team members belong. **NOTE: email and country now MUST be entered for each person, unless you are amending a published record.**

Mr D'Shane Barnett. University of Montana Jeffery Peterson. University of Montana Jessica Liddell. University of Montana Annie Belcourt. University of Montana

12. * Funding sources/sponsors.

Details of the individuals, organizations, groups, companies or other legal entities who have funded or sponsored the review.

None

Grant number(s)

State the funder, grant or award number and the date of award

13. * Conflicts of interest.

List actual or perceived conflicts of interest (financial or academic).

None

14. Collaborators.

Give the name and affiliation of any individuals or organisations who are working on the review but who are not listed as review team members. **NOTE: email and country must be completed for each person, unless you are amending a published record.**

15. * Review question.

State the review question(s) clearly and precisely. It may be appropriate to break very broad questions down into a series of related more specific questions. Questions may be framed or refined using PI(E)COS or similar where relevant.

Is there an association between prevention or treatment interventions that incorporate ceremony and

traditional spiritual practices (CTSP) for American Indians who live on tribal lands and problem substance

Lest there an association between prevention or treatment interventions that incorporate ceremony and

traditional spiritual practices (CTSP) for American Indians who live in non-tribal, urban settings and problem

substance use?

16. * Searches.

State the sources that will be searched (e.g. Medline). Give the search dates, and any restrictions (e.g. language or publication date). Do NOT enter the full search strategy (it may be provided as a link or attachment below.)

The following databases will be searched: (1) PubMed, (2) Global Health, (3) Global Health Archive, (4)

CINAHL, (5) PsycINFO, (6) Web of Science, (7) Health and Wellness (Gale), (8) SAGE, (9) ScienceDirect,

and (10) Google Scholar. Studies are eligible for review if they are published in English and the full text is available.

17. URL to search strategy.

Upload a file with your search strategy, or an example of a search strategy for a specific database, (including the keywords) in pdf or word format. In doing so you are consenting to the file being made publicly accessible. Or provide a URL or link to the strategy. Do NOT provide links to your search **results**.

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPEROFILES/269710_STRATEGY_20210828.pdf

Alternatively, upload your search strategy to CRD in pdf format. Please note that by doing so you are consenting to the file being made publicly accessible.

Do not make this file publicly available until the review is complete

18. * Condition or domain being studied.

Give a short description of the disease, condition or healthcare domain being studied in your systematic review.

The outcome of interest in this review is substance use disorder (SUD), including alcohol,

methamphetamine, and opioids.

19. * Participants/population.

Specify the participants or populations being studied in the review. The preferred format includes details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

The population of interest is Indigenous (American Indian/Native American) adults (age 18 and over) within

the United States, including Alaska and Hawaii.

20. * Intervention(s), exposure(s).

Give full and clear descriptions or definitions of the interventions or the exposures to be reviewed. The preferred format includes details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Interventions aimed at preventing, treating, or reducing substance use in American Indian adults that

incorporate ceremony or other traditional spiritual practices.

21. * Comparator(s)/control.

Where relevant, give details of the alternatives against which the intervention/exposure will be compared (e.g. another intervention or a non-exposed control group). The preferred format includes details of both inclusion and exclusion criteria.

No intervention or interventions aimed at preventing, treating, or reducing substance use in American Indian

adults that do not incorporate ceremony or other traditional spiritual practices.

22. * Types of study to be included.

Give details of the study designs (e.g. RCT) that are eligible for inclusion in the review. The preferred format includes both inclusion and exclusion criteria. If there are no restrictions on the types of study, this should be stated.

Included in the review: Quantitative studies, including clinical trials, comparative studies, evaluation studies,

and observational studies. Excluded from the review: Qualitative studies.

23. Context.

Give summary details of the setting or other relevant characteristics, which help define the inclusion or exclusion criteria.

Prevention programming, treatment services, or community-based practices that report on substance use

outcomes for Indigenous participants.

24. * Main outcome(s).

Give the pre-specified main (most important) outcomes of the review, including details of how the outcome is defined and measured and when these measurement are made, if these are part of the review inclusion criteria.

Impacts on substance use, including number of times or days when a substance is used, amount of

substance(s) consumed, age of initiation of use, or changes in other objective scale measurements.

Measures of effect

Please specify the effect measure(s) for you main outcome(s) e.g. relative risks, odds ratios, risk difference, and/or 'number needed to treat.

25. * Additional outcome(s).

List the pre-specified additional outcomes of the review, with a similar level of detail to that required for main outcomes. Where there are no additional outcomes please state 'None' or 'Not applicable' as appropriate to the review

Is there a difference in effect between American Indians who live on tribal lands vs those who live in non-

tribal, urban settings.

Measures of effect

Please specify the effect measure(s) for you additional outcome(s) e.g. relative risks, odds ratios, risk difference, and/or 'number needed to treat.

26. * Data extraction (selection and coding).

Describe how studies will be selected for inclusion. State what data will be extracted or obtained. State how this will be done and recorded.

EndNote 20 will be used to manage all references for this review. The databases will be searched

independently by two of the reviewers (DSB, JP) using the established search strategy. Initial citations will be

combined and duplicates will be removed. DSB and JP will then independently screen all citations first by

title, then by abstract, for inclusion in the review. For any citation without an abstract, full text will be retrieved

and reviewed by DSB and JP. Any citation not eliminated by both reviewers based on title or abstract will

move to full text review.

Full text review will take place by DSB and JP. A fillable form will be used by both reviewers to track the following data: (a) year of study; (b) study design; (c) study population; (d) intervention/exposure measures; and (e) outcome measures.

Any disagreement on inclusion during the full text stage of review will be reconciled by the full review team through consensus or lead author final say, if necessary. A PRISMA flow chart will be used to document exclusion throughout the process.

27. * Risk of bias (quality) assessment.

State which characteristics of the studies will be assessed and/or any formal risk of bias/quality assessment tools that will be used. Cohort studies, quasi-randomized trials, case-control studies, cross-sectional studies, interrupted time series and controlled before-after studies will all be assessed using the Risk Of Bias In Non-randomized Studies of Interventions (ROBINS-I) [1]. Any randomized control trials will be assessed using the Revised Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomized trials (RoB 2) [2]. Any observational studies that cannot be assessed using ROBINS-I or RoB 2 will be assessed using the STrengthening the Reporting of OBservational studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) checklist [3].

In addition to Western quality assessment protocols, Indigenous members of the research team will provide a review of cultural competency within studies as it relates to potential risk of bias.

[1] Sterne JAC, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomized studies of interventions. BMJ 2016; 355; i4919.

[2] Revised Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomized trials (RoB 2). Edited by Julian PT Higgins, Jelena Savovi?, Matthew J Page, Jonathan AC Sterne on behalf of the RoB2 Development Group. 22 August 2019.
[3] Cuschieri S. The STROBE guidelines. Saudi J Anaesth. 2019 Apr;13(Suppl 1):S31-S34. doi: 10.4103/sja.SJA_543_18. PMID: 30930717; PMCID: PMC6398292.

28. * Strategy for data synthesis.

Describe the methods you plan to use to synthesise data. This **must not be generic text** but should be **specific to your review** and describe how the proposed approach will be applied to your data. If metaanalysis is planned, describe the models to be used, methods to explore statistical heterogeneity, and software package to be used.

Quantitative data synthesis: Our greatest hope is to find quantitative data that can be synthesized via a metaanalysis. We expect many, if not most, of the studies to include cross-sectional design. Using the Review Management (RevMan) software, we will calculate pooled odds ratios for those studies with sufficient similarity. Clinical heterogeneity will be assessed by two authors (DSB, JP) and statistical heterogeneity will be assessed via the I^2 statistic. Studies will be individually excluded from analysis to determine their impact on the results. A funnel plot will be used to assess potential publication bias. Qualitative data analysis: For those studies that cannot be meta-analyzed for overall effect due to excessive

heterogeneity, we will use NVivo software to employ a qualitative descriptive analysis [1]. Themes and

subthemes will be identified and coded, and quotes or other relevant text will be used to report on findings.

[1] Colorafi KJ, Evans B. Qualitative Descriptive Methods in Health Science

Research.HERD.2016;9(4):16-25.

29. * Analysis of subgroups or subsets.

State any planned investigation of 'subgroups'. Be clear and specific about which type of study or participant will be included in each group or covariate investigated. State the planned analytic approach.

Pepreinipiagts rother laad wieds let dated the deliver in the striber of the second se

-Type of substance use: alcohol, marijuana, methamphetamine, inhalant, opioid

-Multiple substance user vs single substance user

-Higher enculturation vs higher acculturation

30. * Type and method of review.

Select the type of review, review method and health area from the lists below.

Type of review Cost effectiveness No Diagnostic No Epidemiologic No Individual patient data (IPD) meta-analysis No Intervention No Living systematic review No Meta-analysis Yes Methodology No Narrative synthesis Yes Network meta-analysis No Pre-clinical No Prevention No

Prognostic No

Prospective meta-analysis (PMA) No

Review of reviews No

Service delivery No

Synthesis of qualitative studies No

Systematic review Yes

Other No

Health area of the review

Alcohol/substance misuse/abuse Yes Blood and immune system No

Cancer No

Cardiovascular No

Care of the elderly No

Child health No

Complementary therapies No

COVID-19 No

Crime and justice No

Dental No

Digestive system No

Ear, nose and throat No

Education No

Endocrine and metabolic disorders

No

Eye disorders No

General interest No

Genetics No

Health inequalities/health equity No

Infections and infestations No

International development No

Mental health and behavioural conditions No

Musculoskeletal No

Neurological No

Nursing No

Obstetrics and gynaecology No

Oral health No

Palliative care No

Perioperative care No

Physiotherapy No

Pregnancy and childbirth No

Public health (including social determinants of health) No

Rehabilitation No

Respiratory disorders No

Service delivery No

Skin disorders No

Social care No

Surgery No

Tropical Medicine No

Urological No

Wounds, injuries and accidents No

Violence and abuse No

31. Language.

Select each language individually to add it to the list below, use the bin icon to remove any added in error. English

There is not an English language summary

32. * Country.

Select the country in which the review is being carried out. For multi-national collaborations select all the countries involved.

United States of America

33. Other registration details.

Name any other organisation where the systematic review title or protocol is registered (e.g. Campbell, or The Joanna Briggs Institute) together with any unique identification number assigned by them. If extracted data will be stored and made available through a repository such as the Systematic Review Data Repository (SRDR), details and a link should be included here. If none, leave blank.

34. Reference and/or URL for published protocol.

If the protocol for this review is published provide details (authors, title and journal details, preferably in Vancouver format)

Add web link to the published protocol.

Or, upload your published protocol here in pdf format. Note that the upload will be publicly accessible.

No I do not make this file publicly available until the review is complete

Please note that the information required in the PROSPERO registration form must be completed in full even if access to a protocol is given.

35. Dissemination plans.

Do you intend to publish the review on completion?

Yes

Give brief details of plans for communicating review findings.?

We expect to publish in a peer-related journal within the public health, substance use, American Indian

health, or other applicable field.

36. Keywords.

Give words or phrases that best describe the review. Separate keywords with a semicolon or new line. Keywords help PROSPERO users find your review (keywords do not appear in the public record but are included in searches). Be as specific and precise as possible. Avoid acronyms and abbreviations unless these are in wide use.

NatieriecAnnleridiaan

Substance Use

Ceremony

Traditional Practices

37. Details of any existing review of the same topic by the same authors.

If you are registering an update of an existing review give details of the earlier versions and include a full bibliographic reference, if available.

38. * Current review status.

Update review status when the review is completed and when it is published.New registrations must be ongoing so this field is not editable for initial submission. Please provide anticipated publication date

Review_Ongoing

39. Any additional information.

Provide any other information relevant to the registration of this review.

40. Details of final report/publication(s) or preprints if available.

Leave empty until publication details are available OR you have a link to a preprint (NOTE: this field is not editable for initial submission). List authors, title and journal details preferably in Vancouver format.

Give the link to the published review or preprint.

APPENDIX B. Abstract and Article Screening Guidelines

Citation, Title, and Abstract Screening

1. Does the **title or abstract** use English?

a. Yes: continue screening

b. No: stop screening

2. Does the **title or abstract** NOT indicate that a TCP systematic review or meta-analysis was conducted?

a. Yes: continue screening

b. No: stop screening

3. Does the title or abstract indicate that this is NOT a correction or erratum?

a. Yes: continue screening

b. No: stop screening

Abstract Screening

4. Does the **abstract** indicate that an AIAN adult sample was studied?

- a. Yes or Unsure/Unclear: continue screening
 - b. No: stop screening

-For example: the study only samples youth under age 18 or adults who are not AIAN

- 5. Does the **abstract** indicate that this study was quantitative?
 - a. Yes or Unsure/Unclear: continue screening

-Key words: Quantitative, clinical trial, randomize, pilot study, comparative, evaluation, and observational

b. No: stop screening

-For example: the study only used qualitative methods

-Key point: some studies may employ both qualitative and quantitative methods and these should be kept in the screening process

- 6. Does the abstract indicate that AIAN TCP was studied?
 - a. Yes or Unsure/Unclear: continue screening

-Key words: ceremony, traditional practice(s), cultural practice(s), spirituality, ritual(s), rite(s), American Indian, Native American, Indigenous, and tribal practice(s)

b. No: stop screening

-Other constructs, in the absence of TCP measures above, **not** eligible: Western religious practices or evidence-based and best practices that do not include a measurable TCP component (e.g., AA, cognitive behavioral therapy, medication-assisted treatment)

7. Does the **abstract** indicate that substance use prevention or treatment was studied?

a. Yes: continue screening

-Key words: alcohol, marijuana, methamphetamines, opioids, heroin, cocaine, inhalants, drug(s), illicit substance(s), substance (ab)use, alcoholism, and abstinence

-Key point: If the study clearly mentions any type of substance use as either a direct or indirect measure, then assume substance use was studied

b. No: stop screening

-Key point: mental illness, physical health conditions, and tobacco use (smoking, vaping, and smokeless products) are NOT eligible

Decision: Should full text of the article be screened?

- a. Yes, all 7 screening questions answered either "Yes" or "Unclear"
- b. No, at least one screening question answer is definitely "No"

Full Article Review (all answers must be "Yes" to be included in the review)

- 8. Does the article provide information about an AIAN adult sample?
- 9. Does the **article** include at least one quantitative measure regarding TCP interventions or activities?
- 10. Does the **article** include at least one quantitative measure regarding use of eligible substances?
- 11. Does the **article** indicate that the research study was either Indigenous-led or Indigenousinformed?
- 12. Does the **article** indicate that TCP interventions or activities were provided or overseen by a traditional practitioner?
- 13. Does the **article** provide a justification that the implementation and/or evaluation procedures were culturally appropriate for the target population?

Decision: Should the article be included in the review?

- a. Yes, questions 8-13 answered with all "Yes"
- b. No, at least one answer to questions 8-13 is definitely "No"
- c. **Potentially,** questions 8-13 answered with at least one "Unclear" but without any definite "No" bring to full team for discussion and consensus

APPENDIX C. Cronbach's Alpha Results

Cronbach Alpha and Related	d Statistics			
Items	Cronbach Alpha	Std. Alpha	G6(smc)	Average R
All itmes	0.9299	0.9303	0.9422	0.5067
Q1 excluded	0.9215	0.9219	0.9343	0.4958
Q2 excluded	0.9457	0.9456	0.9501	0.5917
Q3 excluded	0.926	0.9263	0.9383	0.5117
Q4 excluded	0.9213	0.922	0.933	0.4962
Q5 excluded	0.9205	0.9212	0.9345	0.4935
Q6 excluded	0.9227	0.9231	0.9353	0.5001
Q7 excluded	0.9212	0.9221	0.9336	0.4965
Q8 excluded	0.9198	0.9207	0.9341	0.4918
Q9 excluded	0.9236	0.9239	0.9366	0.5029
Q10 excluded	0.9197	0.9204	0.9337	0.4908
Q11 excluded	0.9197	0.9205	0.9338	0.4911
Q12 excluded	0.9268	0.9271	0.9386	0.5143
Q13 excluded	0.9264	0.9262	0.9377	0.5111

Measure: TCP Protective Factors (Knowledge, Attitudes, and Beliefs)

Measure: Self-reported Access to TCPs

Cronbach Alpha and Related Statistics

Items	Cronbach Alpha	Std. Alpha	G6(smc)	Average R
All itmes	0.4416	0.4128	0.4353	0.1495
Q1 excluded	0.1625	0.1744	0.1266	0.0658
Q2 excluded	0.1759	0.1796	0.1283	0.068
Q3 excluded	0.4782	0.4475	0.4617	0.2126
Q4 excluded	0.5275	0.5022	0.4917	0.2517

Measure: Self-reported Intent to Participate in TCPs

Cronbach Alpha and Related Statistics					
Items	Cronbach Alpha	Std. Alpha	G6(smc)	Average R	
All itmes	0.8485	0.8495	0.844	0.5303	
Q1 excluded	0.8016	0.8006	0.788	0.501	
Q2 excluded	0.8625	0.8611	0.8477	0.6079	
Q3 excluded	0.7806	0.7845	0.7537	0.4764	
Q4 excluded	0.785	0.7884	0.7578	0.4822	
Q5 excluded	0.8468	0.8488	0.8315	0.5839	

APPENDIX D. Community Survey Instrument

[Place label here]

Hello!

In partnership with the University of Montana College of Health, All Nations is conducting a community survey that explores certain health trends and needs within the local Native American community. This survey should take about 30 minutes to complete.

The first 200 people to complete the survey will be given a \$30.00 Amazon gift card!

Included in this packet is a copy of the survey, response form (for requesting your gift card and/or an interview), and a postage-paid return envelope.

IF YOU WOULD PREFER TO TAKE THE SURVEY ONLINE

You can do so by either visiting this web address: https://bit.ly/AllNationsSurvey

Or by using the QR code below:



All Nations Health Center – Community Survey

You are invited to participate in a research study that explores certain health trends and needs within the local Native American community. This survey should take about 30 minutes to complete. The first 200 people to complete the survey will be given a \$30.00 Amazon gift card.

Participation is voluntary, and responses are anonymous to the degree permitted by the technology being used. This survey will cover broad questions about your health as well as some more detailed questions about your experience with Native American ceremonies and traditional practices. Other topics include childhood experiences, personal substance use habits, and personal/romantic relationships. By answering questions on this anonymous survey as honestly as possible, you are helping to inform how behavioral health services are designed for Native Americans living in and around Missoula.

As you fill out the survey, you have the option to not respond to any question. Participation or nonparticipation will not impact your relationship with All Nations Health Center or the University of Montana. Submission of the survey will be accepted as your informed consent to participate and that you affirm: (1) You are at least 18 years of age, (2) You are Native American or an Indigenous person from the Americas (North, Central, or South) or Pacific Islands, and (3) You currently live in either Missoula County or Ravalli County.

If you have any questions about the research: Please contact D'Shane Barnett via email at dshane.barnett@umontana.edu or by telephone at (406) 258-3882. If you have any questions regarding your rights as a research subject, you may contact Rachael Tracy at the Indian Health Service (IHS) National Institutional Review Board at (301) 443-2029.

By continuing with the survey:

- I affirm that I am at least 18 years of age;
- I affirm that I am Native American or an Indigenous person from the Americas (North, Central, or South) or Pacific Islands; and,
- I affirm that I currently live in either Missoula or Ravalli County

Please continue to the next page to begin the survey.

I. Health Status

The first set of questions asks about <u>your current health</u>. Answer each question by choosing just one answer. If you are unsure how to answer a question, please give the best answer you can.

A1. In general, would you say your health is:

- O Excellent
- O Very Good
- \bigcirc Good
- O Fair
- O Poor

The following two questions ask about activities you might do during a typical day. Does your health currently limit you in these activities? If so, how much?

A2. Moderate activities such as moving a table, pushing a vacuum cleaner, bowling, or playing golf:

- O Yes, limited a lot
- O Yes, limited a little
- O No, not limited at all

A3. Climbing several flights of stairs:

- O Yes, limited a lot
- O Yes, limited a little
- O No, not limited at all

During the past month, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities <u>as a result of your physical health</u>?

A4. Accomplished less than you would like:

- O Yes
- O No

A5. Were limited in the kind of work or other activities:

- O Yes
- O No

During the past month, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities <u>as a result of any emotional problems</u> (such as feeling depressed or anxious)?

- A6. Accomplished less than you would like:
 - O Yes
 - O No

A7. Did work or activities less carefully than us

- O Yes
- O No

A8. During the past month, how much did pain interfere with your normal work (including work outside the home and housework)?

- O Extremely
- O Quite a bit
- O Moderately
- O A little bit
- O Not at all
These next questions ask about how you have been feeling <u>during the past month</u>. For each question, please give the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling. How much of the time during the past month:

- A9. Have you felt calm and peaceful?
 - O All of the time
 - O Most of the time
 - O A good bit of the time
 - O Some of the time
 - O A little of the time
 - O None of the time

A10. Did you have a lot of energy?

- O All of the time
- O Most of the time
- O A good bit of the time
- O Some of the time
- O A little of the time
- O None of the time

A11. Have you felt down-hearted and blue?

- O All of the time
- O Most of the time
- O A good bit of the time
- ${\rm O}\,$ Some of the time
- O A little of the time
- O None of the time

A12. During the past month, how much of the time has your physical health or emotional problems interfered with your social activities (like visiting friends, relatives, etc.)?

- $O\,$ All of the time
- O Most of the time
- O A good bit of the time
- O Some of the time
- O A little of the time
- O None of the time

The next two questions are about situations that may have impacted <u>your general health</u>. For each question, please give the one answer that comes closest to the way a situation has impacted your general health.

A13. Has COVID-19 impacted your answers to the health questions above?

O Yes (if so, how?)	
2	

O No

A14. Are there other issues or circumstances, besides COVID-19, that have affected your answers to the health questions above?

O Yes (if so, what are they?)

151

O No

II. Childhood Experiences

The following questions deal with your childhood experiences. Think back to the earliest times you can remember up until you turned 18 years old. Then answer the next set of questions as best you can based upon your own personal childhood experience.

As a child:

- B1. I felt like I could talk to my family about my feelings:
 - O Strongly Agree
 - O Agree
 - O Disagree
 - O Strongly Disagree

B2. I felt that my family stood by me during difficult times:

- O Strongly Agree
- O Agree
- O Disagree
- O Strongly Disagree
- B3. I enjoyed participating in community traditions:
 - O Strongly Agree
 - O Agree
 - O Disagree
 - O Strongly Disagree

B4. I felt a sense of belonging in high school (not including those who did not attend school or were home schooled):

- O Strongly Agree
- O Agree
- O Disagree
- O Strongly Disagree

B5. I felt supported by friends:

- O Strongly Agree
- O Agree
- O Disagree
- O Strongly Disagree

B6. I had at least 2 non-parent adults (family members, teachers, etc.) who took genuine interest in me:

- O Strongly Agree
- O Agree
- O Disagree
- O Strongly Disagree

B7. I felt safe and protected by at least one adult in my home:

- O Strongly Agree
- O Agree
- O Disagree
- O Strongly Disagree

III. Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs (KAB) About Traditional Ceremony

Next, we will ask about <u>your own personal</u> feelings and experiences related to ceremony and other traditional practices. For this section, when we say "ceremony" we broadly refer to Native American traditional spiritual rites and practices. Examples include sweat lodge, pipe ceremony, naming ceremony, coming of age ceremonies, etc., but will vary according to tribe.

A note about terms used in this survey: We realize that within our community some individuals prefer different terms, such as Native American, American Indian, Tribal, or indigenous. We use the term "Native American" for consistency but do realize you might have a different preferred term.

How important to you, personally, are the following:

- C1. Attending Native American tribal ceremonies
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important
- C2. Attending church (Baptist, Lutheran, non-denominational, etc.):
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important
- C3. Socializing with Native Americans or having Native American friends
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important
- C4. Using Native American traditional medicines:
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important

- C5. Seeking help from Native American tribal elders:
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important
- C6. Attending powwows or Native American social dances (e.g., round dances):
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important
- C7. Participating in Native American singing/drumming/dancing:
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important
- C8. Participating in Native American prayers:
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important
- C9. Eating or cooking Native American food(s):
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important

C10. Doing Native American traditional arts and crafts:

- O Very Important
- O Fairly Important
- O A Little Important
- O Not at all important

C11. Using or learning my Native American tribal language or dialect:

- O Very Important
- O Fairly Important
- O A Little Important
- O Not at all important
- C12. Knowing or participating in Native American/tribal politics and activities:
 - O Very Important
 - O Fairly Important
 - O A Little Important
 - O Not at all important

C13. Knowing or sharing Native American history:

- O Very Important
- O Fairly Important
- O A Little Important
- O Not at all important

The following statements are about your personal ability to access ceremony or other traditional practices. Please select how much you agree or disagree with each statement.

C14. If I want to participate in ceremonies or traditional practices, I have people who will support me in doing so (family, friends, elders, etc.):

- O Strongly agree
- O Agree a little
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Disagree a little
- O Strongly disagree

C15. If I am invited to a ceremony or other traditional practice, I am confident that I will know what to do or how to act (e.g., when to talk, songs to sing, what to wear):

- O Strongly agree
- O Agree a little
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Disagree a little
- O Strongly disagree

C16. In my community, access to ceremony is largely based on who you are connected to:

- O Strongly agree
- O Agree a little
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Disagree a little
- O Strongly disagree

C17. I would like to attend ceremonies in my community, but don't feel like I can because they don't reflect my own tribal practices:

- O Strongly agree
- O Agree a little
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Disagree a little
- O Strongly disagree

Please select how likely or unlikely your intent is to participate in ceremonies and other traditional practices.

C18. Once COVID is no longer an issue or I feel it is safe again, I will participate in ceremonies or other traditional practices:

- O Extremely likely
- O Somewhat likely
- O Neither likely nor unlikely
- O Somewhat unlikely
- O Extremely unlikely

C19. I will participate in ceremonies or other traditional practices, regardless of COVID:

- O Extremely likely
- O Somewhat likely
- O Neither likely nor unlikely
- O Somewhat unlikely
- O Extremely unlikely

C20. If I am dealing with a physical illness, I will include ceremony or other traditional practices in my treatment:

- O Extremely likely
- O Somewhat likely
- O Neither likely nor unlikely
- O Somewhat unlikely
- O Extremely unlikely

C21. If I am dealing with mental or emotional problems (e.g., depression, anxiety, stress), I will include ceremony or other traditional practices in my treatment:

- O Extremely likely
- O Somewhat likely
- O Neither likely nor unlikely
- O Somewhat unlikely
- O Extremely unlikely

C22. If a ceremony is taking place but is not part of my own tribal practices, I will still attend:

- O Extremely likely
- O Somewhat likely
- O Neither likely nor unlikely
- O Somewhat unlikely
- O Extremely unlikely

III. Your Experience During Covid

Thinking about the COVID pandemic, please answer the questions below for the time period of <u>March 2020 through today</u>. Your task will be to answer five questions about how the COVID pandemic has impacted you.

- D1. During COVID, I have had to find new ways to maintain my spiritual health and well-being:
 - O Strongly agree
 - O Agree
 - O Disagree
 - O Neither agree nor disagree
 - O Strongly disagree

D2. Due to COVID, <u>my ability to participate</u> in ceremonies and traditional practices that involve other people:

- O Went down a lot
- O Went down a little
- O Stayed mostly the same
- O Went up a little
- O Went up a lot

D3. Due to COVID, <u>my comfort around participating</u> in ceremonies and traditional practices that involve other people:

- O Went down a lot
- O Went down a little
- O Stayed mostly the same
- O Went up a little
- O Went up a lot

D4. COVID has caused me to increase my alcohol intake or substance use:

- O Strongly disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Agree
- O Strongly agree

D5. I have made positive changes in my behavior due to the COVID pandemic:

- o Strongly disagree
- o Disagree
- o Neither agree nor disagree
- o Agree
- o Strongly agree

IV. Substance Use Behaviors

These next questions are about alcoholic beverages, such as beer, wine, brandy, and mixed drinks. Throughout these questions, by a "drink," we mean a can or bottle of beer, a glass of wine or a wine cooler, a shot of liquor, or a mixed drink with liquor in it. We are not asking about times when you only had a sip or two from a drink.

Please remember that this survey is anonymous, and your answers cannot be linked back to you. By answering these questions honestly, you are helping us better understand trends and needs within our community.

F. Alcohol Use

F1. In the last year, have you had a drink of any type of alcoholic beverage? Please do not include times when you only had a sip or two from a drink:

O Yes

```
O No (Skip to G1)
```

F2. Now thinking just about <u>the last 30 days</u>, have you had a drink of any type of alcoholic beverage? Please do not include times when you only had a sip or two from a drink:

O Yes

```
O No (Skip to G1)
```

F3. What is your best estimate of the number of days you drank alcohol <u>during the past 30</u> <u>days</u>?

- O 1 or 2 days
- \bigcirc 3 to 5 days
- \bigcirc 6 to 9 days
- O 10 to 19 days
- O 20 to 29 days
- O All 30 days
- O I'm not sure

F4. On the days that you drank during the past 30 days, how many drinks did you usually have each day? Count as a drink a can or bottle of beer; a wine cooler or a glass of wine, champagne, or sherry; a shot of liquor or a mixed drink or cocktail:

- O Number of drinks: _____
- O I'm not sure

Please continue to the next page

F5. During <u>the past 30 days</u>, on how many days did you have 5 or more drinks for males or 4 or more drinks for females on the same occasion? By 'occasion,' we mean at the same time or within a couple of hours of each other:

O Number of days: _____

O I'm not sure

F6. How old were you <u>the first time</u> you had a drink of an alcoholic beverage? Please do not include any time when you only had a sip or two from a drink:

O Age: _____

O I'm not sure

G. Marijuana Use

The next questions are about marijuana. Marijuana is also called pot, weed, grass, hashish, or cannabis. Examples of marijuana products include flower, edibles, oils, tinctures, waxes, dabs, and shatter. Marijuana can be smoked, ingested, or vaped. These questions are intended to ask about any form of marijuana you have used, whether it was for medicinal or recreational purposes. This does not include Cannabidiol or CDB products.

Please remember that this survey is anonymous, and your answers cannot be linked back to you. By answering these questions honestly, you are helping us better understand trends and needs within our community.

G1. In the last year, have you used (even once) marijuana or marijuana products:

O Yes

O No (Skip to H1)

G2. Thinking just about <u>the last 30 days</u>, have you used (even once) marijuana or marijuana products:

O Yes

O No (Skip to H1)

G3. What is your best estimate of the number of days you used marijuana or marijuana products during <u>the past 30 days</u>?

- O 1 or 2 days
- O 3 to 5 days
- O 6 to 9 days
- O 10 to 19 days
- O 20 to 29 days
- O All 30 days
- O I'm not sure

G4. How old were you the first time you used marijuana or a marijuana product:

- O Age: _____
- O I'm not sure

H. Methamphetamine Use

The following questions are about methamphetamine or "meth." Meth, which is also known as crank, ice, crystal meth, chalk, glass, and many other names, is a stimulant that usually comes in crystal or powder forms. It can be smoked, "snorted," swallowed or injected.

Please remember that this survey is anonymous, and your answers cannot be linked back to you. By answering these questions honestly, you are helping us better understand trends and needs within our community.

H1. In the last year, have you used (even once) methamphetamine:

- O Yes
- O No (Skip to J1)
- H2. Thinking just about the last 30 days, have you used (even once) methamphetamine:
 - O Yes
 - O No (Skip to J1)

H3. What is your best estimate of the number of days you used methamphetamine during <u>the</u> <u>past 30 days</u>?

- O 1 or 2 days
- O 3 to 5 days
- O 6 to 9 days
- O 10 to 19 days
- O 20 to 29 days
- O All 30 days
- O I'm not sure

H4. How old were you the first time you used methamphetamine:

- O Age: _____
- O I'm not sure

J. Inhalants

These next questions are about liquids, sprays, and gases that people sniff or inhale to get high or to make them feel good. We are not interested in times when you inhaled a substance accidentally — such as when painting, cleaning an oven, or filling a car with gasoline. The questions use the word 'inhalant' to include all the things that people sniff or inhale for kicks or to get high. These may include things like gasoline, aerosol sprays, nitrous oxide or other substances.

Please remember that this survey is anonymous, and your answers cannot be linked back to you. By answering these questions honestly, you are helping us better understand trends and needs within our community.

J1. In the last year, have you inhaled any substance for the purpose of getting high or feeling good:

O Yes

O No (Skip to K1)

J2. Thinking just about <u>the last 30 days</u>, have you inhaled any substance for the purpose of getting high or feeling good:

- O Yes
- O No (Skip to K1)

J3. Please type in the name of the inhalant or inhalants you have used <u>in the last 30 days</u>. If you're not sure how to spell the name of the inhalant you used, just make your best guess:

- O Name of inhalant ______
- O I'm not sure

J4. How old were you the first time you used an inhalant of any kind for kicks or to get high:

- O Age: _____
- O I'm not sure

K. Prescription Medication

These next questions are about prescription medications. When answering the following questions, please do not include any "over the counter" medicines that are available without a prescription. When you answer these questions, please think only about your use of these medications in any way a doctor did not direct you to use them.

Please remember that this survey is anonymous, and your answers cannot be linked back to you. By answering these questions honestly, you are helping us better understand trends and needs within our community.

Prescription medications include several different types of drugs, such as (1) pain relievers, (2) tranquilizers, (3) stimulants, and (4) sedatives -- all of which must be prescribed a doctor.

K1. In the past year, have you ever (even once) used a **prescription medication** in any way a doctor did not direct you to use it?

O Yes

O No (Skip to L1)

K2. Thinking just about <u>the past 30 days</u>, have you ever (even once) used a **prescription medication** in any way a doctor did not direct you to use it?

O Yes

O No (Skip to L1)

K3. Please type in the name of the prescription medication(s) you have used <u>in the last 30 days</u> in any way a doctor did not direct you to use it. If you're not sure how to spell the name of the prescription medication you used, just make your best guess:

- O Name of prescription medication(s)
- O I'm not sure

K4. To the best of your knowledge, what type of prescription medication did you use <u>in the last</u> <u>30 days</u> in any way a doctor did not direct you to use it?

- O Pain Reliever (Vicodin, Hydrocodone, OxyContin, Percocet, Tramadol, Codeine, etc.)
- O Tranquilizer (Xanax, Ativan, Lorazepam, Clonazepam, etc.
- O Stimulant (Adderall, Dexedrine, Ritalin, etc.)
- O Sedative (Ambien, Phenobarbital, Lunesta, Sonata, Restoril, etc.)
- O Other (please specify): _____

K5. What is your best estimate of the number of days during <u>the past 30 days</u> you used a prescription medication in any way a doctor did not direct you to use it?

- O 1 or 2 days
- O 3 to 5 days
- \bigcirc 6 to 9 days
- O 10 to 19 days
- O 20 to 29 days
- O All 30 days
- O I'm not sure

K6. Which of the following statements describe your use <u>in the past 30 days</u> of a prescription medication in any way a doctor did not direct you to use it: (select all that apply)

- O I used a prescription pain reliever without a prescription of my own.
- O I used a prescription pain reliever in greater amounts than a doctor or healthcare provider prescribed.
- O I used a prescription pain reliever more often than a doctor or healthcare provider prescribed.
- O I used a prescription pain reliever for longer than a doctor or healthcare provider prescribed.
- O I used a prescription pain reliever in some other way a doctor or healthcare provider did not direct me to use. (5)

If you or someone you know may be experiencing substance use challenges, you can access these national and local resources for help or support:

All Nations Health Center 830 West Central Avenue Missoula, MT 59801 (406) 829-9515 main

www.allnations.health

Western Montana Addiction Services 1325 Wyoming Street Missoula, MT 59801

> (406) 532-9800 office https://www.wmmhc.org/

National Crisis Text Line Text: HOME to 741741

National Drug Helpline (844) 289-0879 SAMHSA National Helpline (800) 662-HELP (4357)

Recovery Center Missoula 1201 Wyoming Street Missoula, MT 59802 Main (406) 532-9900 (office) https://www.wmmhc.org/recoverycenter

Community Medical Services 2415 South Caitlin Street Missoula, MT 59812 Main (406)-243-4429 24-Hr (406)-243-6559 https://communitymedicalservices.org/ locations/mt-missoula/

V. Intimate Partner Violence

The following questions ask about experiences related to intimate partner violence, including sexual violence, stalking, expressive aggression, coercive control, control of sexual health, and physical violence.

Disclaimer: This section of questions includes graphic language referring to sexual behaviors. If you find this topic offensive or prefer not to answer questions about this subject, you can skip to the following section. Some participants may find questions in this section about intimate partner and sexual violence triggering. If you need support at any time, please call the National Domestic Violence Hotline at 800-799-SAFE (7233). <u>A list of additional resources is included at the end of this section.</u>

Please remember that this survey is anonymous, and your answers cannot be linked back to you. By answering these questions honestly, you are helping us better understand trends and needs within our community.

- L1. Have any of your romantic or sexual partners ever: (Select all that apply)
 - O Tried to keep you from seeing or talking to your family or friends?
 - O Made decisions for you that should have been yours to make, such as the clothes you wear, things you eat, or the friends you have?
 - O Kept track of you by demanding to know where you were and what you were doing?
 - O Made threats to physically harm you?
 - O Threatened to hurt him or herself or commit suicide when he or she was upset with you?
 - O Threatened to hurt a pet or threatened to take a pet away?
 - O Threatened to hurt someone you love?
 - O Hurt someone you love?
 - O Threatened to take your children away? (If applicable)
 - O Kept you from leaving the house when you wanted to go?
 - O Kept you from having money for your own use?
 - O Destroyed something that was important to you?
 - O Said things like, "If I can't have you then no one can"?
 - O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations

- L2. Have any of your romantic or sexual partners ever: (Select all that apply)
 - O Acted very angry toward you in a way that seemed dangerous?
 - O Told you that you were a loser, a failure, or not good enough?
 - O Called you names like ugly, fat, crazy, or stupid?
 - O Insulted, humiliated, or made fun of you in front of others?
 - O Told you that no one else would want you?
 - O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations
- L3. Have any of your romantic or sexual partners ever: (Select all that apply)
 - O If female: tried to get you pregnant when you did not want to become pregnant or tried to stop you from using birth control?
 - O If male: tried to get pregnant when you did not want them to get pregnant or tried to stop you from using birth control?
 - O Refused to use a condom when you wanted them to use one?
 - O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations
- L4. Has anyone ever: (Select all that apply)
 - O Exposed their sexual body parts to you, flashed you, or masturbated in front of you?
 - O Made you show your sexual body parts to them? Remember, we are only asking about things that you didn't want to happen.
 - O Made you look at or participate in sexual photos or movies?
 - O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations
- L5. Has anyone ever: (Select all that apply)
 - O Harassed you while you were in a public place in a way that made you feel unsafe?
 - O Kissed you in a sexual way? Remember, we are only asking about things that you didn't want to happen.
 - O Fondled or grabbed your sexual body parts?
 - O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations

Again, thank you for taking the time to answer these questions. You are helping us better understand trends and needs within our community and your responses will help inform programming and services.

L6. When you were drunk, high, drugged, passed out, or otherwise unable to consent, has anyone ever: (Select all that apply)

- O Had vaginal sex with you? By vaginal sex, we mean that [if biologically female: a man or boy put his penis in your vagina] [if biologically male: a woman or girl made you put your penis in her vagina]?
- O (if biologically male) Made you perform anal sex, meaning that they made you put your penis into their anus?
- O Made you receive anal sex, meaning they put their penis into your anus?
- O Made you perform oral sex, meaning that they put their penis in your mouth or made you penetrate their vagina or anus with your mouth?
- O Made you receive oral sex, meaning that they put their mouth on your [if biologically male: penis] [if biologically female: vagina] or anus?
- O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations

L7. Has anyone ever used physical force or threats to physically harm you to make you: (Select all that apply)

- O Have vaginal sex?
- O Receive anal sex?
- O (if biologically male) Perform anal sex?
- O Make you perform oral sex?
- O Make you receive oral sex?
- O Put their fingers or an object in your vagina (if biologically female) or anus?
- O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations

L8. Has anyone ever used physical force or threats of physical harm to: (Select all that apply)

- O (if biologically female) Try to have vaginal or anal sex with you, but sex did not happen?
- O (if biologically male) Try to make you perform vaginal sex, but sex did not happen?
- O (if biologically male) Try to make you perform anal sex, but sex did not happen?
- O (if biologically male) Try to make you receive anal sex, but sex did not happen?
- O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations

L9. Have you had vaginal, oral, or anal sex with anyone after they pressured you by: (Select all that apply)

- O Doing things like telling you lies, making promises about the future they knew were untrue, threatening to end your relationship, or threatening to spread rumors about you?
- O Wearing you down by repeatedly asking for sex or showing they were unhappy?
- O Using their authority over you, for example, your boss or your teacher?
- O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations
- L10. Have any of your romantic or sexual partners ever... (Select all that apply)
 - O Slapped you
 - O Pushed or shoved you
 - O Hit you with a fist or something hard
 - O Kicked you
 - O Hurt you by pulling your hair
 - O Slammed you against something
 - O Tried to hurt you by choking or suffocating you
 - O Beaten you
 - O Burned you on purpose
 - O Used a knife or gun on you
 - O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations

- L11. Has anyone ever: (Select all that apply)
 - O Watched or followed you from a distance, or spied on you with a listening device, camera, or GPS (global positioning system)?
 - O Approached you or showed up in places, such as your home, workplace, or school when you didn't want them to be there?
 - O Left strange or potentially threatening items for you to find?
 - O Snuck into your home or car and did things to scare you by letting you know they had been there?
 - O Made unwanted phone calls to you or left you messages? This includes hang-ups, text, or voice messages.
 - O Sent you unwanted emails, instant messages, or sent messages through websites or applications like TikTok, SnapChat, Tumblr, dating apps, or Facebook?
 - O Left you cards, letters, flowers, or presents when they knew you didn't want them to?
 - O No, I have not experienced any of the above situations

Thank you for taking the time to answer these questions. You are helping us better understand trends and needs within our community and your responses will help inform programming and services.

If you or someone you know may be experiencing intimate partner violence, you can access these national and local resources for help or support:

All Nations Health Center 830 West Central Avenue Missoula, MT 59801 (406) 829-9515 main www.allnations.health

YWCA Missoula 1130 W. Broadway Missoula, MT 59802 (406) 543-6691 office (406) 542-1944 crisis line (800) 483-7858 crisis line ywca@ywcaofmissoula.org

Crisis Hotline (406) 363-4600 (Ravalli County) (406) 542-1944 (Missoula County) (800) 799-SAFE (7233) (National) Strong Hearts Native Helpline (844) 762 – 8483 Strongheartshelpline.org

Crime Victim Advocate Program 317 Woody Street Missoula, MT 59802 Main (406) 258-3830 Toll-free (866) 921-6995 https://www.missoulacounty.us/governme nt/civil-criminal-justice/crime-victimadvocate-program

Student Advocacy Resource Center University of Montana 634 Eddy Ave. Missoula, MT 59812 Main (406)-243-4429 24-Hr (406)-243-6559 http://www.umt.edu/student-advocacyresource-center/

VI. Native American Identity

In this section, we will ask about <u>your personal experiences</u> as a Native American person. As a reminder, we use the term "Native American" as a placeholder to represent American Indian/Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian or other Indigenous populations with whom you identify and belong to in the Americas (North, Central, South).

How strongly do you agree or disagree with the following statements?

M1. I experience discrimination because I am Native American:

- O Strongly disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Agree
- O Strongly agree

M2. In and around Missoula, Native Americans in general experience discrimination:

- O Strongly disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Agree
- O Strongly agree

M3. Being a member of my particular Native American tribe/People is an important part of my identity:

- O Strongly disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Agree
- O Strongly agree

M4. Being Native American in general is an important part of my identity:

- O Strongly disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Agree
- O Strongly agree

M5. When I talk about Native Americans, I usually say "we" rather than "they":

- O Strongly disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Agree
- O Strongly agree

M6. As a Native American person, I have a responsibility to give back to my community:

- O Strongly disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Agree
- O Strongly agree

M7. My ancestors held a vision of health and wellness for me and my children:

- O Strongly disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Agree
- O Strongly agree

M8. I have a responsibility to be healthy for future generations of my tribe/people:

- O Strongly disagree
- O Disagree
- O Neither agree nor disagree
- O Agree
- O Strongly agree

VII. Demographics

The following questions are important but are for informational purposes only. As a reminder, **your responses are completely anonymous** and cannot be linked to you.

N. Tribal Affiliation

N1. Are you American Indian, Native American, or Alaska Native (do not include here Native Hawaiian, Pacific Islander, First Nations/Métis or Indigenous peoples from other parts of the Americas):

- O Yes
- O No

N2. What is your current tribal enrollment status:

- O I am enrolled in a federally recognized tribe. (Specify tribe) _____
- O I am enrolled in a state-recognized tribe. (Specify tribe)
- O I am eligible for enrollment, but not enrolled in my tribe. (Specify tribe)
- O I was formerly enrolled but am disenrolled, either by the tribe or by choice. (Specify tribe) _____
- O I am not enrolled in any tribe, but I am 25% (¼) or more Native American based on all tribes I descend from or my CDIB card. (Specify tribes)
- O I am not enrolled, but I am a descendant of a Native American tribe. (Specify tribe)
- O I am not affiliated with a state or federally recognized tribe, but am an Indigenous person from the Americas or Pacific Islands.
- N3. Do you descend from and identify as Native Hawaiian (Kanaka Maoli):
 - O Yes
 - O No
- N4. Do you descend from and identify as First Nations, Inuit, or Métis from Canada?
 - O Yes
 - O No

N5. Do you descend from and identify as an Indigenous person from Mexico, Central, or South America (for example, Mixtec, Mayan, Kuna, Ayamara)?

- O Yes
- O No

P. General Demographics

P1. What other racial or ethnic ancestry do you have? (select all that apply):

- O Asian/Asian American
- O Black/African American
- O Hispanic/Latino/a/x
- O White/Euro American
- O Other (Please specify:)
- \bigcirc I do not have other ancestry

P2. What is the zip code for where you are currently living: ______

P3. In which Montana county are you currently living:

- O Missoula County
- O Ravalli County
- O Other _____

P4. What is your age in years? _____

P5. What term best describes your gender:

- O Cisgender Female (sex at birth was female and identify as female)
- O Cisgender Male (sex at birth was male and identify as male)
- O Two-Spirit
- O Trans Female (sex at birth was male and identify as female)
- O Trans Male (sex at birth was female and identify as male)
- O Nonbinary
- O Other (Please specify:) _____

P6. Do you have a primary partner (spouse, domestic partner, romantic partner) who currently lives with you:

- O Yes
- O No

P7. Do one or more children under the age of 18 currently live in your household at least 50% of the time (children, nieces/nephews, grandchildren, etc.):

- o Yes
- o No

P8a. What is the highest degree or level of school you have completed:

- O Less than 9th grade
- O Some high school
- O High school graduate or equivalent (GED)
- O Vocational, trade, or technical degree
- O Some college, but degree not received or is in progress
- O Associate's Degree (AA, AS)
- O Bachelor's Degree (BA, BS, AB)
- O Some graduate school, but did not finish
- O Graduate degree (Masters, Professional, Doctorate)

P8b. Are you currently a student?

- O Yes, enrolled full time
- O Yes, enrolled part time
- O No

- P9. Which statement best describes your current employment status today?
 - O Employed Full Time (36 or more hours per week)
 - O Employed Part Time (less than 36 hours per week)
 - O Self-employed
 - O Stay at home parent
 - O Disabled or unable to work for health reasons
 - O Retired
 - O Other employment status (Please specify:) _____
- P10. What is your current household income:
 - O Less than \$15,000 per year
 - O At least \$15,000, but less than \$30,000 per year
 - O At least \$30,000, but less than \$45,000 per year
 - O At least \$45,000, but less than \$60,000 per year
 - O At least \$60,000, but less than \$75,000 per year
 - O At least \$75,000, but less than \$100,000 per year
 - \$100,000 or more per year (125)

P11. What is your current living situation?

- O Own a single-unit home or live with someone who owns the home
- O Rent a single-unit house or live with someone who rents a house
- O Rent an apartment, condo, duplex, townhouse, etc.
- O Live in a dormitory or other campus housing
- O A group living facility (treatment house, halfway house, etc.)
- O An assisted living facility (senior living center, skilled nursing home, etc.)
- O Currently staying with someone but do not permanently live there ("crashing" or "couch surfing" for example)
- O Homeless (living in a shelter, in a vehicle, in a tent, or on the streets)
- O Other (Please specify:)

You have now finished the survey! The first 200 participants who complete the survey are eligible for **a \$30.00 Amazon gift card.**

If you would like to enter your information for a gift card, please fill out the separate "Survey Response Form" included with this packet. If you would like your gift card delivered electronically, please be sure to include an email address.

For the next phase of this project, we are conducting 1-on-1 interviews with some of the survey participants. Interviews will take 30 – 45 minutes and will be conducted in person, phone or over the internet using Zoom. If you are interested in participating in an interview, please indicate so on the "Survey Response Form" included with this packet. For a quicker response, please include either your email or phone number. One of our project team members will contact you in the future about setting up a day and time for the interview.

We are very appreciative of the time you have taken to complete this community health needs assessment. The results of this assessment will be used to develop worthwhile improvements to the supports and services available to the American Indian/Alaska Native communities across Missoula and Ravalli counties.

Once again, we are extremely grateful for your contributing your valuable time, your honest information, and your thoughtful suggestions.

Thank you!

You have completed the survey.

Survey Response Form

[Place label here]

Q1: Would you like to volunteer to be interviewed about your experiences with Native American ceremonies or other traditional practices and their relationship with health and wellness?

O Yes

O No (Skip to Q2)

1B: What is your name? (**Reminder:** Your information here cannot be linked back to your survey responses.)

1C: How would you like us to contact you about participating?

Ο	Email	(Enter	your	email	below)
---	-------	--------	------	-------	--------

O Phone (Enter your number below)

O Postcard (Enter your address below)

Q2: If you are one of the first 200 people to complete the survey, would you like to receive a **\$30 Amazon gift card** as a thank you?

O Yes

O No

2A: How would you like to receive your \$30 Amazon gift card?

O Email (Enter your email below)

O Mail (Enter your mailing address below)

Thank you!

If you have any questions about the survey you just took, upcoming interviews, or anything related to this study, please contact:

D'Shane Barnett (dshane.barnett@umontana.edu)

Bolded = Adjuste	Drugs~Intent	Pot~Intent	Alc~Intent	Drugs~KAB	Pot~KAB	Alc~KAB				Bolded = Adjuste	Drugs"Intent	Pot~Intent	Alc~Intent	Drugs"KAB	Pot~KAB	Alc~KAB		
d OR (AOR) CI da	0.77	1.08	0.70	0.26	0.44	0.67	8			d OR (AOR) CI da	0.92	1.25	0.79	0.42	0.60	0.70	8	
es not include 1	0.28	0.53	0.33	0.08	0.17	0.25	2.5%	AOR MEDIA		es not include 1.	0.36	0.64	0.39	0.16	0.25	0.27	2.5%	UOR MEDI
0	2.38	2.20	1.45	0.86	1.08	1.65	97.5%	AN (2.0, 3.0)		0	2.69	2.43	1.58	1.27	1.36	1.63	97.5%	AN (2.0, 3.0)
	150%	60%	37%	-13%	-32%	36%	OR Delta %				200%	78%	16%	15%	-16%	22%	OR Delta %	
	0.630	0.832	0.344	0.022	0.080	0.399	P				0.874	0.511	0.521	0.102	0.225	0.420	P	
Bolded = Adjuste	Drugs"Intent	Pot~Intent	Alc~Intent	Drugs"KAB	Pot~KAB	ALC~KAB				Bolded = Adjuste	Drugs"Intent	Pot~Intent	Alc~Intent	Drugs"KAB	Pot~KAB	Alc~KAB		
:d or (Aor) ci d	0.18	0.96	0.57	0.77	1.61	0.58	9			d or (aor) ci di	0.24	0.99	0.57	0.85	1.50	0.63	8	
oes not include 1	0.01	0.41	0.24	0.25	0.83	0.30	2.5%	AOR TOP QUA		oes not include 1.	0.01	0.44	0.25	0.29	0.80	0.33	2.5%	UOR TOP QUA
0	0.96	2.27	1.34	2.07	3.18	1.15	97.5X	RTILE (3.5, 4.5		ò	1.22	2.26	1.31	2.16	2.85	1.20	97.5X	RTILE (3.5, 4.5
	-43%	43%	12%	158%	150%	18%	OR Delta X	-			-22%	41%	-16%	131%	112%	11%	OR Delta X	
	0.105	0.934	0.193	0.617	0.163	0.118	P				0.172	0.981	0.183	0.741	0.214	0.160	P	
Bolded = Adjuste	Drugs"Intent	Pot~Intent	Alc~Intent	Drugs"KAB	Pot~KAB	Alc~KAB				Bolded = Adjuste	Drugs~Intent	Pot~Intent	Alc~Intent	Drugs"KAB	Pot~KAB	Alc~KAB		
d OR (AOR) CI do	0.31	0.67	0.51	0.30	0.65	0.49	9	A		d OR (AOR) CI do	0.31	0.70	0.68	0.37	0.70	0.57	8	U
es not include 1.	0.08	0.36	0.26	0.11	0.35	0.26	2.5%	DR USED (3.0, 4		es not include 1.	0.09	0.39	0.37	0.14	0.40	0.31	2.5%	DR USED (3.0, 4
	0.91	1.26	0.98	0.76	1.18	0.93	97.5%	1.0)		0	0.86	1.26	1.25	0.88	1.24	1.03	97.5X	1.0)
	0.048	0.220	0.046	0.015	0.095	0.031	P				0.039	0.238	0.215	0.030	0.228	0.064	P	

APPENDIX E. Cut-point Effect Analysis
APPENDIX F. Interview Moderator's Guide

Informed Consent

Thank you for agreeing to talk with me today. As mentioned earlier, I am interested in understanding your thoughts and opinions on ceremony and other traditional practices and substance misuse. Specifically, we are hoping to understand how ceremony and other traditional practices could be incorporated into substance use prevention efforts for our local Native American community. I will be asking you some questions, which you are free to answer in any way you wish. Please feel free to elaborate on any of your points. If a question is unclear to you, please feel free to ask me to explain it. I would like to tape record the interview so I don't miss anything you say, but I will not include your name on any documents or in the tape recording. Your answers will be kept confidential.

The session will be recorded.

Demographic Questions

- 1. Are you American Indian or Alaska Native? Yes \Box No \Box
- 2. What is your tribal affiliation? [Enter tribal affiliation here]
- 3. What other race or ethnicity do you identify with? [Enter other race/ethnicity here]
- 4. What is your identified gender? [Enter gender identity here]
- 5. What is your current age in years? [Enter age in years]
- 6. What county are you currently living? Missoula □ Ravalli □ Other [Enter County here]
- 7. What is the highest degree or level of school you have completed?
 - \Box Less than 9th grade
 - \Box Some high school
 - □ High school graduate or equivalent (GED)
 - □ Vocational, trade, or technical degree
 - \Box Some college, but degree not received or is in progress
 - □ Associate's Degree (AA, AS)
 - □ Bachelor's Degree (BA, BS, AB)
 - □ Some graduate school, but did not finish
 - Graduate degree (Masters, Professional, Doctorate)
- 8. Which statement best describes your current employment status today? Employed Full Time (36 or more hours per week)
 - Employed Part Time (less than 36 hours per week)
 - \Box Self-employed
 - \Box Stay at home parent
 - \Box Disabled or unable to work for health reasons
 - \Box Retired
 - □ Other [Enter other employment status here]
- 9. What is your current annual household income?
 - \Box Less than \$19,000
 - □ \$20,000 \$40,000
 - □ \$41,000 \$74,000
 - \Box More than \$75,000

The interview guide begins on the next page.

- 1) To start off, could you please tell me about your experience living in the Missoula/Ravalli County area?
 - a) Probe: how long have you lived in the area?
 - i) Follow-up: [if only lived in Missoula/Ravalli County] How has growing-up in an urban area shaped your identity?
 - ii) Follow-up: [if moved to Missoula/Ravalli County] How would you compare life in an urban area to life on the reservation?
- 2) In general, what are your thoughts and experiences with ceremony and traditional practices?
 - a) Probe: Do you participate in CTP? If so, why? If not, why not?
 - b) Probe: How common do you think it is here in Missoula? How about on your reservation?
 - c) Probe: How important *in your community* is CTP? (Both in Missoula and on your reservation)
 - d) Probe: How easy do you think it is to access?
 - e) Probe: How necessary or useful is it?
 - f) Probe: [if never participated in CTP] have you ever known anyone who has participated in ceremony or traditional practices?
 - i) If yes, how did they access those practices?
 - ii) If no, what are your thoughts in general about ceremony or traditional practices?
- 3) Some people participate in ceremonies or other traditional practices because they believe it provides a positive benefit to their physical, mental, emotional, and spiritual health. What are your thoughts on the role of ceremony or other traditional practices and health or wellness?
 - a) Probe: Are there ways that CTP can be used to enhance a person's health or wellness? If so, what are some examples?
 - b) Probe: What do you think about the role of CTP in your own health or wellness?
 - c) Probe: Can you think of some examples of appropriate, or inappropriate, ways to incorporate CTP in addressing health or wellness?
 - d) Probe: How comfortable are you with the idea of a healthcare provider, such as All Nations, incorporating CTP into health or wellness services?

- 4) All Nations Health Center is exploring ways to incorporate CTP into some of its programs and services that are aimed at preventing substance use problems. Because we are in an urban area, program like this would have to accommodate many tribal perspectives, cultures, and backgrounds. What would you think about such a program?
 - a) Probe: How could a program like this be successful?
 - b) Probe: What are some reasons a program like this could fail?
 - c) Probe: Have you ever seen or participated in something multi-tribal like this and what did it look like?
 - d) Probe: Could you see this type of program being successful for certain problem substances and not others? [provide list of problem substances: alcohol, methamphetamine, prescriptions drugs]
 - e) Probe: Can you think of ceremonies or traditional practices that would be more useful or appropriate than others? Please elaborate.
 - f) Probe: Can you think of ceremonies or traditional practices that might be inappropriate to use for this purpose, trying to prevent substance use problems? Please elaborate.
 - g) Follow up: Would the approach look any different if it were a treatment program, rather than a prevention program.
- 5) If All Nations had all the money and resources in the world to create a prevention program for substance use problems that uses ceremony and traditional practices, what would this program look like in Missoula?
 - a) Probe: Could you take me through what you think it would look like?
 - What CTP would be most appropriate/effective for a multi-tribal community like Missoula?
 - ii) What time during the week do you think would be best for you to try to participate?
 - iii) Should childcare be made available, or do you think there are other things that might make it easier or harder to participate?
 - iv) Who should be participating together during these activities at the same time and who should not be participating at the same time (for example, men and women or elders and youth)?
 - v) Are there cultural protocols we would need to be aware of when we do this kind of programming?
 - (1) Follow-up: If so, what are they?
 - (2) Follow-up: Are there activities or topics that should be off limits? If so, what are they and why do you think they should be off limits?
 - vi) Who would lead the program and who would be involved?
 - vii) Where would it take place?

- viii) What about length of the program? For example, could it be effective as a one shot, or does it need to be over a period of time?
- ix) How do you think this would look different if it were a treatment program instead of a prevention program?
- x) Why would this be an attractive approach for this program to take? Why would someone want to participate in a program like this?
- 6) If we changed the subject matter, and developed services or a program to address intimate partner violence, how would that change your answers to the previous questions?
- 7) Why might there be a difference between someone's personal beliefs or attitudes about CTP and whether or not they say they will participate in CTP? (Example: they have positive beliefs about CTP but say they don't intend to participate.)
 - a) Follow up: Please tell me more about barriers/challenges/differences between knowledge, attitudes and beliefs regarding culture and intention to participate in ceremony.
- **8) NEW PROMPT** So far in this interview we have talked about difficulties incorporating different CTPs. Is there some way that we could create a program that would seem familiar and comfortable to people from a vast difference of Urban AI backgrounds?
 - **a)** or more specifically (if they have trouble answering), how would you feel comfortable in a program that incorporates CTPs from different backgrounds?
- 9) Given everything that we have discussed, is there anything that we missed or anything else that you would like to share?